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Bl oom ngburg Met hodi st (Epi scopal) Church (1811 - 1955)

The first Methodist class of Bl oom ngburg was organi zed
in 1813. This was three years before the town was |laid out and
several years before it was called Bl oom ngburg, it being
first called New Lexington or nore conmonly "new purchase".
These 142 years of the society carry us back to the tinme of
James Madi son, the fourth President of the United States,
George 11l was still King of England and Napol eon was ruler in
France. The battle of Waterl oo was not fought until two years
ater. Qur country was at that tinme engaged in the War of
1812. In the very year, perhaps, the very nonth or week in
whi ch our Methodist fathers nmet to sing the hymms of Wesl ey,
Commodore Perry gained his splendid victory on Lake Erie, and
sent his fanobus di spatch to General Harrison, "we have net the
eneny, and they are ours”. Not until two years |ater was the
treaty of peace signed between Great Britain and the United
States. Only thirty-five years before the Revolutionary war
had been brought to a close. The War of the Rebellion was
forty-seven years in the future, Washi ngton had been dead but
fourteen years, and Grant was not born until nine years |ater
Twenty-two years before Wesl ey had breathed his last, twenty
one years before the first General Conference was hel d, and
one year before the first session of the Onhio conference,
Francis Asbury was still traveling fromend to end of the
country, fording rivers, clinbing nountains, traveling all day
on horseback through inpassabl e swanps and forests and at
ni ght often sighing for a clean plank on which to sleep. Peter
Cartwight was then in his prime, James Finley had been
admtted on trial a short time before and Jacob Young was j ust
getting a thorough start in the long journey of the
itinerants. It was the tinme of large circuits, the Sciota
Circuit had thirty appointnments, the nearest one being fifty
mles fromthe preacher’s hone. Other circuits were still
| arger. The preachers nade their long trips on horseback. In
their saddl e bags they carried their Bibles, Hymm Books,
tracts for distribution and a few religious books for sale.
They lived on corn and gane and whatever else they could get.
Their clothing was of the coarsest kind, often made fromthe
skin of animals. They had to guard thensel ves fromthe attacks
of both red and white savages. The town and country roughs
often broke up the services and could only be held in check by
a resort to force

At such a tinme as this the first Methodist class was
founded in the "new purchase" by Jesse Rowe, who probably
served as first leader. In all probability this was the Jesse
Rowe who in 1811 organi zed the first class in the Co., after
whom Rowe’ s Chapel was named. However, there were many of that
nane, and it is difficult to trace the work of each

The first circuit fornmed in this i mediate section of
country, was the Paint Creek Circuit. Ral ph Lotspeich was the



first preacher and as he was the first minister of this church
it can be assumed that this church was on the first circuit.
Sol oman Langdon was the first presiding elder. The first
quarterly neeting was held at the honme of Joel Wods on Paint
Creek in 1811. When our society built its first church is not
exactly known but it was probably sonetime prior to 1820.
Joshua Robi nson, who cane here in 1824 renenbers it as | ooking
rather old fromthe first time he sawit. WIIliam Jones, who
with his parents attended the church in 1828, renenbers it as
an old building at that tinme. The house was a frame structure,
| ocated on the north side of the alley next to the present
Presbyterian parsonage on Wayne Street. The little ridge of
sand, which was evident for several years, sone ten or twelve
feet fromthe sidewal k, marked the front entrance to the
building. If it was possible it would be interesting to trace
the history of the society fromthe time of building this
church to its final abandonment in 1850, but very little of it
has been recorded.

There are nunmerous transfers of real estate to trustees
of the church on the records of the Fayette County Recorder
It is difficult to trace these transfers. The earli est
transfer found is one dated August 1831 from George Mantle and
his wife to the trustees of the Methodi st Epi scopal Church and
the trustees were: Ceorge Roebuck, Joseph Haymaker, Thomas
Wal ker, Benjamn Hunter, WIlliam$S. WIIliam Hugh Roebuck and
D. C. Eastman. There is another transfer bearing this sane
description from Hugh Roebuck and wife to the sane trustees:
the description of the lot is herewith given:

"East side of Wayne Street corner to | ot #11
thence North 70° East 12 poles to a stake,

thence South 35° East 6 2/3 poles to a stake,
thence South 70° West 12 pol e to a stake on Wayne
Street, thence North 35° West 6 2/3 poles to the
begi nni ng, containing % acre."

There was al so a transfer on the Fayette County Recorders
records fromJanes Stewart and his wife to El eazer Martin,
Hugh Roebuck and Reuben Jones as Trustees of the Wesleyan
Met hodi st Church dated January 12th, 1847. There was al so a
transfer on the Fayette Co. Recorder records froma Perry
Sal ron to the trustees of a church later referred to as
"Met hodi st Epi scopal s" | ocated on the South side of the
Springfield Road, -- this transfer being dated in 1848.

There was a transfer from Mdses Stitt and his wife to the
follow ng men as Trustees of the Methodi st Episcopal Church
Hugh C. Dryer, Joseph Counts Jr., Jacob Ot, John Ot, GCeorge
Hammond, |. S. Darby and Thomas D. Thacker. This transfer was
dat ed Decenber 7, 1850 and was for |ot #43, which is the | ot
i mmedi at el y West of the present brick church building.

After the Paint Creek Circuit was broken up and



Bl oom ngburg becane a part of Washington circuit, we have
occasional glinpses of the early church through the Quarterly
Conference records. The first nention that the records nake of
this society is dated April 20th, 1838, and reads as foll ows:
"To the preacher in charge of Washington Circuit. W, the
undersigned trustees of the M E. Church in Bl oom ngburg,
woul d hereby give notice that we are involved in debt to the
amount of $130.00 on account of the house of worship of said
church, and we shall be under the necessity of raising this
anount by the sale of said house, unless it can be otherw se
rai sed. Signed: Robert Dawson, Hugh Roebuck, Janmes Thacker,
Elijah McCoy, and Hugh C. Dwyer.

In anot her place, nore than a year later, we find that an
appeal for aid was nade to the entire circuit, and as nothing
further is said of the debt, it was probably paid in full. In
anot her place in the records we find that the yearly
assessnent of Washington Circuit for the support of the
mnistry, was ei ghteen cents per nmenber. No wonder there are
sone church nenbers, not preachers, who sigh for the good old
tinmes. Even in those good old days it would seemthat the
spiritual patients in the pews were sonetines inclined to
di ctate concerning the nedicine that should be given them by
the physician in the pul pit.

In the records of the quarterly conference, held March
2nd, 1839, the preacher, Janes Laws, reports as follows: "On
the 2nd Sabbath in Decenber Bro. notified me,
Janes Laws, not to preach in the neeting house in
Bl oom ngburg" and to insure obedi ence he further states that
"sai d Bro. has taken the |lock off the door of the
sai d neeting house and put on another, the keys of which he
hol ds in his possession”. \Wether the said Bro.
ever surrendered the said keys to the said James Laws or
whet her the said James Laws ever got into said neeting house
again is left unsaid. Many people yet renenber the old weat her
boarded church (exact | ocation is not known, but it is
possible that it was the one on Wayne Street across the alley
fromthe present Presbyterian Manse) and it woul d be
interesting if it would be possible to hear all of these
menories related. The pulpit was in the front part of the
Church thus causing the congregation to face the entrance
doors. This was regarded as a great convenience, as it saved
the congregation the |abor of turning their heads to watch the
very | atecomer get safely into a seat. This church buil di ng
comng to be in a very shabby condition, |eaning forward and
liable to fall in some storm made a strong argunent for the
progressive el ement that desired a new and better tenple for
the worship of the Lord. At a quarterly conference in 1847, a
Comm ttee consisting of Henry Core, Joe Counts and Wn Davi s,
was appoi nted to consider the question of repairing the old
church or building a newone. In the followi ng year it was
decided to build, provided that that very essential thing —




t he money — coul d be obtained. The Quarterly Conference warned
the zeal ous trustees that if they went ahead w thout the
anmount required by the discipline, they would do so at their
own risk. This seened to chill the ardor of the progressives
and the heavy gloomthat rested upon themwas not lifted until
Decenber 1850, when under the pastorate of MIton G Baker,
subscriptions were taken and a | ot purchased. This was | ot #43
her et of or nenti oned. The contract for building was let to

Ri chard Lanum 1In 1851 the house was in closed and roofed. For
| ack of funds, the work rested there for about two years. In
1852, further subscriptions were taken to conplete the church,
and in 1853 it was finished and dedicated. Dr. Frederick
Merrick of Delaware, a man of sainted nenory officiated at the
dedi cati on. The debt on the building was fully paid the
foll owi ng year.

In 1851, C. D. Hays becane one of the trustees of the
church. He was chosen treasurer and served on the building
commttee fromApril 18, 1852 until the work was conpl eted and
paid for. He was the only nenber that was connected with the
church fromthe tine this second building was erected to the
time of the building of the brick church in 1894. This frane
buil ding was erected on this |ot #43, which is on the corner
of Cross Street and West Street in the village of Bl oonm ngburg
and was 36 by 47 feet. This building was used for the house of
worship until the new brick church was erected in 1894. On
July 9th, 1894, bids were received for the purchase of the old
frame building with the understanding that it be noved off of
the ot and not on an adjoining lot. The bid of James Judy and
Henry WIlls for $127.00 was accepted, and these nen noved the
buil ding up on Main Street, on the East side of the street and
on the south side of the Knights of Pythias Lodge buil ding
where it was used for various business enterprises including
an ice creamparlor, restaurant, barbershop, pool room and
living quarters. It remained here in this location until it
was so damaged by the cyclone of 1948 that it was condenmed
and ordered dismantled. So ends the |ife of |ong service of
one of our very popul ar houses of worship.

This church continued to be a part of the Washi ngton
Crcuit until 1856 at which tine the Washington G rcuit was
divided to make three circuits: Washington, Jeffersonville and
St aunt on. Bl oom ngburg becane a part of the Jeffersonville
Circuit. Fromthis time on the records are nmuch nore conpl ete.
At this tine there were but forty-four nenbers of the
Bl oom ngburg Church.

In 1862, the nanme of the circuit was changed to
Bl oom ngburg and consi sted of nine appoi ntments: Bl oom ngburg,
Uni on, Asbury, Zi mrerman's School House, Paint Chapel,
Stratley Chapel, Jeffersonville, Plynouth and Bl essings. On
the first day of Cctober, 1864 this church purchased a
par sonage. The transfer was from George Hammond to the
par sonage trustees and was for Lot #59 in Bl oom ngburg. This
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is the | arge house on Union Street imedi ately East of the old
carriage shop (operated now as a restaurant, grocery store and
pool room. This old house has recently been renodel ed and
made into apartnents. The trustees of the parsonage were: J.
W Rogers, Henry Casey, Enoch Hayden, W R WIllis, Wn M
Jones, Levi Hopkins, W A Gove and S. R Mrris. This

bui l ding was used as the parsonage until it was sold to Robert
Dyer on February 9th, 1884.
Changes continued to take place until in 1870 when the

circuit was made to consi st of three appointnents:
Bl oom ngburg, Union and Madi son Chapel. In 1885 Madi son Chapel
was granted preaching every Sunday afternoon and Uni on becane
a part of Jeffersonville Circuit. Under the pastorate of L. H
Bi nkl ey, the subject of a new church was agitated, and at a
quarterly conference in February 1884, a notion was put to
build a two-story brick church, 40 by 60 feet. This notion was
anended so as to nake it a one-story church and thus carried.
Many | ocations were exami ned and finally the property on
Lincoln and Cross streets was purchased. For various reasons,
however, the project was dropped. A parsonage was built on a
part of the property and the rest sold. The project of the new
church was buried so deeply that it was not brought to Iight
again until 1892 and even then with many misgivings as to its
ultimate success. A debt on the parsonage and necessary
repairs were first to be attended to, then by action of the
Quarterly Conference and afterward by the trustees, the pastor
and Henry Casey were given liberty to solicit subscriptions
for a new church and thus determ ne the advisability of
proceedi ng to build.

Wth the assistance of J. H MDowell, a practical
buil der, a plan was sel ected and the subscriptions then
obt ai ned, amounting to $5,025. This was in the spring of 1893.
Consi derabl e del ay occurred in selecting a |location and in
getting the right man to do the work of building. A conmittee
consisting of Rev. H W Hargett, C. T. Lynch and S. N. Brown
was appoi nted to obtain plans and specifications for the new
church. The notion was made and carried (July 11, 1893) that a
| ot be purchased fromM W Mrris and a partial lot fromDr.
G|l espie and the new church be built. This is the | ocation of
the present brick church. On April 5th, 1894, the contract was
let to R M Johnson Jr., of M. Sterling, 0., for the
bui | di ng of the church, conplete except for pews, at his bid
price of $6,400.00. The beautifully toned bell that we hear so
often was purchased from The Buckeye Bell Co., of Cincinnati,
Ohi o, and wei ghs 900 pounds. The first shovel of dirt was
turned by Abner M near, he being the first and | argest
subscriber as well as one of the ol dest nenbers of the church.
On June 5th, the cornerstone was |laid and under the skillful
| eadership of Dr. J. C Jackson, of Col unbus, subscriptions to
t he amount of six hundred dollars ($600.00) were received.
Under the efficient managenent of the contractor, the work was
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pushed forward, rapidly and well. The total cost of the
bui |l di ng and furnishings has been about $8, 500.00. This
bui I di ng was dedi cated as a house of worship on Sept. 23, 1894
by the Presiding Elder, M. Cherrington.

The short pews fromthe old church were sold to the
A.ME. Society of Bloomngburg -- 22 in nunber at $ .49 each.

Cheri shed pl easant nenories of the past but |ook forward
to a richer, fuller, grander future. As the "glory of this
| atter house is greater than that of the forner" so may the
spiritual growh of the people and their success in w nning
souls for the Master be greater than in any former house. Wth
the spirit of God in the hearts of the people, this church
wi |l be none other than the House of God, and this the gate of
Heaven. As we have seen, the character of these earlier
Christians has been such that this house of God has been a
truly center of worship down through the years.

It would be inpossible to list all of the events taking
pl ace in each of the pastors’ regines but two or three are
out st andi ng and shoul d be nmentioned. This is not in any way
deleting the work of any of the pastors, as each one of them
was an inportant link in the long life of this church. Passing
t hrough the pastorates down to 1916 we cone to that of Rev. J.
G Laughlin, who anmong his other fine qualities, was quite an
evangel ist. During his evangelistic services in 1918 there
were thirty-two who cane to the altar. That is the |argest
nunber of converts at one tine that there is any record of.
Then, we conme down to the pastorate of Rev. M V. E. Stunp, in
1926. It was during the pastorate of Rev. Stunp that the
basenent was excavated under the church to provide a kitchen
and roons for suppers, recreation and class neetings. This
i dea of serving eats in the church was not accepted
whol eheartedly, by sonme of the older nenbers. It was al so
during the pastorate of Rev. Stunp, that the nen's suppers
(with nmen doing all of the dipping and serving, and sone of
the cooking) were started and carried on for a few years. The
first supper drew a crowd of 500. It was also during this
pastorate that a di sagreenment arose anong sonme of the nenbers
in the church and the pastor, which has not been entirely
elimnated to this date.

One of the nopst sincere pastors we have ever had was Rev.
F. G Boroff, who despite the fact that his pay canme slowy
and sonetinmes not at all, he still showed the Spirit of his
Christ by his unfaltering attention to the nmenbers of his
parish. He served this pastorate for five years. It was during
the pastorate of Dr. J. H Baughn that the Staunton Church was
added to this Crcuit, in 1942. Rev. Baughn's chil dhood days
were spent in Fayette County, so that it was |ike com ng back
to the scene of his earlier triunphs.

He was succeeded by Rev. Lorin Heacock, who perhaps
wi t nessed one of the storniest pastorates of his career. It
was during this period that the cyclone of 1948 hit our



comunity and our church building in particular. The tw ster
blew in the | arge stained glass wi ndow, together with part of
the brick wall on the West side of the church, danmagi ng the
pews on that side of the church and breaking the floor down.
The wi nd, then being inside the church with no place to go,

bl ew the | arge wi ndow on the East side out taking part of the
back wall. A large tree in front was bl own through the |arge
wi ndow i n the Sunday school. The steeple was bl own of f taking
the | arge wheel off of the bell. Wth this big catastrophe
hitting our church, the Presbyterian people wel coned the

Met hodi st people with open arns, to conme and, either hold
separate services or conbine in a joint service. It was
decided to have a joint service, which was greatly appreciated
and enjoyed by all who freely took part. On March 21st, 1948,
at a congregational neeting held in the Presbyterian Church on
Sunday afternoon, it was decided to repair our church and to
add four nmenbers to the church trustees, being three in
nunber, to forma building commttee. The three trustees were;
Arl ey Ashbaugh, WIllard Bl ooner and Wn J. Purcell. These
three were given the authority to name four nenbers to nake up
the building coomittee. The additional ones named were: W J.
McG rr, Harrison Nelson, Orar Rapp and Lloyd |Iden. The
trustees agreed to get estinmates of the danmage done fromthree
reputabl e builders so as to affect a settlenent with the in
surance conpany. On June 21, 1948, one of the builders, M.
George Severs, of the Severs-WIlians Conpany of WAshi ngton C.
H., GChio, nade on estinmate of damage anobunting to $16, 488. 81.
The insurance adjuster, using a valuation of $20,000.00 and
because our insurance had the 80% co-i nsurance cl ause, arrived
at a figure of $11,586. After a discussion the adjuster raised
his offer by $100.00 and it was then accepted.

In examning the walls of the building it was noticed
that the back wall on the East side was out of plunb about
four inches. At first it was thought that this was caused by
the storm until some of the ol der nenbers renenbered that the
wall was built that way through error of the builder, M.
Johnson, in 1894. However, it was decided to strengthen that
part of the wall with a brick and cenent colum. On July 19,
1948, a contract was awarded the Sever-WIllians Co. to proceed
with the work on the cost plus basis (cost of material plus
1099 . The replacing of the | arge wi ndows and six small ones
and repairing the balance was done by The Curtis Art d ass
Conpany of Col unbus, Chio, at a cost of $3,300.00.

The total cost of repairing the church was $14, 830. 71.
The bal ance of the noney was rai sed by subscription. The
menbers of the church and a | arge nunber of friends of the
church were very loyal and contributed freely to this work. W
were congratul ati ng ourselves on the progress of the work and
the spirit of our people, not knowi ng what was in store for
us. Qur church was ready in the spring of 1949 and it was
abruptly announced by the pastor on a Wdnesday evening that



we woul d nove back on the foll ow ng Sunday. (Dedication
services were to be held at a |ater date. They were never

hel d.) This act of indiscretion and |ack of consideration for
the sister church on the part of our pastor caused about
twenty-five of our nenbers to | eave our church and take up

t heir nmenbership and support with the Presbyterian Church.
However, our Lord "noves in nysterious ways, his purpose

to fulfill", because we have won, perhaps, twice that many to
our church and Sunday School attendance.

During Rev. Quy Tucker's pastorate in 1949-51, our church
was the sponsor of the boy scouts in Bloom ngburg with Rev.
Tucker as the scoutmaster. He al so conducted evangelistic
services at all four points during his two year period which
was very beneficial and added extensively to the spiritual
life of the church. During Rev. Lester Taylor's pastorate, the
church has nmade quite an advance in activities. On Easter
Sunday of 1952, the |argest attendance at any tine was
recorded for Sunday school - 166. In Septenber of 1952, the
Met hodi st Youth fell owship was organized with Ms. dive
Mcl nt osh Lynch as counselor and in 1954 the Internedi ate Youth
fell owship was organized with Mss Lois Davis as counsel or
The Met hodi st nmen were organized in 1954 as a joint venture
with the men of the Madison MIIs church. However, the nen
from Madi son MIIls did not respond, so the organization is
whol 'y from Bl oom ngburg. During 1953, rest roons were
installed at the church. In the conference year of 1952-53 our
church was accl aimed the "Rural Church of the Year" in the
Chillicothe District and again in 1954-55 this honor was
best owed upon the church. Qur church is blessed with singing
voi ces of our choirs: Junior, Internediate, Youth Fellowship
and the Senior Choir. So we go forward inspired by our Lord to
do his WIIl and for his dory.

Following is the Iist of Sunday School Superintendents from
1860 to 1955 Inc.: (Not Conplete)

1860 Al fred Dyer 1913 L. D. M nnix 1948 Arthur Engle
1872 P. C. Mddl eton 1916 Al bert Hains 1949 W J. McGrr
1875 Silas Edwards 1919 Raynond |. Scott 1950 Charles

1886 W T. Elliott 1926 Elton B. Elliott G beaut
1888 S. N. Brown 1928 Gertrude Hol |l and 1951 W liamJ.
1899 Acton All emang 1931 WIlliamJ. Purcell Pur cel |
1900 S. N. Brown 1935 Elton B. Elliott 1953 Teddy Bol dnan
1903 Acton All emang 1937 Jacob Craig

1906 L. D. M nnix 1938 WIlliamJ. Purcell

1912 W T. Elliott 1946 Elton B. Elliott

The following is a list of the pastors on this charge from
1811 t o 1955 inc.:

1811 Ral ph Lotspeich & Joseph Hanes
1813 |saac Pavey & John Crowhill



1814 Mason Trader

1815 W P. Finley

1816 R. W Finley

1817 J. Cooper & W Westl ake

1818 J. Sol oman & Thos. Carr

1819 W P, Finley

1820 Andrew McLean

1821 Dani el Davidson

1822 Janes Smith

1823 John Simmerville

1824 David Law ence & George Gach

1825 A. L. Baxter

1826 Burroughs Westl ake

1828 Janmes Donahoe & W |iam Browni ng

1829 J. P. Taylor & Sol oman M near

1830 Janes Donohoe & Jess Prior

1831 Augustus Eddy & W L. Snow

1832 W L. Snow & Henry Turner

1833 Janmes Quinn & E. E. Dailey

1834 E. F. Webster & Lustire Janes
(Janes died, John King, Supply)

1835 C. C. Lybrand & Jacob A. Brown

1836 John W Clark & Edward Estelle

1837 Eli Truitt & J. Smith

1838 Janes Laws & Henry Wharten

1839 Bernard A. Casset

1840 Joseph Reader & B. A. Casset

1841 John Fitch

1842 Noah Hough & H. Z. Adans

1843 Martin Wl fe

1844 J. W Keely & B. N. Spahr

1845 J. W Keely & Val enti ne Beaner

1846 Janmes B. Austin & A Flem ng

1847 A. Flenmming & G lbert C. Townsley

1848 Thos. W Chandler & G Haines

1849 Samuel Brown & MIton G Baker

1850 M Iton G Baker, Sanuel Mddleton & J. F. Reed

1851 Barton Lowe, H F. Geen & E. H Dixon

1852 Barton Lowe & Wn Sutton

1853 Moses L. Bowmran & Wn Sutton

1854 Joseph Morris & J. F. WIllians

1855 Joseph Morris, J. F. Wllianms & Strawder Evans

1856 Addi son Nichol s

1857 Sanuel M ddl eton

1858 L. F. Drake & E. E. Heagler

1859 T. W Stanely & Henry Ml er

1860 L. S. Stivers & J. D. Fry

1861 J. Q Lakin

1863 Abraham Cartlick

1864 John Martin

1865 Joseph Martin

1866 Alonzo F. Hixon

1867 David Smith

1869 Richard Pitzer

1870 W F. Hughy

1871 Ancil Brooks

1872 A. H. W ndsor

1873

1874 L. F. Drake

1875 Wn McLaughlin

1876 J. M Adans

1878 GCeorge M Burns
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Bl oom ngburg Presbyterian Church
By Theresa and Alice Craig

For 184 years the Bl oom ngburg Presbyterian Church has
served its sonetines thriving, sonetinmes waning, smal
comunity in north-central Fayette County.

The charter:

In January of 1817, the Rev. WIIliam D ckey, then serving
the recently organi zed Presbyterian Church in Washi ngton C H.
was invited to cone to Bl oonm ngburg and preach the Gospel

Bl oom ngburg’ s prospects | ooked good at that tinme. Wen
Bl oom ngburg was being laid out two years earlier (in 1815 as
“New Lexington”), it was believed that the town m ght becone
the county seat.

In Novenber of 1817, 26 people net in the |og barn of
Col. James Stewart, just north of town (probably across from
the present school), and signed a charter organizing the
Bl oom ngburg Presbyterian Church. Elijah Allen, Judge Janes
Manary, Robert Robinson and Col. Janes Stewart were naned as
the first ruling elders.

Addi tional charter nenbers were Matthew G Il espi e,
Margaret G|l espie, Jane Stewart, Kelley Robinson, WIIiam
Deval on, Jane Deval on, Phoebe Deval on, Catherine Elliott,
Peggy Elliott, Catherine Manary, Elinor Allen, Hester
Thonpson, WIIiam Gunni ng, Jane Gunni ng, Andrew Gunni ng,

Bar bara Gunni ng, Jane Si nsabaugh, Nancy G bson, Joseph G bson
Bet sy G bson, Elizabeth Boyer and Peggy Allen

Early buil di ngs:

In March 1818, the menbers bought an acre of |and from
Matt hew and Margaret G|l espie as both a burying ground and a
site for their church. That | og church was situated in the
nort hwest corner of the present-day Bl oom ngburg Cenetery.

In 1824 an adjoining three-fourths of an acre was
purchased, and | ater records show another addition to the
sout hern part of the grounds. This | and was used by the
congregation as a burying place for over 60 years, when it was
transferred to the township for use as a permanent cenetery.

After brief use of a brick building, torn down after the
di scovery of faulty workmanship that nmade it unsafe, the
Presbyterians obtained in 1847, a site at the corner of Wyne
and Market streets. Here the Presbyterians built their third
church--the current church, and the ol dest structure in
Fayette County still serving as a church.
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The current structure:

The 1847 structure was originally a one-story franme
building with two entrances to its single large room At sone
poi nt during the next 20 years, a front hall was added as wel |l
as a room across the back of the church, allowing for three
classroons for Sunday school. (Sunday school, organized in
1818, has been in continuous operation since that tine.)

By 1870 it was consi dered necessary to enlarge the
bui | di ng again. The feat of raising the roof and putting
anot her story on top of the existing one was quite an
engi neering acconplishnment for that time. Al nost 100 years
later, in 1965, the vaulted ceiling was dropped and nore
nodern lights replaced the electric lights that had in the
early 1900s replaced the old oil-burning chandeliers.

Al t hough the present -day congregation calls the upper
story “the sanctuary”, accessibility and heating difficulties
cause both the normal worship services and Sunday school to
take place today on only the ground floor, in “the Sunday
school room” The sanctuary is used now only for occasiona
weddi ngs and ot her special occasions.

In 1952 an addition called “the annex” was erected and
furnished |largely by manual |abor of the church nenbers. This
structure added a spacious kitchen, two restroons, and one
| arge roomthat could be divided by folding curtains into five
cl assroons. The annex has been rented out since Septenber 1991
for Fayette County Head Start’s satellite program

Abolition:

Local historian Kenneth Craig believed that the
controversial antislavery issue was the main reason WIliam
Di ckey ended up serving the Bl oonmi ngburg congregation, and
serving it long and well.

Di ckey was born in South Carolina in 1774, educated in
Tennessee and Kentucky, and preached in Kentucky for 15 years
before comng to Ghio. During those earlier years, he
devel oped a strong aversion to slavery.

At first, Dickey preached at both the Washi ngton and
Bl oom ngburg Presbyterian churches, but after three years, he
deci ded to concentrate on the Bl oom ngburg church. Men of the
| atter congregation hitched oxen to wagons and literally noved
Di ckey’s | og cabin to Bl oom ngburg.

Evi dence of Father Dickey's influence on his Bl oom ngburg
congregation becane newy avail able during a four-year
i nvestigation of the Underground Railroad nmade by the
1998/ 2001 Research History classes of Paul LaRue at Washi ngton
H gh School

These cl asses concl uded that “the Presbyterian church was
the nost actively involved of any denomination in the area,”
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and that it was mnisters WIlliam D ckey, Janes Dickey (his
hal f - brot her), Samuel Crothers and Hugh Fullerton who had the
greatest inpact on area Presbyterian congregations regarding
abolition.

Educati on:

Anot her field in which the Bl oom ngburg Presbyterian
Church figured prominently in its first half-century of
exi stence was hi gher education. The sanme Col. Janes Stewart,
who had housed the first Presbyterian services in his barn,
bequeat hed upon his death in 1862 $2000 and ground for the
pur pose of building an acadeny. (The present school buil ding,
al t hough not the one originally built, stands on the sane
site.)

An associ ati on was founded in 1863, under supervision of
the Presbyterian Church; a stock conpany was formed and shares
sold at $50, again with the deacons of the Presbyterian Church
supervi sing. The acadeny building was finished in tine to
start school in 1865.

Bl oom ngburg Acadeny existed until 1877 or 78, when the
buil ding was used for a Normal School. After a few years, it
was changed to a Common School, with the first high schoo
class graduating in 1888. By 1914 a four-year course of study
was i nstituted.

In 1963, | ocal high school students travel ed away from
the village for the first tine to the newly opened M anm Trace
H gh School . Today, the building in Bl oom ngburg is used for
the Mam Trace Junior High

Past ors:

The Rev. WIliam D ckey was succeeded by his co- pastor
the Rev. RW WIson (also designated to be the first
princi pal of Bl oom ngburg Acadeny). Upon WIlson’s death, the
Rev. Edward Cooper al so took over as both Bl oonm ngburg
Presbyterian Church m nister and Bl oom ngburg Acadeny’s first
actual principal.

Di ckey, WIIliam 1817- 1857
W1l son, R W, Co-Pastor 1851- 1865
Cooper, Edward D. 1866- 1869
Wbods, John 1869- 1872
Kendal |, C. 1872-1877
Moore, Ceorge F. 1877-1878
Von Krug, Ferdinand 1879- 1883
Jones, J.H 1884- 1888
Cark, HW 1888- 1892
Ham in, C. L. 1893-1899
Kendal |, C. 1900- 1903
Tullis, Don Supply for 6 nonths
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Thonpson, Eberle W, D.D. 1904- 1910

Moore, F. M 1910-1914
Kerr, T. Calvin 1914-1919
Kerns-Preston, D.A. 1919- 1925
Wahl, H N 1926- 1927
d enn, John 1927-1948
Peterson, Allan M 1949- 1951
Elliott, Paul H, D.D 1952- 1957
Snyder, Jerry 1958- 1960
Bell, Donald L. 1962- 1965
Briley, Robert C. 1966- 1969
Dean, Kenneth H. 1971- 1973
Pendel | , Donal d Suppl y
MWyers, Alton J. 1976- 1982
Banks, Janmes O., D.D. 1982- 1984
Kai bel , Kenneth 1984- 1991
Kar nes, Ross 1992
Reed, Arthur A 1992- 1996
Birdsall, Judith 1996- 1998
Mller, Gary 1999- present

Only three mnisters have served the Bl oom ngburg
congregation nore than 10 years, and these three--whose
pastorates total 75 years--are also the only ones whose
remains rest in the |ocal cenetery. Father D ckey served 40
years, Robert WIson 14 years, and John d enn 21 years.

Two former mnisters’ w ves deserve special nention: Ms.
Paul Elliott built up the choirs during the 1950s with her
consi derable nusical talent; and Ms. John d enn, who outlived
her husband by many years, hel ped i nmeasurably in the wonen's
associ ati on and taught a Sunday school class as |ong as her
heal th permtted.

150-year mi | estone:

In 1967, to comenorate the 150'" anniversary, Mna Mrris
conpil ed a bookl et summari zi ng Bl oom ngburg Presbyterian
Church’s history. She listed these active “elders” (officials
el ected for three-year ternms to nake deci sions on behal f of
the congregation): Robert Jefferson, Elnmer Sinmerl, Lew s
Parrett, Ray Deere, David Johnson, Thomas Mssbarger, WIIliam
Beal , Christine Cook, Mna Mrris and Arthur Engle, derk.

O her officials known as “deacons” at the tinme of the
150" anni versary were Ronald Thonpson, Helen Sollars, Ronald
Brown, Hel en McFadden and Stanl ey Wl sh.

Previously el ected and duly ordained elders still living
in 1967 were Raynond Scott, Arthur Engle, Ilo Larrimer, Verne
Foster, Pauline Swope, AL Ogan Riley, Jerrold Cory, Harry
Craig, Martha Mckle, Charles B. Cook, Donald King, Virginia
Coil, Mary Foster, Lewi s Evans, Dani el Thonpson, Mary Alice
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Graum ich, Hazel Myer, John Sollars, Edgar McFadden, Thonas
Parrett and Ri chard Snyder

There were 153 registered nenbers at the time of the
sesqui centennial, with church attendance averagi ng 45 each
Sunday.

Present -day congregation and activities:

By 2001, direct descendants and inlaws of Charles and
Christine Cook nake up the largest group in the congregati on.
O her fam |y nanmes include Bennington, Cory, Craig, Gl nore,
Gol dberg, G eensl ade, Hutchens, MIler, Parrett, Perkins,
Porter, Queen, Sinerl, Sollars, Strahler and Swope.

The ol dest living nenber is Pauline Swpe, over 100 years
of age; the oldest active nenber is 90-year-old Mary Foster
t he person who has belonged to the church the | ongest is
Theresa Craig, who joined in October 1926.

In 2001 the church | eaders include the Rev. Gary M1l er
along with elders Bill Bennington, Bobbie Bennington (clerk),
Dean Cory, Mary Coldberg (treasurer), Mary Parrett and Becky
Sol | ars.

Sunday school |eaders include Don Hutchens as both
superi ntendent and teacher of the adult class; Jill Cory as
treasurer; M ndy Cook as “sunshine person”; and nusicians
Becky Sollars, Alice Craig and Mary Foster. Wnen in the
congregation alternate nonthly to teach the young children’s
cl ass.

Traditional activities still taking place regularly in
this new m |l enniuminclude the Maundy Thursday potl uck; the
Easter breakfast, prepared by the nen of the congregation; a
comuni ty Thanksgi ving Eve service that alternates anong the
churches of Bl oom ngburg; the Christmas Eve candl el i ght
service, when food is collected for the county’s food pantry;
speci al progranms in Sunday school on Mthers’ Day and Fat hers’
Day; and food preparation for Mdland Acres’ Show Day on Labor
Day weekend.

Menor abl e periods in the cyclical prosperity and decline of
t he church:

During the Depression of the 1930s, financia
difficulties forced the “yoking” of the Bl oom ngburg
congregation with that of MNair Presbyterian Church in
Washington C.H This relationship continued am cably from 1932
until 1965, when each church considered itself viable enough
to stand on its own.

After a tornado severely danaged the Methodi st church in
1948, both congregati ons worshi pped together for nearly a year
at the Presbyterian Church. The fact that sonme famlies
continued to attend the latter church even after the Methodi st
sanctuary had reopened brought new |life to the Bl oom ngburg

15



Presbyterians; and the congregation experienced severa
prosperous, active decades.

In January 1983, the Bl oom ngburg Presbyterians yoked
again, this time with Mdway Presbyterian Church in Sedalia
(Madi son County). The two small congregations currently share
t he expenses of a half-time “supply” pastor.

Today the size of the congregation on many Sundays is
simlar to those 184 years earlier, when 26 devout citizens
met in alog barn in 1817 to organi ze the Bl oom ngburg
Presbyteri an Church.
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CENTER METHODI ST CHURCH

It was just 39 years fromthe tinme Jasper Township was
settled until an organization was fornmed in the Center
nei ghbor hood by the Methodi st Epi scopal Church with Fl etcher
Zi mrer man and John Luttrell, anong the first trustees of the
society, being instrunental in effecting such an organi zati on.
1848, the first data found recorded, was when a group of early
pi oneers assenbled at a | og school house on Wl ianson
Furgeson's farm This structure was used for church purposes
until 1851 or 1852. Both the Methodi st Protestants and
Canpbel lites then used the school house as a neeting place and
t he hol di ng of services. However, neither denom nation fornmed
or gani zati ons.

In 1851, or 1852, there was a church constructed on | and
owned by a M. Brown near the school house on the J. L.
Per si nger | ands.

The date is not certain, but sonetine between the years
1868 and 1873; a frame church was erected on the Al en Pike,
one-fourth of a mle fromthe site of the Iog building. The
church, built at a cost of $2,200, is near Plynouth in Jasper
Townshi p, Fayette County.

The church had a steady congregation up until 1946 then
it was closed because of |lack of interest, it remained closed
for nearly five years. In 1951, a small group of energetic
peopl e reopened the little church. The House of Worship
underwent a conplete redecorating inside. It was during that
year that rededication services were held under the direction
of Rev. Ancil Arnold, who was the pastor in charge of the
MIledgeville Circuit.

Everyone in the congregation pitched in when vol unteers
were wanted for the putting of a coat of white paint on the
outside of the building. The parishioners w el ding paint
brushes, swarnmed all over the little one-roomstructure. By
eveni ng of the sane day, the church was given an attractive
and spruced-up appearance.

The nmenbers were hard-working people, and they
appreci ated their wonderful country church. Sunday school was
conducted every Sunday norning at ten o'clock in charge of
Supt. Carl Arehart. Held weekly on Wdnesday evenings at 7:30
o' clock was a prayer neeting, while regular worship services
were in the charge of pastor Rev. George G oh

Among the pastors serving the parish were Rev. Roy
Coleman, Rev. L. AL Giffith, Rev. Fred Mark, Rev. C. A
White, Rev. Lusk, Rev. Ancil Arnold, and Rev. Groh who cane in
June 1954 to minister to this church-going congregati on. He
al so servee three other churches - Spring Grove, South Sol on
and M || edgeville.

According to the records on Novenber 30, 1954, there was
a nmenbership in the church of 29.

(I'nformation furnished by Ms. Lowell Thonpson and Rev. Ceorge
G oh. Dated Novenber 30, 1954) 17



H story O The Church of Chri st
(Fornmerly MIlwood Church of Christ)
1550 St. Rt. 38 NE
Washi ngton Court House, Ohio 43160
April 21, 2001

Pr ef ace

The Church in Washington C.H is the result of the facts
in the foll ow ng par agraph.

Jesus Christ said, “I will build ny church.”
(Matthew 16:18) He did and it was established on
Pent ecost Day in AD33. Qur present cal endar woul d be
AD30. (Acts 2) The Church of Christ has no human creed
book. The Bible is the divine book. Every word is
inspired of God. (Il Tinothy 3:16) The men, who w ote,
did so as God directed every word. It is the “Wrd of
God”. God inspired themto wite in their own | anguage.
The A d Testanent was nostly in Hebrew, the New Testanent
in Geek. Wien correctly translated into all the
| anguages of the world, it is the nessage of God for
every race of mankind. (Mark 16:15,16) It is plenary
(conplete), verbal (every word), inerrant (wthout
error). It is therefore infallible and all sufficient,
all congregation of the Church were called “church of
Christ” (Romans 16:16) The Church here in Washington C H
is a congregation of the church which you read about in
the New Testanment. For nore information of the
congregation when it was known as the MI|wood Church of
Christ, refer to the Sesqui centennial book of 1953 in the
Carnegi e Public Library.

Novenmber 1, 1936, is the first record we have of the
Church of Christ in Washington Court House, Chio. It was the
first service held in the home of Sister Alie Cutis. The
group net in different homes for a while. It was deci ded that
nore space was needed.

In 1937, space was rented in the Mose Hall. Due to the
fact that liquor was sold dowm the hall in full view the
| ocati on was not conducive to Christian worship. Later in
1937, Room 18 in the Masonic Building was rented. In 1942, the
group noved to a building at the corner of N. North St. and
Rose Ave. This proved to be unsatisfactory and after about a
year, they nmoved back to the Masonic Buil ding.

The congregati on began thinking of constructing a new
bui | di ng. On Sunday, August 4, 1946, the snmall sum of $18.59
was set aside for a building fund. In 1947, lots were
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pur chased from Sarah Badger, who |lived across fromthe [ots on
the corner of Miulberry St. and M| Iwod Ave. Brother Floyd
Stral ey, Brother Raynond Troute, Brother Daniel Kingery,
Brother Darnel Straley and Brother George LeHew were sel ected
to be trustees, in accordance to the aws of the State of

Onhi o.

Brother Edward Cain was the first full tinme preacher to
work with the congregation. He and his wife Sister Trussie
began worshi pping with us in May 1946 after deciding that they
had been worshipping in error at the congregati on where he had
been preaching.

During Brother Cain’s work here many things were
acconpl i shed, one of which was the construction of the
building at 935 M|l wod Avenue. He preached his | ast sernon
at the Sunday norni ng openi ng service of the new building on
August 5, 1951. There was an afternoon dedication service. The
speaker was Brother Crain Hill and song | eader was Brot her
Adki nson Sawer. Brother and Sister Cain noved soon after that
to WIlliamstown, West Virginia. He was also instrunental in
the establishnment of Fort Hill Christian Youth Canp near
Hi I | sboro, OChio.

Brother Richard Brewer was hired as the |ocal preacher in
April 1954. He, his wife, Sister Marjorie, and their famly
noved to northern Chio in April 1955. Brother Jack Pl umrer
was hired in 1955. Brother Plumer taught mnusic cl asses for
t hose who were interested. The Plumers noved to Harvey,
Il1linois in August of 1959.

In the fall of 1959 Brother Cyde Hartnman and his wife,
Sister Joan, started working at MI|Ilwod. He taught school to
suppl ement his incone. Brother Hartman was instrumental in
encouraging us to redecorate the auditorium In 1960, we
pur chased oak pews, conmunion table, pulpit stand, flower
stands and 2 large chairs for the auditorium The theater
seats that had been used were donated to Fort Hi Il Christian
Youth Canp. At the end of the 1961 school year, the Hartnmans
noved back to the Dayton, Chio area.

In August 1961, we had the privilege to hire a young nman,
just out of Freed-Hardeman, Brother Wndell Gann. |In August
1963, married his wife, Mary Ann. In 1964 they decided to
change |l ocation to Wthansville, OChio.

In 1964, Brother Bob Eddy and his wife, Patty, began work
with us at MIIlwood. Brother Eddy worked at Fort Hil
Christian Youth Canp in the summer. |In 1966, the Eddys noved
to Texas.

Later in 1966, a retired man cane to church to visit. As
it turned out he was interested in pulpit work to suppl ement
his salary. Brother Medford Kaehele and his wife, Carice,
noved here until 1969.

On January 1970, Brother Roger Pace from Flint, M chigan
came to work with us at MIlwbod. He later took up work as a
chaplain in the service
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In January 1971, Brother John Wite came to us from
Xenia, GChio, after finishing preaching school. He, his wfe
Sister Jan and two young sons noved here and began worKk.

Early in 1973 they went to Marysville, Ohio to work with the
church there.

On Feb. 25, 1973, Elders were appointed - Brother George
LeHew, Brother Robert Ritenour and Brother Sam Troute.

In August 1974, Brother Charles Brady, his wife, Sister
Virginia and their famly came to work with the MI I wood
congregation. A very successful Bible Canpai gn was hel d during
the years that the Bradys were here. They noved to Seth, West
Virginia in 1977.

Deacons were appointed Dec. 27, 1981, Brother Walter Rose
and Brother Jobn Troute.

On May 1, 1981 Brother John Steele cane here to start a
new wor k. He had been working in Pennsyl vani a. Br ot her
Steele, his wife Sister Linda, and fam |y noved here and
preached at M| Iwood until Decenber 1989. Although Brother
Steel e does not preach full tinme any | onger, he and his famly
chose to stay in the area and continue to work with the
congregati on as nenbers.

In 1984, Brother Bob Ri tenour renpdel ed the basement of
the building, creating the effect of a village called
“Bibleville”.

Brot her Robert Ritenour resigned as elder on April 21,
1985. Brother Sam Troute resigned Nov. 5, 1989, thus desol ving
the Eldership at the MIIlwod Church of Christ.

In July 1990, Brother John Daniels cane here from
Pai ntsville, Kentucky. Brother Daniels, his wife Sister Nancy
and famly worked with us until July 1992, when they deci ded
to nove south to Newport, Tennessee.

I n Septenber 1992, Brother Harold Driver and his wife
Sister Estelle canme here from Max Meadow, W Virginia. They
worked with us at MIlwod until nmoving to Bowing Green, Chio
in 1994.

On January 1, 1995, Brother Bob Adans and his wife Sister
Doris cane to work with us at MIIlwod. During the tinme he
was here, he encouraged us to look for land, with the intent
of a building a new church building. On May 8, 1995, a track
of land was surveyed. Later we bought the land from Al fred L.
Mayer. Bob had health problens that hindered his work. In
1997, they noved to Col unbus, Onio.

Cct ober 22, 1997, Brother Tinothy Dool ey cane from
Springfield, Chio to wrk at MIlwobod. It was during his
stay, we constructed our new building on Rt. 38. Brother
Dool ey al so organi zed a Lectureship, which was hosted at
M1 lwood in June 1998.

In April 1998 we had the ground breaking for the new
buil ding. The building at 935 MIIwood was sold in July 1998
so we worshi pped at Rose Ave. School until the new buil ding
was finished. On Sunday Septenber 20, 1998, we had the first
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services in the new auditorium The official opening day was
Cctober 11, 1998. John Daniels, former mnister, was invited
to speak in the norning services.

Brot her Dool ey, his wife Sister Colleen and famly worked
with us until April 1999, when they decided to nove to Erw n,
Tennessee.

In May 1999, Brother Justin Odomand his wife Sister
Kristina came to work with us and is the present mnister at
the tinme of this witing.
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First Baptist Col ored Church
Bl oom ngburg, OH - Paint Twp.

The First Baptist Colored Church of Bl oom ngburg, Paint
Twp., dates back to the year 1864 when it was first known as
the First Baptist Antioch Church and neetings were held at a
bui |l ding on West Street in the village.

Information regarding the earlier history of the church
is very scarce since all the records were destroyed in a fire
at the Wodfork hone in Bl oom ngburg in 1930. At that tine
Ms. Wodfork, wife of the present pastor, was the church
secretary.

It was in 1880 that the First Baptist Church on Wayne
Street, which had been the neeting place of the white Baptists
since 1846, becane the new House of Worship for the col ored
organi zation. The white religious group gave themthe building
when that organi zation di scontinued use of the church
structure; it was at that time when the col ored Baptists
changed their location that they al so changed their nane to
First Baptist Col ored Church.

When the church was first used its di nensions were 40x60
feet. The church proper is of frame construction but the annex
erected in 1948 as a dining roomand kitchen is nade of cenent
bl ocks. An inprovenent was also carried out two years prior to
the erection of the bl ock building addition when the church
underwent redecorating. A dedication was held in Septenber of
t hat year.

For the past quarter of a century the church has held a
homecom ng annually at the church in Bl oonmi ngburg on the
second Sunday in Septenber.

Pastors recalled as having mnistered at the church are
the follow ng: Revs. 0. 0. Jones, Burley, Cradick, Mdison,
Brooks, Sam Brown, Carpenter, Patterson, MCorm ck
Breckenri dge, Rev. Powell, G eenhow, Lattiner, Gay, Cox, and
Rev. Janes Ant hony Wodfork, the present pastor, and who in
July conpleted eight years at this sane pastorate.

Church nenbership at the present tinme is recorded as 23.

Sunday School and church services are held every Sunday
being as follows: S. S., 10:00 a.m, Preaching, 8:00 - 8:30
p. m

Anong col ored residents recall ed as belonging to the

church were the following: Henry Stewart's, Jesse Stewart's,
Ms. Jennie Brewer, Ms. Nancy Allen, Tonmy Lee's, WIIiam
Lee's, Ryan's, Drew Casey's, Waver's, George Lee's, Ed
Anderson's, Sam Modrgan's, Henry Redman's, Henry Spears',
Wat son's, Martha Haithcock's, Valentine's, Furbush's, WIIliam
Anderson's, John Smth's, Reuben Byrd's, Bill Gordon's, the
Ranki n's, and John Keel's.

For the past fifteen years Ms. Sherman Ryan has served

as the Sunday School Superintendent.
(Information by Rev. J. A Wodfork and Ms. Edith Ryan-August 1955)
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First Baptist Church-Washi ngton Court House
Church H story from 1840 to 1940
By Margaret Dewees (1940)

Early in 1840, Elder Azel Waters of Jonas Run, assisted
by Al bert Wedge, held a protracted neeting in the First
Presbyterian Church in Washington C. H As a result of this
nmeeting, on February 21, 1840, the First Baptist Church was
organi zed with el even nenbers: John Franks, WIIliam Harper, Z.
B. Baughn, Saruel F. Yeonman, Asenath Yeonan, Bethiah S
Yeorman, Haneth Jane Di ckerson, Mary Franks, Rebecca Baughn,
Rebecca Bl ue, and Mary Curry; Elder Waters acted as Moder at or
and El der Wedge as clerk. Elder A D. Freeman becane the first
past or Decenber 24, 1840.

Early in 1844, Elder Thomas Goodwi n becane Pastor, and in
August the church was received into the Strai ght Creek Bapti st
Associ ation held at Wnchester, Adans County, Chio. The first
t hree exclusions were three nmenbers who becane followers of
Joseph Snmith, the Mornon Leader.

In 1847, Elder A. D. Wodruff becanme pastor. Services
were held in the Court House for the next twenty years. In
1849, the church transferred its nmenbership to the Caesar
Creek Association, now Clinton

In 1856, Elder J. W Heistand was called to the
pastorate. From March 8, 1859, J. B. Tuttle, then a student,
supplied the church for six nonths; he was ordai ned May 18,
1861; Rev. Janes Sargeant, Moderator and 0. A Allen, Cerk.

I n Decenmber 1862, Rev. C. T. Enerson becane pastor, and under
hi s | eadership, a house of worship costing $8, 000 was erected.

In 1868, J. R Powell becane Pastor. In 1870, the church
reported seventy-seven nenbers and WIIliam Ki dder was call ed
to the pastorate. He died in 1873 and Rev. Arnstrong was
called as pastor. This was the year that the fanmous Tenperance
Crusade took place in this city. Ms. Jennie Ogle and Ms.
Janmes Adans were active in its work.

W W Sawyer becane pastor in 1874 and was succeeded in
1879 by Sal em Towmn Gisworld who served one year. In 1880,
Rev. C. A MManis supplied the church for six nmonths. In
1881, the nenbership was reported to be 91. March 1882, Rev.
J. R Powell becane pastor, followed in 1885 by Rv. C W
LI oyd who served until 1887. On Septenber 8, 1885 the church
bui | di ng was destroyed by a cycl one.

In July 1888, C. V. Northrup, a student of Ham Iton
Theol ogi cal Sem nary, becane pastor. He was ordai ned Septenber
21, 1888, and on the sane day, the new house of worship,
costing $10, 000 was dedi cated. COctober 19, 1890 Rev. T. B.

Col l'ins began his pastorate during which tinme a parsonage was
er ect ed.

W H. Whgoner accepted a call and was ordai ned February
16, 1893; he closed his pastorate February 1, 1895 and on
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April 4, 1895 Rev. W J. Coul ston becane Pastor and cl osed his
| abors January 2, 1898.

For seven nonths the church was without a pastor. Three
months of this tinme Rev. B. Tullos acted as supply. These were
dark days for the church. D ssentions and an appal ling debt,
whi ch had been on the increase for years, threatened the very
exi stence. Rev. W B. Hartzog served the church from Cct ober
1, 1898, until My 27, 1900. Ei ghteen nenbers were added to
the church and the indebtedness of ever $3,300 was paid, the
par sonage havi ng been sold in the transactions; the nmenbership
was now 231. The church is "forgetting those things which are
behi nd and reaching forth to those things which are before."

August 2, 1900 Adoniram Judson Tuttle, a student from
Deni son, becane pastor; August 28, he was ordai ned and served
one year when he resigned to go to Assamas a m ssionary.
Novenber 3, 1900, Rev. W A. G boney canme and served the
church one-year. Rev. F. W Irvin began his pastorate Decenber
1, 1902, resigning June 1906. During his stay the church spent
$1,000 on repairs. In 1906, donations were sent to San
Franci sco for Earthquake sufferers. Septenber 1906 to Decenber
1908, Rev. J. J. Kett served the church. He was greatly
interested in young people and worked up a | arge young nen's
class. The State Convention convened here Cctober 18 21, 1907.

Rev. A. W West canme May 1909 and during his pastorate a
M ssi on Sunday school was organized in MIlwod with Harry E
Wod as Superintendent. It was held in the school building and
flourished until 1911 when the building was sold. In 1910, the
I ndi vi dual Conmuni on service was put into use for the first
time. In 1913, city heat was installed in this church. In
1916, Rev. West resigned to return to his native hone,
Kentville, Nova Scotia where he becane Chaplain in a Canadi an
army canp. Rev. CGeorge L. Hart becane pastor in Cctober 1916
and served until his death Cctober 1919; during this tineg,
Evangelist Brom ey held a citywide revival in a tenporary
t abernacl e, and 28 converts joined the Baptist Church. In
1917, Rev. and Ms. Hart, Mary R Robi nson and Margaret DeWes
attended the N. B. C. in Oeveland, Chio; On their return, the
first World Wde Guild chapter was organi zed, and since, an
unbr oken chain of young wormen and girls have functioned in the
M ssionary activities of the church; the first Guild built the
fine platformacross the front of the church.

During the World War, the church displayed a Service Flag
with a blue star for each of the 14 boys fromthe Sunday
school and one Gold Star for Carence Hard who was killed in
action; the boys were Robert WIllis, Charles WIllis, Richard
WIllis, Raynond M| ler, Ray West, David Parker (Local Y. M C.
A. See) Harlan Melvin, Al bert Briggs, Howard Fogle, Earl West,
Raynmond Curl and Ben Jones.

Rev. C arence R Ferguson becane pastor Easter Sunday
April 20, 1919, serving until August 1920; while he was here,
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the New Wirld Movenent of the NN B. C was instituted. During
the next six years, the church paid to the United M ssion
Budget and ot her benevol ences $10,597.50. Rev. AL W Wst was
called the second time April 1921 and served until My 1923.

Rev. W H WIson began his pastorate Easter Sunday Apri
1924 and has served faithfully to this day. In 1925 the
Par sonage was re-purchased for $5,000, |ast paynent bei ng nmade
in 1936. The Primary Departnent and three adult classes now
occupy the building. From 1922 to 1929, the Children's Wrld
Crusade started 105 children in M ssionary education; Ms. H.
E. Whod was active in this work. In 1927, a | arge Sunday
school orchestra was organized. In 1930, a tine of financia
di stress began; all the banks of the city closed taking church
funds as well as those of the nenbers; nmenbers lost their
i ncomes and busi nesses, and the church was faced with a
difficult situation but through faithful ness and econony,
weat hered the storm

During the sixteen years that Rev. WIson has | abored
anong us, |arge nunbers of nenbers have been baptized, and the
church has enjoyed a pastorate of peace and progress; the
present menbership is now 482. Forty-three have been called by
death i ncluding three deacons: M. John Draise, M. WIIiam
Fogle and M. Harry Townsley. Ohers sadly m ssed are Ms.
Mary Hess Briggs, a descendent of Ms. Mary Franks one of the
charter nmenbers; Ms. Carrie B. WIllis who was outstanding in
her service to the church and community, especially in the
Local Red Cross, Y~ M C. A and Y. W C. A Her daughter
Li na, served as See to the Anmerican Executive Sec. of the Y.
W C. A in China; her son Dr. WIllis WIlis served as Mdi cal
M ssionary in Southern Rhodesia, East Africa, under the board
of the Congregational Church from 1930 to 1939; also Ms. John
Case who was untiring in her efforts to pronote the cause of
Christ and the wel fare of the church.

Si xteen crinson roses were found on the pul pit by the
pastor March 31, rem ndi ng himof sixteen happy years of
pastoral |abor. Sabbath nmorning April 7, the pastor was
greatly surprised and together with his famly was made the
reci pients of a beautiful and valuable present; to celebrate
the first Sabbath of the 17th year, a delightful reception was
pl anned at which refreshments were served and about 200
friends called to extend congratul ations.

Qur present board of deacons is Harry E. Wod, Laris
Hard, John W Case, Walter R MLean, Robert Caplinger, Janes
R Robi nson and Pear| Baughn; the latter two will be ordai ned
June 30. The trustees are M. John N. Browning, M. Walter
McLean, M. MIlo Smth, M. W L. Peterson and Ms. L. C.
Coffman. M. Harry E. Whod is now serving his 20th year as
superintendent, and has been greatly |oved and honored by the
chur ch.

This history is prepared for the occasion of the One
Hundr edt h Anni versary of the church to be observed June 26-30,
1940. M ss Margaret DeWes, Church d erk.
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First Presbyterian Church
1813-1963

A BRI EF H STORY OF THE FI RST PRESBYTERI AN CHURCH
OF WASHI NGTON COURT HOUSE, OHI O

The Presbyterian Church in Fayette County first cane into
being in 1812. In that year the Chillicothe Presbytery
received a petition "from sone inhabitants of Fayette County
desiring to be known as the Washi ngton Congregati on and
praying for supplies.” This took place but two years after the
organi zation of the county and after the platting of the town
of Washington. Only the Friends Meeting at Wal nut Creek, bel ow
New Martinsburg, is older in Fayette County; but it has |ong
been di sbhanded. So the First Presbyterian Church has grown up
with the community.

In 1813 the Presbytery noted that Major Samuel Waddl e of
Washi ngton was to receive certain religious books and supplies
being then distributed, and in 1814 Reverend Sanuel Bal dridge
was assigned to the pastorate here. However, the church
records here show the organi zati on date of the congregation as
Cct ober 10, 1813, and date Reverend Baldridge's ministry from
that time. Fromthat date M. Baldridge served until 1815 and
was to give only half his tine to the congregation here. In
1815 Reverend Janes Di ckey was assigned and was here two
years. From 1817-19 there was no regul ar assigned m nister
and during this period the Bl oonm ngburg congregati on was set
off as a separate group

THE ORI G NAL SESSI ON

Janes Cl ark WIlliamBlair Sanmuel Waddl e
Anani as Al | en Janmes Stewart

ORI G NAL MEMBERS - RECEI VED OCTCBER 19, 1813

W liam Devl on John Waddl e Henry Sni der
James Devl on Mary Waddl e Bet sy Sni der
Phebe Devl on Bet sy \Waddl e Jane Stewart
Mary Waddl e Catherine Blair Janes Blair

| sabella Blair Luci nda Bal dri dge Mar garet All en

| sabella Cerk
MEMBERS RECElI VED AFTER OCTOBER 19, 1813
June 3, 1814

Robert Robi nson Joseph Ronk
Joseph Parrott (Senr.) Cat heri ne Ronk
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August 26, 1814

Decenber 16,

Novenmber 20,

July

W 1iam Gunni ng
Jane Gunni ng

Mar gar et Cel aspey
El i zabet h Boyce
Jane Si ncebaugh
Mat hew Gal espy
Andr ew Gunni ng
Bar bara Gunni ng

1816

Sanuel Buck
Sar ah Buck
Sal |y McCandl ess

19, 1817
Harri et

Janmes McMat h
Pol 'y McMat h

August 16, 1818

James Patterson

| sabella Patterson, his wife
Nor man F. Jones
MIly, wife of J. B. Wbster

El i sabet h Bl acknore,

Deat hs reported Nov. 20,

Janes Clark — El der

I nfants Bapti zed

June

3, 1814

Davi d Ronk
Joseph Ronk
El i sa Sni der

August 26, 1814

Polly Blair
Catherine Blair

18182 (Prob.

1815)

1816

Sar ah Robi son

Joseph G bson

El i zabeth G bson
Nancy Allen

Thomas McGarraugh
Mary McGarraugh
James McCor m ck

M's James McCorm ck
Mar gar et El | ot

Mary Cristy
James Manary
Ms. Janes Manary

Buck, w fe of Janes Buck

Franci s Waddl e

El enor Or ("a nmenber over

20 years ago")

Jacob Cayl or

Cat heri ne Cayl or,
Roswel | Grosvenor
Harri et G osvenor

wi fe of Joseph

Janmes McGarraugh

El i zabet h Waddl e
Hugh Stewart

John Bl air
Eli zabeth Bl air

his wfe
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Decenber 16, 1818? (Prob. 1815),

Jane McGarraugh Pol |y Waddl e
El ener Waddl e July Ann Mont gomery

Novenber 20, 1816

Janes Wason Buck El i sabet h Buck
WIIliam Buck Nat hani el M Candl ess

July 19, 1817

Mar garet Ameli a,

daught er of Rev. Ruben Wi ght
Jane Carson,

daughter of James Stewart
El enor and Cat herine ElI ot,

daught ers of Janes Manary
John and El enor,

children of Francis Waddl e
Emly Ann,

daughter of James McGath
Cat heri ne and Perry,

children of James Buck

February 7, 1818

Janmes Di ckey,

son of Rev. WIIliam D ckey
Joseph Parrett,

son of Hugh and Sally MCandl ess

August 17, 1818

El oner, WIlliamHam Iton and Polly G bson,
children of Janes Patterson

Eli za, Nancy, John, David Dawson, Mary Ellen, Anelia, and
Li di a,
children of Anmelia Webster

Henry,
son of Jacob Cayl or
Mary Ann,
daughter of Elizabeth Bl acknore
| sabel | a,
daughter of Janes Blair
Newt on,
son of Thomas Bl air
Janes,
son of Sanuel Waddl e 28



About this time Reverend WIIliam Di ckey came for four
years and after his pastorate there are no records until 1834.
The Di ckeys deserve an article by thensel ves, but since they
were much nore associated with the Bl oom ngburg Presbyterian
Church, we feel they should be studied in connection with that
congregation. In 1834 Reverend John C. Eastman cane for five
years, and foll ow ng hi mwas another period of irregular
pastorates and no definitely assigned mnisters. In 1849
Reverend Janes Hopkins cane to try to breathe life into the
little congregation, and he was followed by the fifteen-year
pastorate of Reverend Sarmuel MIller. There is a tradition that
in the 1829-34 period the Bl oom ngburg and Washi ngt on
congregations returned to a sharing of the mnister, but we
can find no proof of this.

During Reverend Mller's tine a good deal of dissension
arose in the congregation. The session mnutes disclose that
one famly, who evidently felt little regard for the m nister
were called before the session for unseemy conduct. The
testi nony devel oped that the father, nother and grown son were
accustoned either to wal k out or put their hands over their
ears when M. MIller arose to pray. During a union service at
the Methodi st Church this occurred, and it was at this point
that the session intervened. The north nmenorial w ndow is
dedi cated to Reverend Ml er

This was the period during which the second church was
erected. The first church, of wood, had been built in the late
1830s, and it had becone outnoded and i nadequate to neet the
needs. M. and Ms. Joseph MLean sold the congregation in two
different transactions, the whole of the ot they owned which
cornered at the intersection of Market and H nde and had its
wi dest dinension along H nde Street. Some years |later M. Joe
Wl son sold thema small tract adjoining the church |lot, and
this constitutes the present tract. The differences over the
buil di ng of the new church and other matters becane so strong
that M. and Ms. MlLean, with a good many others, left the
church to join the G ace Methodi st Church. The little group
who were | eft behind kept on trying to hold together and
managed to do so.

Wth the coming of Reverend George Carpenter and famly
in 1867 things began to inprove. The Carpenters acconplished
much during their stay, and the nenbership rolls increased
confortably during the seventeen years. Ms. Carpenter was
asked personally to direct several of the things to be built
in the new manse, and one of the things she got done was the
building of closets in the home, a fairly unusual thing for
those days. They were the first famly to occupy the manse in
the early 1870's. The structure continued to serve for over 75
years as the honme of pastors. After use as a church house for
anot her dozen years, it was razed in 1961
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Rever end Samuel Al derson canme next and was here eight
years, being followed by the Reverend J. L. McNair, of whom
nore bel ow. Reverend David H Jones cane after Reverend McNair
and then Reverend Wlliam|. Canpbell

In 1913 the Reverend WIIiam Boynton Gage cane to the
pul pit. He accepted this church's pastorate, anong several
of fered him because he was a grandson of Reverend WIIiam
Gage, for many years the pastor of Pisgah and Concord
Presbyterian Churches in Ross County. The el der Reverend Gage
had several tinmes filled our pulpit when we had no regularly
assigned mnister. The younger M. Gage served as a chaplain
during World War 1, and during his absence the | ate Reverend
J. L. MWIlians of Melvin filled the pastorate.

Since M. Gage, the pastors have been the Reverend Arch
Ni chol son, 1921-26; the Reverend J. Stanley Mtchell, 1926-36;
The Reverend J. Roby O dham 1936-42; Reverend John K
Abernet hy, 1943-50; the Rev. Harold J. Braden, 1950-56.
Reverend W Neil Hand, the present pastor, has served since
1956.

The original nenbers of the session, or elders, were
WlliamBlair, Janes O ark, Samuel Waddle, Col. Janes Stewart,
and Ananias Allen. The |last naned was a Revol utionary sol di er
and lived on the old Stewart farmjust north of Bl oom ngburg.
He sold it to the Stewarts before he noved to Madi son County
many years ago. In the old barn on the farmwere held sonme of
the earliest Presbyterian Church services in the county.

In 1817 the Washington Church el ected three session
menbers, Thomas M Garraugh, Henry Snider, and Robert Robi nson,
which | eads us to believe that the three nen they repl aced
were of the Bl oom ngburg congregation.

In 1835, when reorgani zation took place, Robert Robinson
was the only elder retained, and with James Pol | ack, John
W son, Isaac Tenplin, and Joseph Ml ean becane the new
session. In those days nmenbership on the session was for life
or until the nenber resigned. This explains the |ong tenure of
some of the nmenbers and why they died in office. O her nanes
of session nenbers of |ater dates have included the foll ow ng:
Tayl or, Bryan, Parrett, Van Deman, Deval on, Ustick, Fullerton,
Rot hr ock, Edwards, Pinkerton, Pavey, Hopkins, and many ot hers.

No one has yet found where the earliest neetings were
held in the hones of various nenbers of the church. Rent was
paid for the use of sonme building as early as 1835, but the
use i s not explained. Sonetine after this date a wooden church
was erected, probably on the present site, but as we have
seen, the title to the ground was not acquired until 1848. The
erection of the wooden church nust have been costly, for it
was a good ei ghteen nonths before a belfry could be built.

In 1856 after the congregati on had bought the present
site, the first brick church was erected. It stood nearer the
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corner of Market and H nde and was not quite as large a church
as the present structure. In the fanmous cycl one of 1885, which
wr ought so nuch damage and devastati on throughout the
community, the brick church was damaged a good deal. In 1890
the present brick church was finished and dedicated and is
substantially as it was when first built. The new Hi nde Street
bui | di ng was dedi cated June 10, 1962.

Church financing is an old problem How it was nmet about
1835 is worth telling. In the first session book preserved for
us is a statenent as follows: "W, the undersigned, prom se
and hereby bind ourselves to pay the several suns annexed to
our names annually to the Reverend John C. Eastman for his
| abors as a gospel minister so long as he shall remain the
pastor of the Presbyterian Church of Washi ngton, Fayette
County, Chio."

The nanes signed were these: T. MGarraugh, Robert
Robi nson, Janmes N. Wl son, Mtthias Van Deman, John Jackson,
Ms. Elizabeth Waddl e, Samuel Ham |ton, Norman F. Jones, Jesse
L. MIlikan, Samuel Lydy, Noah Evans, James B. Wbster,

Wl liam H Boggs, Evans and Bates, Menbrance Blue, WIIliam
HIl, F. M Pel d N cholas Hay, Sanmuel A. Snyth, John Sanders,
David McLean, Daniel MlLean, Robert Cissna, Joseph MLean,
W1l liam Stockdal e, Samuel M I1ikan, Peter Wendel, Adam Beard,
Samuel F. Kerr, John Wbster, Robert R Lindsey, Ellis B.

St ockdal e, Sanuel F. Yeoman, J. M Burnett, J. Blacknore, Z
W Heagl er, Joel S. Bereman, |saac Tenplin, John WIson, Jr.,
John Wlson, Sr., Zachariah W Baughn, WIIliam Fl esher, Lew s
F. Wlson, John Parrott, WIIliam Hynes, Henry Hynes, Jesse
Gum Joseph Wendl e, Jacob Dunkl e, John Harper, Jacob Gum
George d aze, Sen., Jacob d aze, Ceorge G aze, Jun., Eliza H
Smth, Elias Parrett, CGeorge Parrett, Adam Fl esher, Elizabeth
Arnmstrong, John Arnstrong, Philip Waver, WIIliam H dy, John
Pol I ock, John Or, Sanuel Or, John Or, Jr., George Boyd,

Vi ncent Lanum John Baird, WIlliamlrw n, Jacob Cayl or,

Davi dson Pitzer, CGeorge W Easterbrook, Janes Vance, WIIliam
Jenki ns, and Jacob Jam son. These peopl e gave suns ranging
from50c to $15, and totaling $180.50. There is no date but it
must have been about 1835 or 1836.

An early conplete nenbership list is dated Novenmber 18,
1834, and shows but twenty-six nanes: John WIlson, Sr., Hannah
Wl son, John Wl son, Jr., Thomas MGarraugh, Robert Robi nson,
El i zabeth Waddl e, Ms. Anelia Whbster, Ms. Betsey Snider,
Ms. Anna Boyd, Sanmuel F. Kerr, Matthias Van Deman, Margar et
Van Deman, Ellis B. Stockdal e, Janes Pol |l ack, |saac Tenplin,
Lucy Ann Robi nson, Norman F. Jones, Mary Jones, James N.

Wl son, Maria WIson, Margaret MGarraugh, Joseph MLean,
Luci nda McLean, Martha Eastnman, Rachel O r, and El eanor
Ci ssna.
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O her entries show that before 1850 expenditures were
made for conmunion wine, 2 at 37 1/2c; candies, 25c; "sweeping
t he house,” 6 1/2c; a broom 25c; domestic m ssions, $5; for
education of the Negroes in Brown County, $5, and 40c for a
spit box. About the tinme of the Cvil War coal oil was used in
the lanps at 75c a gallon and stove coal at a cost of 20
bushel s for $3.50 heated the building. At one tine the
finances of the church did not permt the purchase of a
heati ng stove so one of the elders let themhave it on tine.
The final payment is recorded, and one can inmagine the
satisfaction, which attended the entry, "final paynent on
heating stove paid this day."

Mention of the wine brings to mnd one of the mnister's
wife, Ms. George Carpenter. Besides helping with the planning
of the manse, she was one of the vigorous canpaigners in the
Wnen' s Tenperance Crusade here. The first neeting of the now
hi storic campaign was held in the old brick Presbyterian
Church while her husband was pastor. In later life, at the
request of many people, she conpiled a very fine history of
the Crusade at Washi ngton Court House, and nany hones here
contain a copy. Ms. G M Ustick was another of our |adies
who was in the front ranks in the Crusade. After the Crusade
the session voted to use only unfernmented grape juice for
comuni on purposes. In one of the earliest record books of the
church, the session of that day had gone on record as making
it a condition of nmenbership in this congregation that the
prospective nmenber will totally abstain from spirituous drink
except for nedicinal purposes.

Ladi es' organi zations in the church don't appear until
after the Gvil War, although we can find little evidence one-
way or the other. We do find a record book of the Wnen's
M ssionary Society beginning in 1888, which calls itself the
fourth year. It can easily be seen that while the attendance
rarely got above 20, the anpunt of work and fund raising was
far out of proportion to the nunber.

As a good exanpl e of what the |adies of that day could
do, we would like to cite 1894. In that year they held a Fair
at the A d Opera House for three days and nights. In the
eveni ng a pageant, called "The Seven Ages of Men," was
presented. There were many boot hs, and the handwork that was
shown and sol d nust have been very fine. The decorations of
t he booths were el aborate and carefully planned. One |ady was
instructed to obtain 24 silver cups at 34c each to sell at the
Fair. The financial report showed a profit of over $500. In
the sanme year the Society sponsored a violin concert, which
netted them over $100. \Wen the pastor told them of a debt of
$300, it is not surprising that the |adies could vote at once
all he asked for, nor was he unaware of their abilities to
rai se nmoney for the church. They didn't have to plan ahead to
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raise it; they already had it.

The early lists of baptisns and adm ssions of adult
menbers show that a nunber of the Dutch Reforned Presbyterian
Church lived within the bounds of our church. They brought the
children to be baptized and the church affiliation is noted in
each case. The Germani c nanmes don't appear in nunbers unti
after the Civil War, and before that the Scotch-1Irish and
Engl i sh nanes predom nate.

The Sunday school's begi nnings are rather vague. W can
find the first nmention in 1850 when expenditure for books was
made, but nothing after that. W presune that there were
Sunday school activities, but it seens likely that the records
were kept el sewhere. Today the Sunday church school enrolls
375 children, youth, and adults.

M ssions have been a Presbyterian standby since our
begi nnings. In 1835 we find regular suns allotted for m ssions
and receipts given by the Presbytery. One early year finds the
session resolving to send a petition to the Presbytery for
noney for our church, which was, then in a very precarious
financial condition. The request never had to be repeat ed.

One of our national mssions projects had its beginning
in this conmmunity al nbst seventy years ago. It began as the
East End Chapel and is now McNair Menorial Presbyterian
Church. Wiile it had its status as a M ssion of First Church,
the First Church session regularly assigned a nmenber of its
group to |l ead the Sunday services and another to |l ead the
m dweek services. Reverend McNair, a pastor of First Church,
was very much interested in this mssion and spent nuch tine
inthe work there. So it was but natural that the M ssion
shoul d take his nanme when Presbytery recognized it as a
separate congregation in 1915. The MNair Church continues to
serve the community, sharing a pastor w th Bl oom ngburg.

Wil e prior mention has been made of the church
facilities, some additional facts should be noted. Follow ng
the construction of the sanctuary edifice (1885-1890) at a
cost of $19, 000, no renpdeling or enlargenment of facilities
was undertaken until during the mnistry of the Reverend John
Aber net hy (1943-49). The sanctuary was extensively redecorated
and new lighting installed, and a chapel was dedicated in
menory of those who died in service during World War 11. (The
furni shings are included in the present "Waysi de Chapel .") The
church having received the former G W Bl akel ey hone at 220
North Hinde Street to be used only as a nanse under the terns
of the bequest, the church nanse was converted to other use.
The five roonms on the first floor were used for church school
cl asses on Sunday and as a church office and for numerous
meetings during the week. The second fl oor becane an apart nment
for the custodian.
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In 1934 the church received a 130-acre farmfromthe wll
of Mss Mary Edwards. The proceeds fromthe farmare used for
t he upkeep of the manse.

Wil e the Reverend Harold J. Braden served as pastor
(1950-56), extensive renodeling of the church basenent took
pl ace together with the sandbl asting of the exterior
brickwork. Approximately $15, 000 was expended. |In 1956 new
carpet was laid in the sanctuary at a cost of $5, 000.

The increased enrollnent of children in the church schoo
in the md 1950's presented the church with a space probl em
At the annual congregational neeting in 1958, a commttee was
el ected to study the spatial needs. Under the chairmanship of
M. L. M Hayes, the commttee carefully considered a nunber
of possibilities, and in the fall of 1958 recomended that a
new buil di ng be constructed on Hi nde Street adjacent to the
sanctuary building. The church house would have to be razed.
By a 92 per cent favorable vote the congregati on approved the
pl an, and a general building committee of nineteen nenbers was
el ected and enmpowered to devel op a plan of financing, enploy
an architect, and prepare a prelimnary set of plans for an
addi ti on.

Under the chairmanship of M. Rollo M Marchant, this
conmittee, working through several sub-conmittees, |abored
diligently. In May of 1959 a nost successful financia
canpaign, directed by M. Don Hull of H P. Demand and
Associ ates, resulted in pledges of $130,000. Lagedrost &
Walter, A I.A , of Dayton, drew up plans. Follow ng nunmerous
revisions in the plans and the decision of the congregation to
make avail able the BancOnhi o stock given by Dr. Carey Persinger
in 1951 for the building fund, contracts were let in March,
1961, for the construction of the new building. M. Wl do
Bowman supervi sed the construction of the building for the Don
Ki ng Construction Conpany of Jackson, Chio. Associated
Pl unbers and Heaters and Snyder Electric of Washington C. H
were the other contractors. The buil ding of al nost 15,000
square feet of space on three |levels contains Persinger Hal
(a large fellowship roomw th stage and kitchen), a chapel, a
parlor-library, pastor's study, offices, rest roons, and
twel ve classroons. Total cost of the structure and equi prnent
total ed approxi mately $245, 000. Approxi mately one-half the
cost was net fromthe sale of the BancCOhi o stock, which had
appreciated froma val ue of $20,000 in 1951. The remai nder
represented the gifts of 350 persons or family groups. Nanes
of donors are recorded in the nenorial book upon the
repository in the foyer. The church has no indebtedness.

In this year of 1963 as the First Presbyterian Church of
Washi ngton Court House closes out 150 years of mnistry in
Fayette County, we pause, |looking in retrospect to what has
happened during the last century and a half. As we have not ed,
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t he congregation has had its "ups and downs." Because somne

m nisters and sessions were less inclined to the keepi ng of

records than others, we have nmany gaps in what should be a

continuous record. But so that those who may | ook back upon
the status of the church at the tine of its sesqui centenni al
observance, we will cite some facts and figures about First

Church today.

CHURCH MEMBERSHI P

Age Groupi ngs Mal e Femal e Tot al
Ages 13-21 years 35 28 63
Ages 21-35 years 56 71 127
Ages 36-50 years 65 67 132
Ages 51-55 years 69 107 176
Aged over 65 years 28 75 103
Total s 253 348 601
Marital Status Mal e Femal e Tot al
Si ngl e 53 61 114
Marri ed to anot her menber 160 160 320
Married to a non-nenber 29 58 87
W dowed or divorced 11 69 80
Total s 253 348 601
Cl assification of Enploynent

Pr of essi onal and Techni cal 60

Proprietors and Manageri al 47

Clerical 62

Sal es 32

Craftsnmen and For enen 26

Skill ed Operatives 18

Service 12

Far mers 11

Armed Forces 5

Laborers 3

Tot al 276

In addition the nmenbership includes students, retired
persons and honermakers in considerabl e nunbers.

As is true with any church, many are a part of the
mnistry and fell owship although they are not nunbered anong

t he communi cant nenbership. There are over 200 children under

the age of 13 who attend church school and/or participate in
ot her church activities. Approxi mtely 100 ol der persons are
affiliated wwth the church in one way or another. Thus the
church serves a constituency of approximately 900 persons.

For 1963 the total church budget exclusive of the Wnen'

S

Associ ati on and the Church School is $35,800. O this, $8, 650
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is designated for General M ssions (benevol ences) and the
remai nder is for the Local Church

The First Church is one of the churches of the Col unbus
Presbytery of the United Presbyterian Church in the United
States of Anerica, which was fornmed in 1958 by the nerger of
the former Presbyterian Church in the U S. A (which was the
denom nation of this church), and the former United
Presbyterian Church of North America. The First Church has
cooperated fully with the Presbyterian system of governnent
and has al ways espoused the theol ogy of the Westm nster
standards. Being selected to serve as noderator of the
Presbytery has honored two recent pastors. Reverend John K
Abernethy was noderator in 1947 and Reverend W Neil Hand in
1961. Three nmen who have been fornmer nenbers of the
congregation serve as Presbyterian pastors. Reverend John
Parrett is pastor of the Harris Menorial Church in Ashtabul a,
Ohi 0; Reverend Ceorge Cenentson is pastor of the
Jeffersonville Presbyterian Church in Indiana; and Reverend
Leo McDaniel is associate pastor of the Brentwood
Presbyterial) Church of Los Angeles, California.

For sixteen years nenbers and affiliates of the church
have been inforned of the prograns and activities of the
church by the DEACON BEACON, which is edited and produced by
M. Perse Harlow, who also serves as Financial Secretary and
Treasurer of the church

PASTORS OF THE FI RST PRESBYTERI AN CHURCH

Sanuel Bal dri dge 1813- 1815
James Di ckey 1815- 1817
W |iam D ckey 1819- 1823
Records m ssing from 1823- 1835
John C. Eastman 1835- 1840
Janes Dunlap and Ot hers 1840- 1849
James G Hopki ns 1849- 1850
Sarruel J. Ml ler 1851- 1866
Ceorge Carpenter 1867- 1884
Sanuel B. Al derson 1884- 1892
Janmes L. McNair 1892- 1905
David H. Jones 1905- 1910
Williaml. Campbell 1910- 1913
W1 liam Boynton Gage 1913- 1920
J. L. MWIIians,
St at ed Supply 1918- 1919
(Reverend Gage in France)
Arch H. N chol son 1921- 1926
J. Stanly Mtchell 1926- 1936
J. Roby d dham 1936- 1942
John Knox Aber net hy 1943- 1949
Harold J. Braden 1950- 1956
W Neil Hand 1956
*Deceased
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ELDERS OF THE FI RST PRESBYTERI AN CHURCH WHO HAVE SERVED SI NCE

1888

*WIlliam A, Ustick
*C. M WIson
*George M Ustick
*Frank M Fullerton
*J. C. Van Denmman
*Joseph W Rot hrock
*Charles F. Wse
*Janmes M Edwar ds
*Thomas Pi nkerton
*J. P. Robinson
Joseph H. Shoenaker
*Ceorge M Pavey
*Austin F. Hopkins
"H. D. Chaffin
Frederick R Woll ard
*C. A Reid

*Carey Persinger
*Sher man Reeder
Russel | G ebel house
Geor ge Robi nson, Jr.
*George Jackson
*Eugene N. Hol | oway
Ms. Howard Perrill
*Charl es P. Jam son
*Harry Reese

Ms. 1. L. Punphrey
*Harry E. Sprenger
*O. D. Arnstrong
Fred D. Wollard
*John W W son

*El ders who are not
chur ch.

l'iving and/ or

Jess E. Magly
Arthur H Finley
*E. W Detrick
*Dwi ght Sunmrer s
W O Beatty
Trox Farrell

*R. Omen Harrison
*Harry Lawson

*H. O. Nol and
*Wal ter Patton
*John Urquhart
*Sanmuel A, Dewey
Wlliam C. Allen
*J. W Henceroth
*A. B. Murray

C. L. Musser
Joseph Hamm

*E. F. Hodson
*J. W Yates
Charles V. Sexton
M G ove Davis
Herbert M Cickner
*Art hur Lel and

Cl ark Pensyl
Kenneth Craig
Walter Rettig
*Paul Van Voorhis
*Anbrose Elliott
Robert E. Bi shop
Carroll Halliday

THE ORGANI ZATI ON OF THE CHURCH - 1963

THE SESSI ON

not still

O D. Farquhar
George Finley
Edward E. Porter
Charl es A. Reinke
Leo B. Edwards
WlliamF. Lord

*E. Wayne Titus
*James F. Parki son
*Wlliam A Smith
Donald E. Wod
John Steele
Charles W Mistine
J. H. Persinger
*J., T. Tuttle
John Bailey, Jr.
Duane Baker

Ms. P. M Cook
*Al bert J. Wal ker
*Q. K. Probasco
John Wlie

Charles A. \Wall ace
*John M Hicks
Jesse Persinger

J. Rankin Paul
*Frank M Rot hr ock
Robert A. Heiny
Dwi ght B. Irel and
Paul Crosby

A Jerry Grundi es

menbers of this

Rev. W Neil Hand - Mbderator

Cl ass of 1964 Cl ass of 1965 Cl ass of 1966
Wlliam C. Allen Kenneth Craig Paul Crosby

J. Rankin Paul Dr. Robert Heiny J. H. Shoemaker
Ms. |I. L. Punphrey Dr. Dwi ght Ireland, Cl erk

THE BOARD OF DEACONS

Larry D. Bishop
El mer Castl e, Pres.
WIlliam L. Gordon

Russel | Spaul di ng
Har ol d Thomas
Harry Townsend

Robert A. Baney, Sec.
Eugene Ladrach
Lee B. Lynch, Jr.
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THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

M Grove Davis Kennet h A. Bush Charles W Ellis
Paul Penni ngton Her bert Clickner, Pres. C. H Morrison
Dr. Byers W Shaw WIlliamA. Ribble Philip M Morrow

Perse E. Harl ow - Secretary-Treasurer of the Corporation
THE WOMEN' S ASSOCI ATI ON

President: Ms. Herbert M Clickner
Vice President: Ms. P. M Cook
Secretary: M ss Marie Marchant

Assi stant Secretary: Ms. D. K Adans
Treasurer: M ss Kathleen Stookey
Program Chairman: Ms. W C. Allen
Circle Leaders

Mary Circles
#1-Ms. Peter Sneltzer #4-Ms. P. M Cook

#2-Ms. C. H Morrison #5-Ms. Lee B. Lynch, Jr.
#3-Ms. Charles S. Hire

Martha Circle-Ms. Richard Rankin

Mary Circle-Ms. |. L. Punphrey

THE SUNDAY CHURCH SCHOOL

Co- Superintendents: M. and Ms. Ellis Mller
Associ ate Superintendent: M. Maurice Stone
Secretary- Treasurer: Ms. Janes W/ son

THE STAFF

Pastor: Rev. W Neil Hand

Organi st and Chapel Choir Director: Ms. John P. Case
Secretary: Ms. Don E. Wod

Treasurer and Financial Secretary: Perse E. Harl ow
Chancel Choir Director: Ms. Russell Spaul ding
Custodian: J. Russell Dilley

SESQUI CENTENNI AL COMM TTEES
O. D. Farquhar, General Chairman

Publicity:J. Rankin Paul
Hi story: George Robinson, Chairmn

Mi ss Edna Hamm

Jess E. Magly

M ss Grace McHenry
Di splay: Ms. Richard Rankin
Special Music: Ms. Mss Kathleen Davis
Ways and Means: O. D. Farquhar
Hospitality: Ms. C. S. Kelley, Chairman
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Ms. Arthur Finley
Dr. J. H Persinger

Dr. F. D. Wollard

| MPORTANT HI STORI CAL FACTS

1812

1813- Cctober 10

1818-April 8

1835

1836- March 14

1839- March 16

1856

1874- Decenber 25
1885- Sept enber 8
1890-June 8
1894- Cct ober 7

1915- Cct ober 19

1934

1947

Petition to Presbytery to organize a
congregati on at WaAshi ngton.

The church was organi zed.

The Bl oom ngburg congregati on separat ed
from Washi ngt on, organi zed as a separate
chur ch.

First edifice erected.

I ncorporated by a special act of the

Legi sl ature.

Act of incorporation amended by the
Legi sl at ure.

Second edifice erected.

Wonen' s Tenperance Crusade organi zed in the
chur ch.

Edi fi ce damaged by cycl one.

Third edifice dedi cat ed.

East End Chapel dedi cat ed.

East End Chapel separated and organi zed as
the McNair Menorial Presbyterian Church
with the transfer of 100 menbers.

Mary Edwards farmrecei ved by bequest.

Former G W Bl akel ey hone received to be
used as a manse.

For mer nmanse converted for use as a church
house.

Bl akel ey Fund for a new sanctuary received.
To be invested in bonds until sufficient.
In 1963 anounts to $70, 000.
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1951

1955

1958

1959

1961

1962- June 10

1963- Cct ober

6- 13

G ft of $20,000 of BancChio stock by Dr.
Carey Persinger.

Renodel i ng of basenent and sandbl asti ng of

exterior.

Congregation votes to build a Christian
Educati on Addition.

Bui | di ng Fund Canpai gn.

Church house razed. Construction of
bui | di ng begi ns.

New H nde Street buil di ng dedi cat ed.

Sesqui cent enni al Cel ebrati on.

Through the battle, through defeat, noving yet and never
st oppi ng. Pioneers! O Pioneers! -Walt Witnman

Thi s bookl et

is dedicated to the nenory of those who kept the
faith alive in this church and this conmunity. Let us be
grateful for themand for the future
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Good Hope Met hodi st Church

The Good Hope Met hodi st Church situated in this Wayne
Township village can trace its history back to a short tine
before the outbreak of the Gvil War.

It seens that in the year, 1856, the Paint Creek Circuit
was divided into three parts -- Washington, Jeffersonville and
Staunton circuits. Two years following this division, the Good
Hope M ssion of Methodi st Epi scopal denom nation was formed to
be controlled by the Presiding Elder, Joseph Trinble, at the
request of the Quarterly Conference of Staunton Circuit.
Besides the little Mssion, there were on the Staunton Circuit
the foll owi ng: Rowe's Chapel, M. Carnel, Buena Vista,
Cochran's, Martinsburg, Sugar Grove and Staunton.

Servi ces were conducted in the school house of district
No. 2 until 1858-9, when through the efforts of Capt. John
Parrett a church was proposed at the Fourth Quarterly
Conference of the Staunton Circuit of 1858. Capt. Parrett, a
menber of the Presbyterian Church at Pisgah, but who |ived
near Good Hope, was very anxious to see a Methodi st Society
established in Good Hope. At the Conference he proposed to
erect and conplete, ready for service and of sufficient size,
a substantial brick building. However he nade this provision
that he would do this if Staunton Circuit would raise the sum
of $500. 00, not enbracing any part of the m ssion work, for
said enterprise. He also stipulated that they [ et himhave the
m ssion work for the remai nder of cost. The proposition as
presented was accepted, the noney raised, the house conpleted
and the menbership i ncreased.

When first starting as a mission there were 7 nenbers
with Rev. J. W Steel having charge of the small flock. In
1858 Revs. WIlliamH Mdintock and H H Mller were called
to the pastorate.

Dedi cation for the newy conpleted church was held on
Septenber 9, 1859 with J. M Trinble in charge. By 1860 the
menbership had grown to thirty-five. In 1861 Rev. N. Wsternman
was the mnister in charge serving until 1862 when Revs.

Adi son Nichols and W E. Spahr were ministers in charge. Their
successor was Rev. T. G Ross who was assisted during his two
years by a Rev. Lakin and a Rev. Warton. In 1866 Rev. A M

Al exander served for several years, the pastorate finally
bei ng assigned to Rev. David Smth and Rev. Ancil Brooks in
1869. Fromthe period 1870 to 1873 services were conducted by
Revs. Thomas H. Hall, Hugh Boyd, MV.B. Euans, H Phillips and
George W Mirry.

It was in 1873 that a resolution was subm tted demandi ng
the division of Staunton G rcuit but the issue failed. Feeling
t he urgent need for the division, Rev. King, who was presiding
el der at the tine, informed the presiding Bishop of the
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situation despite the action of the quarterly conference, so
measures were taken and finally on Cctober 18, 1873, the Good
Hope Circuit cane into being.

As history records, there was a debt of $400.00 on the
parsonage at that tine and the four churches -- Good Hope,
Cochran, New Martinsburg and Sugar G ove -- were badly in need
of repair. Wth fearful apprehensions, conclusions were
reached slowy. Through careful checking it was found that in
order to pay the salary of the mnister, debt on the
parsonage, repairs to the churches, there would be required at
| east $3,000.00 froma nmenbership of 220. However before the
close of the first year, spiritual enthusiasmnounted to such
a great extent that the nenbership increased by |eaps and
bounds. Al so, the parsonage debt was paid, the churches
repaired and the mnister pronptly paid. In 1875 the
menber ship had taken a junp from 220 to 400. Al this activity
was under the inspirational guidance of Rev. Zachariah Fagan,
who served as pastor from 1873 to 1876. Rev. J. W Wkefield
succeeded him serving the parish until 1878 when Rev. L. C
Br ooks was appoi nt ed.

Imedi ately after the arrival of Rev. Brooks, there was a
novenent started agitating the construction of a new buil di ng.
Due to the financial crisis through which they were passing,
the people failed to support the idea at that tine. However,
during the spring of 1880, still during the pastorate of Rev.
Brooks, a neeting was called and the congregation decided to
begin the erection of the proposed structure. A plan was
secured and in the fall of the same year the groundwork was
started. The buil ding reached conpletion the summer of 1881
and a dedication was held with fitting cerenonies.

The building is in a shape simlar to a Roman Cross. Its
di mensions are as follows: Across the w ngs, sixty feet; from
front to rear, seventy feet; containing in all 2,850 sq. ft.
of flooring. The tower is sixty-seven feet high, with
thirty-eight feet of it brick.

Records of 1920 for the Crcuit of which Good Hope is a
part gave the follow ng informtion:

Menmber ship For M nisterial Support

Good Hope 200 726.62
Sugar G ove 143 533. 14
N. Martinsburg 100 248. 80
Cochran 48  266.56
Tot al 491 1777.12

and val uation of church property including parsonage property
$45, 000 and each of the churches beautified in the interior
and in good condition.
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Serving the church fromthe tinme of Rev. Brooks have been the
foll owi ng pastors, here listed according to years:

1881 - A R Mller; 1884 - A B. Sniff; 1887 - W F. Harvey;
1888- M W Acton; 1891 - Ceorge Cherrington; 1894 - Ral ph
Wat son; 1896- B. E. Thonmas; 1902 - R C. Ondorf; 1906 - C. A
Hughes; 1910 - George Creaner; 1914 - C. L. Pfal zgraf; 1918 -
W A Wiitner; 1920 -D. E. Moffet; 1924 - Supply Preachers;
1925 - Vernon lckes; 1926 - C. A Morrison; 1929 - Neal H
Pet erson; 1936 - Robert S. Meyer; 1940 - Forest M Moon; 194-
- @y E. Tucker; 1949 - E. Eugene Frazer. Wen appoi ntnents
were made at the Conference in 1955, Rev. Frazer |eft Good
Hope for a pastorate in Col unbus, Ohio.

(Information fromDills H story Fayette Co., & fromfacts as
conpi | ed by Rev. Eugene Frazer)
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The Sesqui-Centennial History
O Gace Methodist Church 1817- 1967
Washi ngton Court House, Chio
By B. E. KELLEY

In retrospect, we note that G ace Methodi st Church was
established in 1817, or 150 years ago, in the little village
of Washi ngt on, now Washi ngt on Court House, when dense forests
surrounded the town, and a few Indians were still in the
comuni ty.

This year, 1967, Grace Church is celebrating the
sesqui -centenni al of her birth, as well as the 100th
anni versary of the church on the site of the present edifice,
whi ch site long since has been hall owed ground to our menbers.

The brave pioneers who canme into the vast w | derness
whi ch is now Fayette County, brought the word of God with
them and in their abiding faith felt that God again woul d
| ead H s people out of the wilderness and into "the | and of
m | k and honey."

The nore deeply religious arrivals in the New Wrld | ost
little time in taking steps for holding religious services in
the woods and in the honmes, formng cl asses and establishing
chur ches.

The first Methodi st Society was established in the hone
of Joel Wbods, in Paint Township, in 1813, and the first
church was a | og structure, known as Cherry Hill Meeting
House. It was |ocated on the west side of what i s now Chio 38,
a mle south of Yatesville, and due west of the Vesey
Cenetery.

It was around 1811 that the first Methodi st Quarterly
Meeting in the county was held in the hone of Joel Wods, 12
mles north of the county seat. Sol onon Langdon was the
presiding Elder, Ral ph Lotspeich was the pastor in charge, and
Joseph Hai ns was juni or preacher

In 1813 Jesse Rowe emgrated fromVirginia to Fayette
County with a permt to preach. That year he held a series of
nmeeti ngs near where the Sugar Grove Methodi st Church now
stands. The result of this neeting was the formation of a
class, of which he was the | eader. The nenbers of the class
were: Jesse Rowe, Jane Rowe, Patsy Rowe, Lucinda Priddy and
John Ki ng.

About this tinme the first Methodi st class was forned in
Washington C. H, and in the year 1814 Judge J. B. Wbster
invited the Rev. Robert W Finley to preach here. The neetings
were held in the home of WilliamMIller, who |ived at the west
end of Market Street. Daniel Hollis was the first class | eader
and the neetings were held in the woods and in his house.
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The nmenbers of the class were: Phoebe Johnson, Mot her
Hanki ns, Tamar Scott, Mary Hopkins, Mary Popejoy, Mary
McDonal d, Susan Fl esher, Sanuel Loofborrow, Mary Loof borrow,
Rhoda Neely and Barbara Hubbard. Meetings were held in the
hones of the pioneers for many years.

During the sunmer of 1817 Thomas and Sol onon Carr, at the
resi dence of Thomas W/ son, organized the first Methodi st
Epi scopal Church in Washington C.H . Since that time until the
present a regul ar pastor has been in charge.

After the organization of the Society in 1817, services
were held part of the time in the first Court House, which was
destroyed by fire in 1828, and part of the tine at the hones
of menmbers. In 1826 a brick school house on Market Street,
east of Main Street, afterward part of the residence of
Richard MI1ikan, was conpl eted, and was occupi ed by the
Soci ety until 1834, when a brick church was erected on the
north corner of Main and Market Streets. Its walls were
consi dered unsafe and the building was never conpleted inside.
In three years it was abandoned. Fromthis tinme until 1845 the
Soci ety occupi ed the second Court House on the south corner of
the Court House | awn, and occasionally the Presbyterian
Chur ch.

In 1845 a small frame church was erected on the east
corner of the alley on the south side of East Market Street
bet ween Fayette and North Streets. This was used for services
until 1866, and when church services were di scontinued there,
t he buil ding was converted into a residence, being occupi ed by
WIlliamWller and E. Saul and | ater was used as a barn on the
Dr. George W Hodson property.

The year 1866 was the centenary year of Methodismin
America and the nenbers of the Methodi st Society resolved to
build a church that would be an ornanent to the town and an
honor to the Methodismit represented.

A | ot was purchased on the sout heast comer of Market and
North Streets and a brick building with tall spire was erected
at a cost of $14,000. It was first used in 1867. The buil ding
comm ttee consisted of Janmes Pursell, MIls Gardner, and
Andr ew Ham | t on.

In 1870, the first Parsonage was erected on East Market
Street and the first mnister to occupy it was the Rev. |. F.
Ki ng.

The first definite nmovenent toward buil ding the beautiful
stone church was made in April 1893, when it was necessary to
neet the needs of a rapidly increasing congregation. A year
later in April 1894, decision was nmade to build a new church
when sufficient financial strength was obtained. The work of
soliciting funds was |left to George Dahl and the Rev. Franklin
McEl fresh. After the willingness of the people had been shown
by their liberality in pledging about $19, 000, the buil ding
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committee visited lunbus, London, Piqua, Springfield,
M ddl et own and Cl eveland to obtain best plans for a nodern
church.

The Epworth Menorial Church in Ceveland net their choice
and they proceeded to follow the general plan. R S. Badgl ey
of O evel and was sel ected as the architect, and the contract
was | et on Septenber 26, 1894.

Work on the building, which cost approxi mately $75, 000,
was taken up under the direction of the pastor, the Rev.
Franklin MElfresh, and the building commttee consisted of
Morris Sharp, chairman; C.H Brownell, Treasurer; A R
Creaner, MIIls Gardner, and George Dahl.

The inposing stone structure was conpl eted and dedi catory
services were held on Sunday Decenber 8, 1895. The architect,
R S. Badgley, of Ceveland said: “It is the handsomest church
| ever built.”

At the norning service the new Sanctuary was filled. Mss
M nni e Light played the organ prelude and the choir sang
“doria” fromHayden’'s “Mass in C.” M ss Edith Gardner sang
a solo fromthe Oratorio of St. Paul.

The Rev. Thomas R Taylor of Chillicothe gave the Mrning
Prayer, while the scripture Professor W W Davies of Ohio
Wesl eyan University read | esson. The Rev. Charles H Payne of
New York City, formerly president of Ohio Wesleyan University,
preached t he sernon.

The treasurer of the building fund, C. H Brownell
reported that $22,000 woul d be needed in order to dedicate the
edifice free of debt. Subscriptions taken follow ng the
sernon by Dr. Payne, who was considered a great pulpit orator
and financier, totaled nore than the amount required.

In 1910 it was decided to build a new parsonage, which
should be nore in keeping with the church, and a nodern brick
structure was erected on the site of the old one at a cost of
$6, 500.

Fromthe time of building the stately stone edifice,
grace Methodi st Church had grown steadily in nmenbership and
spiritual life, as well as materially. Many inprovenments and
repairs were made during |later years.

The congregation rai sed $36, 000 under the | eadership of
Joseph Mark for the support of the great Centenary novenent in
1920. Later a new pipe organ was installed to replace the old
one. The new pi pe organ cost $5,000, contained 1,200 pi pes and
was regarded as the best of its kind.

At the tinme of the dedication of the organ Grace Church
choir with vestnents cane into being. Previously the choir had
worn no vestnents, and the choir then becane one of only three
vested choirs in Chio.

During the pastorate of Dr. George B. Parkin the entire
church was repaired, redecorated and refinished at a cost of
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about $15,000. Also under his mnistry the congregation raised
$3,500 for the retired preachers' pension fund and $5, 200 for
the Crusade for Christ novenent.

In 1947, just after the Rev. Allan W Cal ey was appoi nted
pastor, the Board of Trustees began to make plans for the
conmpl ete renodel i ng of the basenent area of the church. The
canpai gn to raise funds for the project was under the joint
| eadershi p of Robert Mnshall and Ms. Arch 0. Riber. The
total anmount raised was nearly $30, 000.

To this amount was added $11, 541 of savings and $1, 451
rai sed for equi pnent. The chairman of the Basenent | nprovement
Committee was Wllard F. WIlson, who carried through the
difficult project wwth marked skill and great care for every
detail. M. WIson gave practically all of his time to the
project, fromearly July 1949, to Dedication Day, January 22,
1950. The people pronptly paid the subscriptions and al
bills cared for as they canme due.

The Basenent |nprovenent Conmittee included Ral ph R
Penn, Ray Brandenburg, WIliamA. Lovell, Norris Highfield,
Robert Terhune, E. Elroy Wite, Wllard F. Wlson, Wnston W
Hll, and G enn H Wodmansee. The project, including repairs
on the exterior of the building, the rebuilding of the heating
system and the Basenent |nprovenment plans, cost a little over
$44,000 and was dedi cated free of debt.

In line with the 1952-53 inprovenent program of G ace
Met hodi st Church, the parsonage was conpl etely redecorated and
the kitchen renpdeled with all nodern appliances installed.
The ampunt raised for this project was $9, 000.

In 1953, Grace Methodi st Church had a nenbership of
approxi mately 1550 and a Sunday school enrollnent of 840. The
spirit of the congregation was high, as they | ooked to the
future, having again provided roomand equi pnent sufficient to
serve this community for many years.

Grace Methodist Church is proud to have three of its sons
enter the Methodist mnistry during recent years -the Rev.
Warren J. Bungarner, son of M. and Ms. W 0. Bungarner; the
Rev. Fred M Mark, son of M. and Ms. F. M Mark; and the
Rev. Walter L. Hays.

Grace Church always has been a central neeting place for
various organi zations, and in former years H gh School
comrencenents, Baccal aureate services, and other schoo
activities were held in centrally | ocated Grace Church, as
wel | as public neetings generally.

For many years a strong and high class Lyceum Course was
held in the church, providing educational entertainment for
the public. The church sponsored it.
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HOST TO FOUR CONFERENCES

Four times during its existence Grace Methodi st Church
was host to the annual Chio Conference, the first tine being
in 1871 with Bishop Edmund S. Janes presiding; second in 1883
Wi th Bi shop Thomas Bowman in charge; the third in 1897 under
Bi shop Earl Cranston, and the last in 1914 with Bi shop W|I bur
P. Thirkield presiding.

During these conferences, two of which were held in the
old brick church erected 100 years ago this year, and two in
the beautiful stone church built in 1895, visiting mnisters
were entertained in the homes of nenbers of the church, and
everyt hing possible done to nake their stay here one to be
| ong renmenbered.

CHO RS AND ORGANI STS

Qut st andi ng anong the choir directors of G ace Methodi st
Church choirs in point of years of service, were Robert A
Robi nson and M ss Edith Gardner, the former being the director
for 50 years prior to Mss Gardner being naned to the
position. M. Robinson not only directed the choir, but was
known as a singing master and conducted singing schools for
many years. For 34 years he was cashier of the First National
Bank and Peopl es and Drovers Bank, which absorbed the First
National, and he is credited with introducing music in the
public schools of Washington C. H, and was the first nusica
di rector of the schools.

M ss Gardner becane choir |eader followng the retirenent
of M. Robinson, and held the position faithfully and with
marked ability until 1929, or upward of a half century.

Upon retirement of Mss Gardner, Ral ph LlIoyd was the
director until 1943, at which tinme Loren WIson was named
| eader and held the position until 1948. Then Wlliamdift
directed the choir until 1956, and Robert Neumann fol | owed
until 1960, when M's. Maurice Hopkins was chosen to the
position, and is still the very capable director

Mss Mnnie Light, organist, retired in 1934 after 54
years of devoted work in that position. Mss Mrian
Chri stopher was then naned and retired in 1958, being foll owed
by Ms. Marion Gage who is still the faithful organist.

For years Ms. B. E. Kelley was assistant organist and
for 54 years has always given freely of her many talents in
all phases of church work as well as being a devoted teacher
in the Sunday school

Down t hrough the years the Grace Church Choir has been
noteworthy, and a vital part of the church services.

Ms. Ethel W Caldwell, Director of Christian Education
of Grace Church since May 1954, has done a notable work in her
field and has endeared herself to all wi th whom she has cone
in contact. 48



MEN' S BI BLE CLASS

The Men's Bible Cass originally was known as the MIIs
Gardner Men's Bible Class: in nmenory of the early teacher of
t he cl ass.

At one time the class had approxi mtely 400 nmenbers back
in the 1920's when big Bible classes sprang up throughout
Ohi o, and when all nen of the church were nmenbers instead of
bei ng divided into nunmerous small classes. A notable event in
the history of the Grace Church class was when prograns were
exchanged between the class here and Mt hodi st Church of
Geenfield. Professor W W Davies, who married Ms. Mdeline
Sharp, at one tinme was teacher of the Cass, as well as
nunerous ot her men of ability.

TRAGEDY STRUCK GRACE CHURCH

The Grace Church Society was dealt a staggering bl ow,
whi ch brought sadness to every nenber and synpathy of the
entire community when stately old stone G ace Church was
destroyed by a spectacular fire early in the norning of
January 14, 1959. Starting froma new mal functioning $5, 000
furnace, the beautiful edifice was virtually consuned in one
hour, while 75 firenmen fromeight fire departnents battled the
bl aze and prevented spreading to nearby residences. The
parsonage, |ocated i nmedi ately east of the church, also was
hopel essly ruined, but fortunately the church roster, in a
steel cabinet in the parsonage was saved.

But "hope springs eternal in the human breast,” and the
entire congregation of approximately 1600, plunged into the
great task of raising funds and buil ding a new house of
wor ship of nuch greater capacity and sem -fireproof
constructi on.

The pastor, the Rev. L. J. Poe, and trustees naned a
Bui I ding Conmittee and i mrediately set to work toward a new
house of worship.

Due to overwork and superhuman efforts toward a new G ace
Church, the Rev. Poe suffered a heart attack and died in
Oct ober 1959, and anot her deep sadness was added to that of
| osi ng the church.

During the interval fromthe tine of Rev. Poe's death
until the Rev. G den Hughes assuned charge in January 1960,
the bel oved Rev. Perry E. Gim parish visitor, took active
charge of the mnistry of Gace Church and did nuch toward
wel di ng the big congregation together inits efforts toward
havi ng a new and | arger House of God.

Dr. Hughes, with the building commttee, headed by Colin
Canpbel |, and the board of trustees, prepared plans for the
new edi fice, which were adopted by the congregation in
January, 1960.
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The board of trustees was conposed of Colin Canpbell,
chai rman; Ednond Whodnansee, assistant chairman; Frank Dill,
Allen White, Leonard Korn, Robert Mnshall, WIIliam Junk,
Wayne Bower, and C. F. Lucas.

The Building Comm ttee was nade up of the board of
trustees.

The tireless work of the commttee brought results, and
the finished new Grace Church has been real evidence of their
not abl e achi evenent .

In the neantine, the Cty Board of Education granted use
of the Hi gh School Auditoriumfor services to be held until
t he new church was avail abl e, and various churches of the city
of fered use of their sanctuaries whenever needed by the G ace
Church Soci ety.

FUND RAI SI NG CAMPAI GN

Work of raising funds to build the new edifice was
carried forward by a large soliciting comrittee, and |ibera
response was nade by those solicited, so that within a few
weeks sufficient funds had been rai sed, when placed with sone
$300, 000 i nsurance carried on the old church, to warrant the
Building Committee to proceed with taking bids and letting
contracts for the present nodern edifice. B. M Marlin was
fund-rai sing chairnman

The Bel |l Tel ephone lot imediately south of the former
church site was purchased at a cost of $42,000 and
groundbr eaki ng cerenoni es for the present place of worship
were held on July 24, 1960.

It was approximately 16 nonths |ater that the first
services were held in the new and fifth church of the society,
Noverber 19, 1961.

On the first day services were held, the congregation net
as usual in the H gh School Auditorium and at the appointed
time the hundreds of nenbers, led by the mnister and vested
choirs, marched to their new place of worship, all singing
"Onward Christian Soldiers,” formng a spectacle not soon to
be forgotten.

G fts by a large nunber of nenbers totaled tens of
t housands of dollars for equipping the church, were a great
factor in having the church ready for the consecration
service, which was hel d Decenber 3, 1961, with Bi shop Hazen G
Werner delivering the sernon,

It was noted that the rule of the Methodist Church is
that a service of dedication cannot be held until a church is
free of debt on the building, but the church was being
consecrated for worship "with the expectancy that the
congregation of faithful people will nmake every sacrifice to
renove all encunbrance fromthe House of God." That
expectation was later fully realized.
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It was on Sunday, Novenber 28, 1965, a cerenonia
"nortgage burning” nmarked the end of the church indebtedness
and Grace Church the Fifth was formally dedi cated Sunday,
Decenber 5, 1965.

NOTABLE WORK OF WSCS

The Wonen's Society of Christian Service of Grace Church,
al ways an active organi zation, distinguished itself in raising
funds for the new church, and a total of $56,191 was rai sed
fromthe tinme the church burned January 14, 1959, until the
present. Hol di ng rummage sal es and bazaars, which anpunted to
$28, 632, raised nost of the funds. O this anount $20, 555 was
from rummage sal es and $8, 057 from bazaars.

The Soci ety of marvel ous wor kers contributed $40, 600 to
t he buil ding fund, which included some of the art gl ass
wi ndows, and $15,581 to the organ fund.

Thi s extraordinary record probably never has been
duplicated by any other church society in Chio, and the
faithful band of workers has been highly praised for their
remar kabl e achi evenent.

Presi dents of the WSCS when the foregoing record was
made, included Ms. Arthur Vetter, Ms. WIlliam Potter, Ms.
Bl anche Wl son, Ms. Harnon Welty, Dr. Bernice A O Briant,
M's. John E. Rhoads.

THE NEW GRACE METHODI ST CHURCH

Total cost of the new church, including |arge anounts in
gifts and paid for fixtures and furnishings, reached well
upward of $1, 000,000, is conplete in detail, and a joy to the
entire congregation.

Not only does Grace Church the fifth occupy nore than as
much again ground as the beautiful old stone church, but it is
sem -fireproof, and was built by the Sever-WIIlianms Conpany,
| ocal contractors. Wodwork throughout the edifice is red oak.

The exterior walls of the edifice, and interior walls of
the sanctuary and chapel are of Wsconsin |inestone, some 900
tons being used in the walls.

The structure contains 33,000 feet of floor space, and in
addition to the sanctuary seating nore than 650 persons;
Fel l owship Hall has a seating capacity of 350, and the
beauti ful chapel a sizeable seating capacity. An attractive
parlor also is much used in church activities. The centra
open court adds beauty to the entire church.

The sanctuary with its careful arrangenents, attractive
fixtures, and wonderful w ndows, is a place of outstanding
beauty.
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Dr. Roberta Sexton Gary, assistant professor of organ of
Capi tal University, dedicated the big Schantz pipe organ with
1344 pipes and built by the Schantz Organ Conpany of Orville,
in Cctober 23, 1966. It cost about $40,000. Originally a | arge
electric organ, gift of M. and Ms. Benjam n P. Wod was used
in the sanctuary, and later noved to Fell owship Hall

There are 22 classroons, 210 doors, and 3,152 square feet
of w ndows, eight rest roons, five drinking fountains, five
of fice roons and seven tel ephone extensions.

The | arge kitchen is thoroughly equipped with all nodern
conveni ences. The Wnen's Society of Christian Service and
Wesl eyan Service @Quild furnished it.

The Canpanile or tower was the gift of Ms. Wllard F.

W1l son and her son, Billie Wlson and famly, and her
daughter, Ms. John E. Rhoads and famly, as a nmenorial to M.
Wllard WIlson, who | ong was active in Gace Church

Later, Ms. WIlson and fam |y al so gave the carillon of
bells as a nenorial to M. WIson.

Menmber ship of the church at present is 1613.

The present Board of Trustees is conposed of: Thonas
Mar k, chairman; Eli Craig, vice chairman; George Arnold,
secretary and treasurer; C arence Cooper, Sanuel W/I son,
Philip Gover, Denzil Leggett, Frank DIl and Ms. Marie Mce.

WONDERFUL FACETED GLASS W NDOWS

Al nost over night Grace Church has becone fanobus for its
wonder ful, new type faceted glass art w ndows, which not only
are of great beauty but each window carries a religious story
in which inportant phases of the Bible and Biblical personages
are artistically depicted.

These wi ndows of the Sanctuary, Narthex, entrance and the
chapel are the wonderful work of Russell S. Heizer, of
Westerville, Chio, who designed and fashi oned them especially
for our church.

The glass is an inch or nore in thickness, obtained from
Bl enko at MIton, Wst Virginia, and is chosen for color and
texture, cut or chipped to the original design, and set in
epoxy resin, a derivative of petroleum simlar to the mracle
glues. It required sone eight tons of epoxy to fashion the
Wi ndows.

Each of the full-1ength wi ndows cost $3, 000, and the
total overall cost was upward of $40, 000.

By reason of this type of w ndows, a great nany people
have visited the church to see themand at the sane tine |earn
of the large nunber of interior attractions and facilities for
a conplete church edifice. Literature on the wi ndows and the
many stories they depict is available at the church office.
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YOUTH AND JUNI OR CHO RS

More than 12 years ago Ms. John E. Rhoads organi zed the
Juni or Choir, which now includes 50 boys and girls, and down
t hrough the 12 years she has directed this group of young
singers, with choir rehearsal every Monday night, her work
with the boys and girls having been outstandi ng.

The Youth Choir is conposed of former nmenbers of the
Juni or Choir, and contains 20 youths. Ms. Murice Hopkins is
the director. For sonetinme both choirs have been fully vested,
and as the three choirs, with the Chancel Choir of 30 voices
in the lead, march into the sanctuary at openi ng of worship
services, it is a very inpressive and inspiring sight.

One of the forenopst workers in Gace Church for a great
many years is Ms. Arch 0. Riber, whose tine and tal ents have
been given unstintedly at all tines and in all ways, and her
t eachi ng al ways, has been noteworthy.

Sonme of the church history witten years ago by Ms. Mary
Jo Hackett has been very hel pful in conpiling the present
hi story. Soon after 1900 Grace Church acquired the frane
Met hodi st Church at Staunton, dismantled it and noved it by
horses and wagons to a |l ot on South Fayette Street which had
been donated by Morris Sharp, where it was reassenbl ed and
much added to it. Sharp nanmed it Wsley Chapel, and for years
the Wesl ey Chapel Mte Society was a strong support to Grace
Church. The church was built in 1851.

In addition to Modrris Sharp, chairman of the commttee on
novi ng and establishing the church, to accommbdate South Side
residents, MIIls Gardner and Thomas H Craig were nmenbers. In
restoring the church two front doors were left, as they
originally were, for wonen to enter and be seated on one side
of the sanctuary, and the other for nen who were seated on the
ot her si de.

A si zeabl e spire adorned the church but within a few
years it was badly damaged by |ightning and nost of it
renoved.

Wesl ey Chapel in 1939 was sold for $1500 and becane the
South Side Church of Christ. In the early 1960's it was torn
down and a nodern brick church erected.

ROSTER OF PASTORS

The followi ng mnisters have served Grace Church since its
organi zation in 1817:

1818 John Sol onbn & Thomas Carr
1819 WIlliamP. Finley
1820 Andrew Mcd ai n

1821 D. D. Davi dson 53



1822
1823
1824
1825- 26
1827
1830
1831
1832
1833
1834
1835
1836
1837
1838
1839
1840
1841
1842
1843
1844
1845
1846
1847
1848
1849
1850
1851
1852
1853
1854
1855- 56

Janes Smith

John Summerville & Janes Snith
Benj am n Law ence & George Gatch
Andr ew Baxt er

George Westl ake

Janmes T. Donahoe & Jesse Prior
Augustus Eddy & W T. Snow

W T. Snow & Henry Turner
James Turner & EE M Daily

E. T. Webster & Lester Jones
E. T. Wbster & John Rodgers
C. C Layband & J. A Brown

S. Carke & E. Estelle

Eli Truett & J. M Smth
James Laws & Henry Warton
James Laws & B. A Cassatt

J. A Reeder & B. A Cassatt
John Fitch & 0. P. WIllians
Noah Hough

Noah Hough & Martin Wl fe
John W Keeley & B. N. Spahr
J. W Keeley & V. Beener

J. B. Austin & Archibald Flemng
J. B. Austin

T. W Chandler & S. Haines
Sanuel Brown & M G Baker

S. Mddleton & J. C. Reed
Barton Lowe & H F. G een
Barton Lowe & WIIliam Sutton
M T. Bowran & WIIliam Sutton
J. P. Mrris &J. T

(At this tinme Washington C. H was made a station charge, with 167

nmenbers and Rev.

1859- 60
1861- 62
1863- 64
1865

1866

1866- 67
1867- 70
1871- 72
1873-74
1875- 77
1878- 80
1881- 83
1884- 86
1887- 88
1889- 91
1892- 96
1896- 97
1897- 99
1899- 02
1902- 07

T

Magi | |

Cr ook

D xon

Hal |

Hal |

Br aderi ck
Ki ng

Keen

Hur st

Gar dner
Cheri ngton
Leslie
Peters
Lew s
Thonas

in McEl fresh
Johnson
Lew s

A. H Norcross
J.C. Arbuckle

"
Q
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Thomas H. Phillips was the pastor for 1857-58.)
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1907- 12 Thomas W Locke
1912- 15 F. E Ross

1915- 16 J. V. Stone.
1916- 19 A. P. Cherrington
1919- 24 Karl B. Al exander
1924- 26 F. M Evans

1926- 30 D. Finley Wod
1930- 32 WlliamT. Blune
1932- 38 A K WIson.
1938- 47 CGeorge B. Parkin
1947- 51 Allan W Cal ey
1952- 56 Clinton Swengel
1956- 59 L. J. Poe

1960- 63 G den Hughes
1963 Nobel M Ronpel

Fromthe tinme of the organization of the Methodi st Church
i n Washi ngton Court House until 1856 it was the rule of the
Conference to appoint a Junior Pastor to each charge. In the
early days the rule was to appoint a pastor for one year. The
foll ow ng year the Junior Pastor often was appoi nted Pastor.
This is the reason for two Pastors being naned for a nunber of
years.
NOTE - M. B. E. Kelley, compiler of this 150 years of history
of Grace Methodi st Church, during his nore than a half century
menber shi p, has had an inportant part in nmany church
activities, and particularly in the Men's Bible O ass of which
he has been a nmenber over 54 years. During the nenbership
canpai gn when the class finally had over 400 nen enroll ed,
back in the 1920's, he obtai ned over 100 of the new nenbers.
For years he was one of the ushers of Grace Church, and was
active in having the new church | ocated where it now stands.

Eli Craig, Chairman, Sesqui-Centennial Comrttee.
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H storical Sketch of
Heritage Menorial Church

A revival neeting was held January 1906 in a |arge room
over the fire departnent. Nail kegs and store boxes with 2 x 8
pl anks | aid across them served as seats. Fromthis neeting
conducted by Rev. 0. L. Ferguson, the group originated that
was | ater to establish the Gegg Street Church, now the
Heritage Menorial Church. Meeting in honmes of the
congregation, it was not until August 6, 1906, that the
service was held in the hone of Aiver Flint. Business was
transacted that resulted in the organization of this |ocal
chur ch.

Two lots on Gregg Street were then purchased fromthe
Brownells for the purpose of erecting a church. Wen first
built, the size of the church was 32' x 48, with belfry and
vestibule in front. A Christian man named Leni gar gave
liberally of his noney to help build the church. The church
was finished in 1908, and they organized with 22 charter
menbers.

Rev. 0. L. Ferguson was not only the mnister for the
first revival, but he remained as the first pastor. He al so
returned for two other terns as pastor.

In 1935, with Rev. Frank Sollars as pastor, the first
addi ti on was added to the west side. The church was raised
hi gher, and a basenent was dug under the new addition and
under half of the old church

During Rev. Arthur George's pastorate, the remaining area
under the church was excavated and two Sunday school roons
wer e added along with an entrance at the front of the church
to the sanctuary and to the outside. In 1944, the property was
purchased for a parsonage where Rev. and Ms. George were the
first to live.

When Rev. Russell Knisley was pastor, a small addition
was made to the rear of the original church. It consisted of
two Sunday school roons (with basenment space for two nore
Sunday school roons) and an entrance fromthe outside. The
platformwas relocated to the east side of the church, and the
pews were rearranged to face the platform

During Rev. Charles Ware's pastorate, there was anot her
addition to the rear of the church, with a basenent under it,
providing a | arge coatroom and additional Sunday school roons.

In 1961, under the pastorate of Rev. Charles WIIlians, an
addi tion and renodel i ng project was undertaken. It extended
the old sanctuary, w th basement underneath, provided new pews
and carpet, and a new heating system The old and new
sanctuaries were refaced with brick. In 1965, a nodern
three-story educational unit was erected which connected to
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the sanctuary. The sanctuary was turned around, with a new
platformarea to the west.

During the great revival of 1970, the idea of a
Fel l owship Hall was presented to the congregation; and
i mredi atel y peopl e began to pl edge noney toward the project.
At the close of the neeting in February of 1970, a vote was
taken on the idea of purchasing land for the purpose of
building the Hall. A search for the right |ocation went on for
several nonths, until Septenber, when a 13-acre tract of |and
was purchased on Route 35, at Jami son Road. In the spring of
1971, ground was broken and construction began. The buil di ng
was conpleted in May 1972, with dedication on June 17, 1973.

Under the direction of Rev. Robert Kline, the need of
expanding the Bus Mnistry was realized. In a few weeks, the
funds were raised to purchase six additional buses, bringing
the total nunber of buses to nine. Also, a record Sunday
school average was achi eved- 871

In 1975, a new concept of mnistry began at Gregg Street
Church-a Staff Mnistry. Under the direction of Rev. Stan
Toler and staff, the church was able to have a nortgage
burning, retiring a debt of $49,000. A three-stall bus garage
was erected behind the Fellowship Hall in 1977, and in the
fall of 1978 the church decided to relocate to the Route 35
site, and ground was broken for a new buil ding. The new
facility, now known as Heritage Menorial Church, was conpl eted
in the fall of 1980 with Dedication Services on Novenber 23,
1980.

Since the change of |ocation and the change of nane, the
Lord has continued to bless. The church had a high nonth
average of 1,616, with a new record attendance of 2,590.
Heritage Menorial Church is now the |argest church in the
Churches of Christ in Christian Union.

Seventy-five years ago, a handful of faithful people
pl anted a seed. Today that vision of |ong ago has begun to be
fulfilled. Let us pledge ourselves anew to keep faith with
t hose of |ong ago who have passed the torch to us.

"But thanks be to God, which giveth us the victory
t hrough our Lord Jesus Christ" (I Cor. 15:57).

Former Pastors

0. L. Ferguson 1906- 09
H C Leeth & J. H MKibban 1909-11
0. L. Ferguson 1911-12
H C Leeth 1912-13
0. L. Ferguson 1913-14
H C. Leeth 1914-18
Frank Leeth & E. A. Keaton 1918- 20
Janes Syl vester 1920- 23
A. E. Sagar 1923- 29
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Roy Wbl ford

A. E. Sagar

Paul Ferguson
Frank Sollars
Art hur Ceorge
Russel | Kni sl ey
Charl es Ware
Charles WIlians
Robert Kline
Stan Tol er

Wes WIIians
Joe Duval |

1929- 30
1930-31
1931-32
1932-43
1943-49
1949-54
1954-59
1959-73
1973-75
1975- 85
1985- 89
1989-
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Jeffersonville M P. Church
Jef ferson Township

The Met hodi st Protestant Church at Jeffersonville was a
part of the original circuit enbracing five points, but is now
reduced to points as follows: Jeffersonville, Spring G ove,

Pl ai n View and Bl essi ngs Chapel .- (A len's published 1914).

Rev. A.H Trunbel is credited with organi zing the church
in 1829-30. Father Wallace Creaner, who was 96 years of age at
the tine Allen's History of Fayette Co, was witten had then
the distinction of being a nenber in this church for
seventy-seven years. He lived just west of Jeffersonville.

In 1848 a union church for all denomi nations was built in
Jeffersonville with the M P. organi zation along with the
Met hodi st Epi scopal and Uni versalist societies conducting
meetings there. Sonme of the nanes of those assisting in the
worthy enterprise are J. B. Creaner, Wallace Creaner, Abram
Bl essing, Mchael Carr, Tally MKillip, WIIiam Robi nson,
James and Wn Fent, Elijah Carr, WMathias Benson, Joseph Hidy,
James Boyer, G lbert Terrell, Abram Bush, Joseph Brubaker,
WIllis Hays, David Creaner, George and WIIliam Janes, WT.
Howard, C. K. Higbee, Richard Fawkes, Adam Duff, 0. W
Marshall and Dr. Wn H. Jones.

The society at Jeffersonville erected a church in 1874 on
the site of the present building with P. F. Johnson as the
pastor. In 1901 the present building, taken over by the
Met hodi sts followi ng the merger in 1939, was constructed. It
is ared brick edifice and was built at the cost of $20, 000.
According to the Jeffersonville history as prepared by the
Hor ney Chapter, Daughters of the Anmerican Revolution, the
expenses for this church were net by a donation from M. Janes
Fent, whose father, WIIliam Fent, had been one of the many
citizens who had assisted in the erection of the Union Church.

Pastors serving the charge from 1848 are as follows: A
Cl ennell, 1849-52; R Hussey, 1852; Charles Caddy, 1853; Z. D.
H ckman, 1854; Z. D. Hickman and R Hussey, 1855; T. H.

Wl son, 1856; A. H Trunbo, J. W Smith, 1857; H Rowan, 1858;
W E. Stubbs - 1859; S. B. Abbott - 1861, T. D. Howe - 1862;
M B. Evans - 1863; T. D. Howe - 1864; C. S. Bradley -1865; J.
M Adans - 1867 - 70; Reuben Rose - 1871 - 1875; Johnson (died
whi l e pastor) 1875; Janes Baker, J. M Flood, A M
Ravenscroft - 1885-87; J. P. Wllians - 1888; J. Shepherd -
1889, S. S. Fleming - 1890; Frederick 1891-94; E. H Wodworth
- 1894; J. E. Bailey (tw pastorates); E. J. Wbster, J. F.
Henkle, M M Canpbell, 1902-05; M R Stover, 1905-09; E W
Price, 1909-13; Bliss M Cartwight, 1913-16; C. B. Doty,
1916-17; P. Led ar (died while pastor) 1917-21; B. F.
McKi nnon, 1921-22; J. W Rice, 1922-24; J. H Longsworth,
1924- 25;
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J. H Ewng, 1925-28; A E. Black, 1928 30; G C Foltz; Rev.
S. C. Heininger 1931 to the time of the merger of the M P.
and M E. Churches.

At publication date of Allen's history, the menbership
stood at 231.

One of Jeffersonville's prom nent residents, Ms. Kate
East man Bush, who was way over the 90 mark when she di ed, was

married by the Rev. E. J. Wbster, who served as an M P.
m ni ster around the turn of the century.

The custodi an of the present church is now using the
frame personage on the next |ot adjoining the church |ot.

(Information from Rev, Newman, Jeffersonville Hi story Conpiled

by WIliam Horney Chapter, D.A.R, and Allen's Fayette Co.
H story published in 1914.)
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H STORY OF
MCNAI R MEMORI AL PRESBYTERI AN CHURCH
Corner of Lewis and Rawl i ngs Streets
Washi ngt on Court House, Chi o Septenber 25, 1994

"And darkness was on the face of the deep." This
quotation from Genesis brings to mnd the begi nning of MNair
Menorial Church, for it was the darkness of sin cast by "The
Shadow of Death" a sal oon which stood back of the church site,
and a little later the "King Anderson Sl oon" on Paint Street
that aroused the good wonen of the nei ghborhood. So, it cane
about that they began to hold prayer neetings to ask God's
hel p in bringing about the renoval of these brothels.

Ms. Ellen DeGoot, Gant DeGoot's nother, felt so
strongly about the matter that she bought the building in
whi ch the "Shadow of Death" operated. She evicted the tenants
and made a dwelling of the place, noved into it, and began to
hol d prayer neetings with the wonen of the nei ghborhood. It
was here that the church really began, because God put it into
their hearts, that a House of God was truly needed.

And the Spirit of God noved in nen's hearts and God said,
"Let There Be Light." It wasn't long until others becane
interested, and in the spring of 1892, the first Sunday school
was held at the residence of John Urquhart, who was a nenber
of the First Presbyterian Church. He lived on the corner of
the alley between Wal nut and Lewis Streets. John Wodhul |, an
elder in the First Presbyterian Church, assisted himin the
first Sunday school.

Meetings were held at the home of John Urquhart for two
consecutive Sundays. Meanwhile a house on WIlson and G egg
Streets, owned by Thomas Hillery was rented, and prepared as a
hone for the Sunday school. The furniture consisted of an old
organ and sone seats made froma plank wal k stretched on beer
kegs left by the former tenants. It is not strange to |l earn
that sonme of the small boys nade a teeter-totter out of the
seats during the neetings.

Later on a house on Lewis and Gregg Streets was rented
for two nonths, and after this a house on Tenpl e and
Bl ackst one, owned by Aunt Nan Barnes, as she was
affectionately known. The rent was $3.50 per nonth.

This little band of Christians grew in nunbers, largely
due to the earnest prayers and | eadership of the follow ng
faithful wonen: Ms. Omen Ireland, Ms. N S Craig, Ms.
Charles J. Canpbell, Ms. Sarah WIllianms, Ms. George Pavey,
and Ms. WIIiam Robi nson.

Finally nore people of the First Presbyterian Church
becanme interested. Especially was this true of the Mnister,
Dr. J. L. McNair. He urged that they build a church be it ever
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so hunbl e. This now becane their goal. Collections were small,
but each one did what he could. The WIIling Wrkers, which

| at er becane the Ladies Aid, was fornmed. The children al so
gave of their best, for they held entertai nnent, and at one
time a play was given by the children in a barn that stood
back of the house where they held Sunday School .

The time canme when funds were raised sufficient to enable
themto build. Alot on the corner of Lewis and Rawl i ngs
Streets was purchased from Sinmeon and Julia Brownell for
$125.00 and finally, after nmuch hard work and pl anni ng the
church was built at cost of $1141.82. Because the church was
not incorporated under the aws of Ohio, the deed was nmade to
Trustees of the First Presbyterian Church. (Deed recorded in
Deed Vol une 20 Page 569 in the office of the Recorder of
Fayette County, May 21, 1894). The furnishings consisted of an
organ, hymals with no nusic, 204 kitchen chairs, and coal oi
| anps. The rostrumwas at the west end of the church. The
chairs were arranged in rows to face the rostrumwhen there
was preaching. The sane chairs then were rearranged in groups
or circles for Sunday school. A coal oil street lanp placed in
the front yard lighted the entrance. There was an iron fence
around the front and side.

It was a happy day indeed for these faithful workers,
when on Cctober 7, 1894, at two o' clock, what becane known as
t he East End Chapel, was dedicated. A Dr. MElfresh of the
Grace Met hodi st Church preached the dedi cation sernmon. There
was a choir and besides the reed organ, Eli Bereman pl ayed a
bass fiddle. Sunday school was held each Sunday in the
afternoon, and Christian Endeavor, and whenever possible
church at night. According to arrangenents the different
M nisters in Washi ngton Court House, preached when they coul d,
but Rev. McNair gave nore of his tinme and support than anyone
el se.

The first funeral service held after the dedication was
that of Theo. Ammernman on Cctober 21, 1894.

M. Frank Fullerton was the first Superintendent of the
Sunday school. Anong the teachers were Dr. C M WIlson, Dr.
Carey Persinger, Tillie Backenstoe, Ms. Omen Ireland, Ms.
Charles J. Campbell, Ms. Sarah WIllianms, and Ms. N S.
Craig. Christian Endeavor began in 1895 and Juni or Endeavor in
1897.

Anmong the nenbers of the Ladies Aid were Ms. Mary Lydy,
Ms. Ireland, Ms. Craig, Ella Mayo, Ms. Julie Robinson,
Sallie Bryson, Julia Wight, Margaret Bereman, Tillie
Backenst oe, Laura Saunders, Ellen Canpbell, Ms. R A
Ri chardson, Ms. Sarah WIllianms, Ms. Mane DeWiitt, Nellie
Backenstoe and Ethel Ford. This society carried the burden of
the runni ng expenses of the church. At one tinme there wasn't
enough noney in the treasury to pay the janitor, so six
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menbers paid their dues for the New Year to take care of this
bill. It was decided to hold an exhibition at the Waters
School House. M's. Ireland and M ss Mayo were appointed to
arrange a program Later a play called "The Fam |y Unbrell a"
was given here and also in Good Hope. The cast of characters
was "Janmes Snapp, Effie Richardson, Cara Waters, Laura
Ireland, WII Craig, WII Cubbage, and George MBet h.

Alittle later three Sunday school roons were added. The
Church grew in the Christian faith and the boys and girls who
first learned to know God, through the redeem ng | ove of
Jesus Christ H's Son, at the East End Chapel have gone to all
parts of this country of ours.

By 1915, the nmenbers felt they were able financially to
have an all tinme Mnister. Consequently a congregationa
meeti ng was held on Cctober 19, 1915, for the purpose of
organi zing the East End Chapel into a separate church. Rev.
Roher of Greenfield, Ohio, Rev. Kay of Frankfort, Ohio and
Rev. Kerr of Bl oom ngburg, Ohio represented the Presbytery.
It was decided to call the church "The MNair Menoria
Presbyterian Church." Oficers el ected were Sherman Reeder,
Charl es Bonham and Grant Mansfield, Elders; W A Saunders,
Ri chard Sol | ars, Wert Backenstoe, WII| Craig, and C arence L
Campbel I , Deacons.

Novenber 10, 1915, a congregational neeting with Rev.
Kerr as noderator was held and Rev. P. J. Henness was call ed.
Several nenberships were received fromthe First Presbyterian
Church, and fromthe G ace Methodi st Church. The Pastor was
install ed and together with the help of the Home M ssion
Board, McNair Menorial Presbyterian Church was instituted
One of the first actions of the board was to have the church
i ncorporated under the laws of Chio. J. F. Adans executed
papers of incorporation and the certificate was issued
Novenber 20, 1915. Trustees then transferred the Church
property from The First Presbyterian Church to the MNair
Menori al Presbyterian Church. (Deed recorded in Deed Vol une
41 Page 27 in the office of the Recorder of Fayette County,
May 1, 1916).

The first marriage by the new M nister was that of
Herbert A. Snyder and Nanni e Hi ghland. The church proceeded
under the Pastors: Rev. R G Reynolds, Rev. D. H Rejy, Rev.
J. L. MWIlians, Rev. John M denn, Rev. Allan Peterson
and the present Pastor, Rev. Paul H Elliott, D.D., to the
present time of this witing in 1952. The Rev. P. J. Henness
served the church three different times. Under his second
pastorate, the Ladies Aid becane the M ssionary Society. The
basenment was constructed in 1922. Under the pastorate of Rev.
G enn the church becane affiliated with the Bl oom ngburg
Presbyterian Church in one field. This was still the situation
in 1952.
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W were glad to have had the children of the Fayette
County Home with us in all services for a nunber of years.

In 1952 the Sunday chool had an average attendance of
150, a church nenbership of 140, and a M ssionary Society with
a nmenbership of 34. |In January 1952, there was installed a
much needed el ectric organ.

Wth the help of God and our new M nister, we pray that
our influence as Christians may be felt in the nei ghborhood,
and that we may not falter in the performance of our duties in
a manner worthy the splendid exanple set us by our devoted
f ounders.

Complied by Margaret (Ms. difford) Foster
Amended by the 1994 History Conmittee

This was conpiled in 1952 and since then our Pastor has
honorably retired. Dr. and Ms. Paul Elliott did so very nuch
for our Church. We wi sh them much enjoynent and good health in
their well-earned retirement. We shall miss themvery nmuch. W
are in the process of securing another Pastor and the future
| ooks good. We pray God will send us the kind of |eader we
need.

Addendum by Margaret Foster 1957

From 1958 t hrough 1965 under the pastorates of the Rev.
Jerry Snyder and the Rev. Donald Bell, MNair Menoria
Presbyterian Church prospered and enjoyed Christian fellowship
Wi th increasing nmenbership to 154 with the Sunday school
joining in many activities. The care of the Church and its
furnishings included new front steps, replacenent w ndows,
pai nting exterior of church, tables, choir robes, hymm books,
fire extinguishers, stormw ndows in basenment, privacy screens
and bookshel ves. The Westmi ni ster Fell owship was very active
during these years. The Bi bl e School average attendance in
1960 was 83. There were vari ous ongoi ng m ssionary projects.
The choir presented several cantatas during this tinme. The
children participated in a junior choir.

In January 1965, the yoke relationship with Bl oom ngburg
Presbyterian Church was dissolved. In the fall of 1965, the
Rev. Earl F. Schottke was called as a full tine Mnister. He
served until 1970. During this tinme the WIlling to Help d ass,
Loyal Daughters O ass, and the Wnen's Associ ati on provi ded
many needed itens to several mssion stations and | ocal needy
children. The church basenent and kitchen were renol ded and
folding doors installed in classroons off the sanctuary. Cheer
boxes and ditty bags were sent to servicenen.
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The property next to the church was purchased in 1968 for
$8500. 00. This was a rental property until 1994. In 1970 the
Sunday school average attendance was 68, Bible School average
was 31 and church nenbership on Decenber 31 was 167. It was in
1970 that the El ders and Deacons were nerged into one board
that is called the Session with those elected to serve on the
Session were titled Elders.

In 1971 the church sanctuary was extensively renovated
with wall paneling, carpeting, drapes, lighting and the
illum nated cross.

Rev. W/ bur Bull ock accepted the call to serve the MNair
congregation in January 1973. The church nenbership from 1973
to 1977 varied from 110 to 89. Average Sunday schoo
attendance was 56 in 1973. The first annual bazaar was held in
1974. During this four-year period major inprovenments included
t he new commenorative glass front entry, the new side door to
t he basenent and exterior painting. The vacant | ot on G egg
Street was purchased for $2500.00 in 1975.

In Septenber of 1978, the Rev. Francis Hoffnman accepted
the call to serve McNair Menorial Presbyterian Church as
supply (interim) Mnister. He guided and inspired the
menbership for 13 years until his death on August 2, 1991. His
wi fe, Ann, was also a great inspiration, helping Rev. Hoffman
draw the McNair famly into a close-knit, caring fellowship.
There were many church di nners, such as the annual dinner
honori ng new nmenbers and hosting the former residents of the
Children's Hone. Rev. Hof frman requested that we enjoy a dinner
and fellowship followi ng the Prai se Service conducted by the
Wnen's M ssionary Society. This is an annual event on the
Sunday precedi ng Thanksgi vi ng. Spaghetti suppers were hosted
by the

Primary Departnment, chili suppers were prepared by the
Young Adults Class now the Adult Leadership C ass. During
t hose years annual picnics were enjoyed and there was an array
of excitenent when Rev. Hof fman presented pounds of pennies in
honor of Ann's May birthday. Mt her-Daughter and Fat her - Son
banquets were annual events. Participation in the comunity
Christmas parade was al so a fun event.

The physical acconplishnents in the care of the church
consi sted of new communi on cloths, confortable chairs for the
choir, choir robes, foam cushioning on the pews, hym books,
de-hum difier, paneling and carpeting on the ground fl oor,
al umi num si ding on exterior, three ceiling fans and floor fan
in the sanctuary, retaining wall rebuilt, attic insul ated,
chair lift and public address systeminstalled, flag poles and
stands, offering plates and candl ehol ders, front steps
resurfaced, Wirlitzer organ replaced with Hanmond organ,
anti que podi um refinished and new conplinmentary podi um built
by a menber of MNair, a copier, and padded fol ding chairs.
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The Qutreach Program consi sted of netal signs posted at
entrances to the city advertising McNair Menori al
Presbyterian Church and its worship services, $1200.00 to the
Bi - Centenni al Presbyterian (USA) Fund, support to the
Chapl ain at Fayette Menorial Hospital, food baskets at
Thanksgi ving, Christms and Easter, at various other tines
food fromfood pantry, warmclothing itens for needy
children, in addition to many other benevolent gifts.

To honor the many Veterans who served in the mlitary to
protect our country, a new roster was prepared and presented
to the church. N nety-six nmen and one wonan are noted there.
On display is a nodel of McNair Church made of toothpicks by
one of the nenbers.

In June of 1991, the wonen of McNair served a delicious
di nner to the Special Council of Presbytery. Rev. Hoffman
requested that the |adies prepare their specialties to prove
his theory that MNair Church has great cooks. It was good
that this |l ast request was filled because just a few weeks
| at er Rev. Hof fman was gone fromthe mdst of the MNair
Church fam|ly.

Rev. Hoffrman for several years had requested that a
menorial fund be established with the proceeds to be used for
benevol ent purposes for nenbers of the church. Menorial gifts
in his honor were used to establish this trust.

In remenbrance of Rev. Hoffrman's years with us, the
foll owi ng quotation from Ral ph Wal do Enmerson was included in
the menorial service, which was held to honor him

"To | augh often and | ove nmuch; to win the respect of
intelligent persons and the affection of children; to
earn the approbation of honest citizens and endure the
betrayal of false friends; to appreciate beauty; to find
the best in others; to give of one's self; to | eave the
world a bit better, whether by a healthy child, a garden
patch or a redeened social condition; to have played and
| aughed with enthusiasm and sung with exultation; to
know even one |ife has breathed easier because you have
lived... this is to have succeeded."

In answer to many prayers the Rev. Francis Myer and his wfe
Joanne were called to lead us. It seened |like a mracle. In
January of 1992, after several trial sernmons, Rev. Moyer
accepted our offer to serve as our Mnister. The menbership
at that tinme was 72 and has renai ned stable. This association
has been very cordial and rewardi ng. The McNair Church famly
is indeed fortunate to have themw th us. The children |ove
his sernonettes, prepared just for them H s sernons are
inspiring and the prayer periods are tines of caring and
shari ng.
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Two maj or projects in the last two years have been the
pl anni ng and buil ding of the parking |lot and the renovation
of the church house for the use of the Mnister and his wfe.
These are projects that are still to be conpleted. Carts for
storing tables and chairs, a m crowave oven presented by
former residents of The Children's honme, fire extinguishers,
pul pit chairs built by one of the nenbers, and a Menori al
Et ernal Lanp have been added to the property of the church.
The vacant ot on Gregg Street was sold and the proceeds added
to the parking | ot fund.

The M ssion Program of the church has consisted of One
Great Hour of Sharing, 2 cents a neal offering, blanket
offering, Christmas Joy offering, supplies for the Shack in

West Virginia and General M ssions. Christmas and
Thanksgi vi ng food baskets as well as itenms for the clothing
center are provided. Love offerings are given and visits with
gifts to the shut-in menbers are nade periodically. The
Fayette County Mnisterial Association was supported with a
nonetary gift. A donation was sent through the Preshytery of
Scioto Valley to aid flood victins.

For many years very interesting and successful Daily
Vacation Bi ble Schools have been held with the youth of
McNair, their friends and children of the comunity attending.

Over the past hundred years McNair Church has seen tines
of happi ness and sadness. Many narri ages have been perforned;
i nfant dedications, and funerals of the McNair fam |y have
been held in the Church Sanctuary. Over the past few years, we
have been saddened by the death of several very active
menbers. The active menbership at this tinme consists of a
| arge portion of menmbers in the sixty, seventy, eighty, and
even ninety age group. Gatitude nust be expressed for the
smal | er nunber of younger adults who are very active in their
service to the church. The children also provide nuch joy and
are the hope for the future of MNair.

As of Septenber 1994, MNair Menorial Presbyterian Church
prays that it is a beacon to the comunity as it worshi ps and
serves God and our Savior Jesus Christ, as it has for the | ast
100 years.

Subm tted by the 1994 History Commttee
Anna Kel | ey, Chairnman

The late Allen Hays

Purl e Hays

Lori e Arnbrust

H story Book Printing
Georgette Kelley
Debbi e Kuhl wei n

The McNair Menorial Presbyterian Church was dedi cated
Cct ober 7, 1894 67



M NI STERS

Rev. P.J.
Rev. R G
Rev. D.H
Rev. P.J.
Rev. J. L.
Rev. P.J.
Rev. John

Henness
Reynol ds
Rejy
Henness
MWI i ams
Henness

d enn

Rev. All an Peterson

Rev. Paul

H Elliott,

Rev. Jerry Snyder
Rev. Donal d Bel

Rev. Earl

F. Schottke

Rev. W/ bur Bull ock

Rev. Paul

Conl ey

Rev. Franci s Hof f man
Rev. Francis Myer

D. D.

1915-1916
1916- 1917
1918-1921
1921-1927
1928-1929
1929-1932
1932-1948
1949- 1951
1952- 1957
1958- 1960
1962- 1965
1965- 1970
1973-1977
1977-1978
1978-1991
1992
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New Martinsburg Methodi st Church (Perry Twp.)

Prior to 1836 a church organi zati on of Methodi st
Epi scopal denomi nation was effected in the village of New
Martinsburg, four and one-half mles southwest of Good Hope by
Robert Buck. Services were held in an enpty storeroom owned by
hi mand at the house of Thomas Fi shback until 1838 when a |og
structure, known as the New Martinsburg M E. Church, was built
on a | ot donated by M. Buck to the Society.

For a period of several years this rude tenple of worship
was used as a neeting-house by these early villagers until the
congregation demanded a | arger and better church. Plans were
drawn and action taken, which resulted in the erection of a new
frame building in 1856, suitable for the needs of the grow ng
menbership at that era. This old church, which served its
purpose well for nearly a half century, was situated about a
bl ock north of the present church, facing Washi ngt on- East
Monroe Pi ke. Judging fromold photographs this church would
have been about one-half the size of the present building. It
was so designed as to have two front entrances since in those
days it was customary for the nmen folks to worship on one side
of the church and the wonen fol ks on the other. The only ex-
ception was when a young man was courting his best girl, it was
stated. Wth further reference to its architecture, the old
edifice had a small steeple.

The year 1904 saw the construction of another frane
church, being conpleted in Septenber. The ground on which it
was erected was purchased from M. John Knedler. It neasures
50 feet wide and is 57 1/2 feet in length. The church has a
mai n audi torium Sunday school room and book room There are
several beautiful windows given in nenory of M. and Ms. John
Knedl er Ms. Annie Orndorf, Marion Parrett of Sugar G ove and
the soldiers of the Civil War the latter being placed through
the efforts of WIIliam Johnson, the grandfather of WIIliam
Johnson, who is now (1955) serving as Sunday school
superi nt endent .

Rev. Orndorf was pastor of the church when dedication
cerenoni es were conducted in 1904. The presiding el der was
Rev. Cook.

As to circuit affiliations, here is a brief resune:

"The Paint Creek Circuit, of which the territory of the
Good Hope Circuit was first a part, included the follow ng: S.
Charl eston, Janestown, Bl oom ngburg, Washington C. H.,
Geenfield, S. Salem Leesburg E. Mnroe, Pleasant Hill, and
Roebucks. All were M E. Churches. Paint Geek Grcuit was
finally divided and New Martinsburg becane identified with the
Washi ngton Crcuit. In 1886 the Washington Grcuit was divided
into three parts - Washington, Jeffersonville and Staunton,
Good Hope at that time was known as a mssion. O her
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appoi ntnents on the Staunton Circuit included the m ssion of
Good Hope, Staunton Rowe’s Chapel, M. Carnel Buena Vista,

Cochran and Sugar Grove. At the present time it is associ ated

with the Good Hope Circuit, which includes Good Hope, Sugar

G ove and Maple Grove. Staunton and Buena Vista belonged to the

Good Hope Grcuit until about 18 years ago."

Rev. Ral ph E. Yoss is the present pastor having taken
over the parish in 1955 as the successor of Rev. Eugene E.
Frazer who served from 1949. Recalled as sonme of the earlier
pastors when the church was in its infancy were Revs. C. C
Lybrand Jacob A. Brown. During the intervening years
m ni sters who supplied the Good Hope Met hodi st Church al so
served New Martinsburg.

(I'nformation furnished through the courtesy of Ms.
Nat hani el Tway and Rev. Eugene Frazer)

Witten and Prepared July 30, 1955.
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AUTOBI| OGRAPHI C SKETCH OF THE
NEW SECOND BAPTI ST CHURCH
828 COLUMBUS Avenue
WASHI NGTON COURT HOUSE, CHI O

From the earliest available records of the origina
Second Baptist Church, it was built on North Street in the
year 1858 on Cctober 28th.

The brothers of the Church purchased the property and
t hey, and the nenbers, contributed material and | abor for the
actual construction work.

The Trustees at that tine were John Ham | ton, Elizabeth
Moore and Andre Escrol. Here they worshipped until 1919. The
witer was called to the pastorate while they were in their
original church hone. Shortly thereafter the building was sold
as the result of schismatic differences of opinion; this is a
matter of public record.

In connection with the history of the original body on
North Street are Brothers; |ke Thornton, Kenton Cole, C arence
Powel I, Nick Pettiford, Chester Cash, Henry Pointer, King
Ander son, Elick Anderson, George Mles, Perry Cole, Lija
Ander son, Bol dens Anderson and Tod Garnes, Sisters Belle
Beal ey, Ms. Charles Brandon, Mary Mles, Ms. Henry Poi nter,
Nancy Garnes, Mary Hanpton, and Mary Pettiford and Cornelia
Powel | .

The work of the historian is to chronicle events, as he
knows them In this way general principles are evolved as a
gui de to the oncom ng generations. The historian shows that
all history is, contenporaneous; to cause the living to see
how each person may profit by the experiences of those of the
past. If the nenories of the old church can be brought back to
life so that we may see nmen and wonen |i ke ourselves, funbling
and feeling their way, but always striving honestly and
manfully to do their best, posterity is benefited.

The historic witer should be free fromany appeal to
self-interests and as far as possible conpletely objective.

As a rule a person who is contenporaneous with an event is
nore conpetent to wite about it than one afar off. He lives
with the people knowing their ains aspirations and hopes.
This was ny experience to |live anong the nmenbership fromthe
first to the last. | was the first on the job in the norning
and the last to |leave at night, after gathering the tools of
the workman and placing themin the tool -shed for the next
day.

Each age as it passes on, neant not only to appropriate
the heritage of the past; but also to nake new di scoveries of
new val ues for a new age. If this sketch contributes to that
end, the tine spent in its preparation has not been lost, if
it helps in maki ng a reoccurrence of past events inpossible.
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After the disposition of the old Church on North Street,
the body noved to its new tenporary hones in the G A R
Menorial Hall on Court Street upstairs. There we renai ned
until with the aid of a generous public the Trustees purchased
the present site on Col unbus Avenue through the Gestner Realty
Conpany for the sum of $3,000.00 cash paynent. The Trustees of
this new venture were brothers; Edward Branks, Scott Harris,
George Wods, and Blaine Hurley, Secretary of the Board, and
Christina Wngo. No finer conplinent could be paid to a body
of Christian nmen and wonen all of whom are now deceased, (Ms.
Emi |y Thornton was al so a menber of the Board) than the frank
recognition of intent, and of their wi se and conservative
judgment in securing the present church site in the face of
the general attitude, "It can't be done,"” but they didit.
Thousands of dollars passed through this office during the
construction work wi thout nurnmur or conplaint from anyone.

The Deacon Board of the new church was conposed of the
follow ng brothers: Rush George, John Roberts, Richard
Jackson, Dock Brandon, George Harris and Sanford Easton.
Sister Emly Harris was the Church Cerk and Sister Cornelia
Powel | was the Treasurer retaining this position until her
death. In the reactivity of Sister Powell as the Treasurer, is
seen the picture of a loyal few, keeping alive the tradition
and Christian fellowship, which had its origin in the work
begun on North Street, in the old church.

During our stay inthe G A R Hall, title was acquired
to the new site on Col unbus Avenue by the Trustees. Shortly
after this, M. George Donough on North Street was hired to
draw the plans for a new Institutional Church, adm nistering
to the needs of the community, seating approxi mtely three
hundred and fifty persons.

During this time, | gave nuch prayer, to the thinking
t hrough the task ahead of us. So, putting God first, there is
no substitute for thorough and conpl ete know edge of the
probl enms ahead of one's spiritual responsibilities and the
organi zation of personnel and so that there would be no | ost
of either, when the actual construction began.

| did not realize at this stage of the program that nost
difficult tasks present an opportunity and chall enge. Such a
job as ours soon separated the wheat fromthe tares. Oten was
| driven to the conclusion that successful |eadership is a
mental process as well as a physical problen? These probl ens
are beat solved by hard thinking and then praying them
t hr ough.

Never have | seen greater spiritual intensity manifested
by any people, then that shown by the nenbership in the
rebui l ding of their new church. Al wanted sone part in the
rebui l ding of the walls about Jerusalem The congregation was
organi zed into groups or clubs. President of Goup No. 1 was
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Si ster Dosha Brandon-President of Goup No. 2, was Sister Enma
Warwi ck, President of G oup No. 3, was Sister Susie Tayl or,
President of G oup No. 4, was Sister George Harris and of the
Children, Sister Regina WIllet. The selection of those sainted
wonen as group | eaders was undoubtedly inspired and
spiritually notivated. Their dynamic effort in the building
programreflected the urgency of the task. As with Nehem ah,
religious effort had no part with | aziness.

Their spiritual dynam sm nmade nmy work a thing of joy and
gave strength to nmy soul doubt; if not at times despair.

Their sense of oneness, of conmon responsibility for the job
ahead was beautiful to see. This spirit held all together,
until victory graced our effort, the dedication of the new
church. Truly the Lord was, good to us. It would be fair to
say, relative to the building programthat about $6,000.00
worth of the service went into the excavating of the basenent
by the nmenbership. It was conpleted and equi pped for service.
The funeral of the |late C ayborn Robinson being held therein,
the first in the new Church.

The general public had not been asked for any
contributions as of that tine but when it was asked, its
response was magni ficent. The nanes of many of these donors
being still in a fair state of preservation being in the hands
of Sister Blaine Hurley. It is to the splendid work of this
fine husband and the accuracy of his well-kept records that we
owe this syllabus.

The initial major problemin digging the basenent was the
di sposition of the large cenent base of the Fayette Creanery
engi ne. This base was a cenent slab of concrete neasured 5x4x5
in dinmension. The cl oseness of excavations to private hones
made the use of dynamte inpossible. So, after several days
of thinking, it was finally decided that we bury it. It is
much easier to wite about it now, than it was then, to do the
job. For sonetine there after the Church was called the
"Church on the Rock". The general construction of the building
is of red-wire cut pressed brick with a ceiling, which gives
excel l ent acoustic effect. The Church has a fine kitchen and
dining roomw th lavatory facilities and heating pl ant
installed by the Link Heating Conpany of the city. Its
di mensi ons are 44 x 63. Opening a sliding door |leading into
the Ladies’ parlor may augnent the Main auditorium seating
capacity, hearers being well within the range of the speakers’
voi ce. The Choir loft is elevated back of the mnister. M.
Donough not only drew the Plan but he supervised the work
until conpleted. He gave ne the keys to a finished building as
the del egates to the "Ohio General Association" were being
registered in front of the Church

The Church was erected in a little nore than eighteen
nonths. Great conmmercial enterprises find it convenient and
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necessary to incur some indebtedness in the course or
expansi on. Thus Second Baptist incurred a $5,100.00 record of
whi ch was suspended fromthe wall that the public m ght know
just what was done to pay it off. This was the financial
condition of the Church at the tinme of ny resignation, August
28, 1924, as shown by recommendati on of character given nme by
the body. Surely a nobdest sumfor a Church, which had raised
the sum of $20,000.00 in twenty-two nonths. As stated in the
records, this indebtedness was cared for under the pastorate
of the Rev. Frank Reynol ds of Dayton.

The dedication of the church July 2, 1921 was an epoch
event in the history of the city. Dr. A M Thonmas of
Zanesville, President of the General Association, was the
principle speaker delivering two sernons to a | arge and
appreci ative group. In the afternoon, the honorable Sineon D
Fess, United States Senior Senator, speaking on behalf of the
President of the United States, delivered a nmasterly address
on "Law Enforcement”. The pastor read a letter fromPresident
Harding stating his regret for his inability to be present
owi ng to pressing State obligations.

Robert B. Barclay, G and Chancellor of the Knights of
Pyt hi as of Col unbus foll owed Senator Fess. After a brief
interm ssion, Dr. Al exander of the Baptist Church and Dr.

G ove of the Methodist Church brought nessages of
felicitations fromtheir respective congregations. The Second
Regi ment Band from Col unbus furnished nmusic for the occasion.

The three maj or achievenents of the entire building
program were the Laying of the Corner Stone, at which
$1, 100. 00 was raised, the entertaining of the Chio
Associ ati on, $905.00 was raised and the clinmax of all events
was the dedication of the new Church at this tine, $3,375.00
was rai sed and placed in the Fayette Savings and Loan Conpany
Bank at 3:00 in the norning. See the Washington Herald on this
magni ficent effort.

This brief record of events is given to the public that
an arny of faithful church workers, the list of which is far
too long to nention here, mght be credited for work well
done. Wthout magnifying in the [east any definite results of
any person, club or group whatsoever.

It may be said, they all were efficient and effective in
carrying forward their duties and obligation and as result
t her eof Washi ngton Court House has one of the finer churches
in any small town in the State. The building of the new Church
is an eternal nmonunment to the late Ms. Hart, a |loya
menber ship, and friends, and the untiring Under- Shepherd of
Christ, on the human side and to God on the divine side.

We | eave you with this little sketch, not as a conplete
hi story, hoping that future historians whoever he may be to
record the continued work of a wonderful glorious achievenent.
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SERVI CE DONATED BY MEMBERSHI P AND OTHERS ON BUI LDI NG PROGRAM

M . Edward Branks M's. Linsay

M's. Dosh Brandon M. Jess Payne

M. Hershell Brandon M. Henry Poston

M. Harry Brandon M ss Loui se Patterson
M. WIIiam Brandon M ss M nni e Page

M. Al bert Beatty Ms. Lucy Smth

M. Fred Cole M. C ayborne Robi nson
M . Robert D xon M. C arence Robi nson
M. D. Dunn M . Howard Robi nson
M. and Ms. Oral Easton M . Ernest Robi nson
M. and Ms. Nel son M. John Roberts

Ms. Marie Easton by Son M's. Enma Thornton
M. \Wheel er George M. Law ence Tayl or
M. And Ms. George Harris M. Hanlett Tayl or

M. and Ms. Scott Harris M. Roy Vivens

M. and Ms. Blaine Hurley M. and Ms. Wllett
M. VWalter Harris M ss Mary Shaffer

Al onzo Hart M ss Elva Scott

M. Emret Jones M. Aaron Wiite

M ss G acie Jones Ms. Christine Wnge

CASH DONATI ONS CHECKED THROUGH THE FAYETTE COUNTY SAVI NGS CO

Banker, Estil Smith, for Roofing and Seats $1, 000. 00
Bryson and Hays 10. 00
Ben Davi s 10. 00
Add Hays 5.00
J. M MCoy 30. 00
Evans Uphol stering Co. 5.00
Roy Conbs 2.00
John El der 2.00
Harry Pi ckering 2.50
Mar gar et Hargrave 10. 00
Frank Stutson 25. 00
Fred M Marks 10. 00
Fred Moore 10. 00
M. and Ms. Phillips 20. 00
W J. Dahl 20. 00
Dr. A M Thonmas 25. 00
Cifford Price 16. 00
Chas. Persinger 25. 00
Washi ngton M11ing Co. 25. 00
Sam Jam son 25. 00
G B. Rogine 5.00
Dai sy P. Hayes 1. 00
C.E. Marks 10. 00
Joseph H. Har per 10. 00

GW Perry 5.00



Cl ark Gossard and Co.
H. A. Link and Co.
J. W Anderson

Washi ngton Saving Bank and Trust Co.

A. Sl oan

S. M Bene

Jess W Snith

Rot hrock Laundry Co.
Lon Liggins

Emma A. Keers
Thonmpson Store
Fayette Savi ngs Bank
F. A Reichert

Mar gar et Cal vert

d enn and | da Pine
David Whitesid

C.H Moore

Charles Parrett
Craig Dry Goods Co.
M. Bennett

Larrimer Laundry Co.
Charles A. Ml on
F. G Carpenter

Edgar Snyder
Citizens Meat and Supply Co.
Pi erce Pearce

H. Bol on

Edge and Edge
Droers and Trust Co.
Geor ge Jackson

G. Hol nes

Alice Bl aksle

Sl agl e Lunmber Co.
Frank S. Jackson

J. E. Smith

W S. Teavl ee

Al bert R MCoy

P.J. Burlsi

Geor ge Robi nson
Frank Stutson and Co.
V. J. Dahl

M. WIKins

Bert Ellis

Rodecker Book Store
Rocksy Stinson
Frank Reichert

D. L. Craig

W E. Pal ner

Frank S. Jackson
Ben Jani son

. 00
15.
10.
25.
.00
. 00
10.
. 00
100.
15.
. 00
25.
25.
. 00
. 00
. 00
10.
15.
25.
. 00
10.
. 00
10.
. 00
10.
. 50
. 00
. 50
25.
25.
10.
10.
50.
25.
25.
10.
25.
50.
25.
25.
25.
. 00
. 50
.50
10.
25.
25.
25.
10.
25.

00
00
00

00

00
00

00
00

00
00
00

00

00

00

00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00

00
00
00
00
00
00

76



W E. Smth

G C R ordan
Christine Jackson
Commer ci al Bank
Dai sy Hayes

Donors Unspecified

25.
10.
10.
25.

150.

00
00
00
00
00
00
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H story of Saint Andrew s Epi scopalian Church

The first congregation of Episcopalians in Washi ngton
Court House, Fayette County, Chio was known as Trinity
M ssion, organized in Decenber of 1879. The initial worship
service was held in the home of J.M Love, Superintendent of
the Washington City Schools. Services were |ater noved to a
roomin the old county court house which stood where the Sharp
Menorial Fountain is now |l ocated on the current court house
property. That congregation di sbhanded around 1895 but was
reorgani zed in October of 1911 as Saint Andrews’ M ssion. The
first worship service was held in the GA R Hall on East
Court St. in Decenber of that year with forty-one conmuni cants
representing eighteen famly units and four single adults.

During that first year a Wonen’s QGuild was organi zed, now
known as the Episcopal Church Wonen. A Choir Quild was al so
formed. The Priest-in-charge was paid an annual sal ary of
$166.67. In 1914 the congregati on changed its neeting place
to the old YMCA, which |ater becane the WAshington Hotel on
the corner of Market and Fayette St. where the Wllis
| nsurance Agency buil di ng now st ands.

Shortly after this nove the first Sunday school was
organi zed by the | adies of the church, one of whomwas Mss
Nanni e Love who taught netal work and wood carving. She
created a hand-carved, oak table and presented it to the
church for use as an altar at the GA R hall. It now holds a
pl ace of honor in the current church building.

In 1915 Saint Andrews’ acquired a portable tin church. a
bui | di ng pl aced on | eased | and on West Market St. where the
M|stead Tire Co. now stands. In 1917 the “Tin Church” as it
was called was noved to the mlitary installation at Canp

Sherman, near Chillicothe, to serve soldiers of World War | in
training there. This Episcopal Chapel at Canp Shernman was the
first of several to be organized. M. Davis Barre served
bot h Saint Andrews’ congregation and those at Canp Sherman.
Under his | eadership the “little church on East St.” was

establ i shed near the corner of Fayette and East streets.
M ss Love's little hand-carved alter was replaced by the nore
el aborate one now used in the Sunday school roonms.

The Rev. M. WIlliamV. Mieller who |led the church from
1919 to 1922 was also the trainer of a well-known prizefighter
of the day, “Tut” Jackson who made his hone in Washi ngton Court
House. By 1923 the rector’s salary had increased to forty
dollars per nonth! During the 1930s and 40s the little
m ssion was frequently led by |lay readers, dedicated nenbers
trained for |eading worship in the absence of ordai ned clergy.
From 1952 to 1955 the Rev. M. Sandy Lindsey was assi gned as
Priest-in-Charge. During his tenure Jean Howat Di ce donated
| and and the present building on St. Rt. 41 SWwas desi gned
and built by St. Andrews’ own carpenter, Deacon Bob Lisk. A
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tinme capsule was placed in a concrete vault under the porch of
the church containing significant artifacts of the day. The
red door of the entry indicates that it is naned for a
martyred saint, St. Andrew. The inaugural service was held
Easter Sunday 1955. Several years |ater “Deacon Bob”
constructed the Rectory, a hone for the Priest and his famly.
Built next door to the church, its design conplinments that New
Engl and style architecture.

During the | eadership of the Rev. M. J. Roland Johnson
(1966-1972) the current structure was conpleted to formits
present shape of a cross. This added additional neeting roons
and office space for a growi ng congregation. The kitchen area
was extensively renodel ed and upgraded.

Long known as out standi ng cooks, St. Andrew s Epi scopal
Church Worren provided nmeals for many different civic, athletic
and soci al groups over the years as a neans of supporting
their various outreach progranms within the church, comunity
and beyond. The revival of the making and selling of “St.
Andrew s Fanmous Peanut Brittle” for the holiday season was
wel comed by the comunity in 1998 and continues to be a
popul ar fundraiser. The ECW published its first cookbook in
1962 and published a second edition in 2000, which quickly
went into a second printing.

Due to its central location within the Episcopal D ocese
of Southern Chio, St. Andrew s often hosts neetings of various
groups from ot her Episcopal churches including the Secretari at
of Sout hern Chio Episcopal Cursillo.

Over the years St. Andrews has served many. She has been
a training ground for intern Priests and Deacons and Bi shop
Doni s Dean Patterson, Bishop of the Episcopal Diocese of
Dal | as Texas 1983- 1992. The first kindergarten programin
Fayette County was begun at Saint Andrews in 1955. It later
becane a pre-school, operating until 1999. Her parish hal
has been a gathering place for Grl Scouts, Boy Scouts, 4H
cl ubs, Al coholics Anonynous, Help Anonynous, Spirit of
Christmas for Kids and numerous other community centered
endeavors. Her congregation has supported |ocal, national and
i nternational mssions, |led services at |ocal nursing homes,
made quilts and clothing for Children’s Hospital, been a
novi ng force in Hospice and Habitat for Humanity and a
supportive, caring famly for one another for over one hundred
years.

Most inportantly, under the |eadership of our current
Vi car, The Reverend Stephen Cuff, may we continue to serve and
achi eve our m ssion

“To know Jesus Christ and to make H m Known”.

Conpi |l ed and Edited by Mary Burbage and Frances Tye 2001
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H story of St. Colman’s Church

The Catholic Church in Washi ngton Court House can trace
its origins back to the visits of Father Thomas Bl ake, who was
ordained a priest on April 13, 1851. In 1852, Father Bl ake was
appoi nted resident pastor in Xenia to put spirit into the
Catholics there for the erection of a church, later to be
known as Saint Brigid s. Father Blake's zeal would not allow
himto be confined to Xenia though, and his mnistry took hi m
to many towns situated along the railroad between C ncinnat
and Xenia. From Xenia as a center, Father Bl ake attended the
m ssions of MIford, Loveland, Mrrow, Lebanon, WI m ngton,
Washi ngt on Court House, Janmestown, Spring Valley, Cedarville,
Sel ma, South Charl eston and London, all the while having the
charge of Saint Brigid in Xenia. It was Father Blake who first
visited and tried to organi ze churches in WI mngton and
Washi ngt on Court House.

According to R S. Dill's History of Fayette County,
whi ch was published in 1881, Father Bl ake first cel ebrated
Mass i n Washi ngton Court House in 1852 in a shanty occupi ed by
a M chael Flynn, who was engaged in constructing the
Cincinnati & Miuskingum Vall ey Railroad. The attendants at
t hese occasi onal Masses, which were celebrated in private
hones, were principally railroad nen, nost of whomleft the
area when the railroad was conpl eted. The foll ow ng persons
remai ned, however, and becane the pillars of the church at
that time: John Coghland, and his brother Thomas, M chae
O Garrath, Martin Brannan, John Sanders, Patrick Burke and his
nother, a M. Grady and M chael Flynn. It is recorded
el sewhere that in 1855, Father Bl ake al so celebrated Mass in
the home of a M. Harrington, but on this occasion there was
only a handful of worshippers present. In the 1856 edition of
the Catholic Directory, it specifically states that Father
Bl ake attended Catholics living in "Washi ngton, Fayette
County, Onio," as well as those living in Lebanon, London,

W I m ngton and Waynesburg. Wile these official Directories
bet ween 1857 and 1864 all continue to nention that Father

Bl ake attended Washi ngton Court House from Xenia, it is known
that Mass was cel ebrated on an irregular basis in private
homes and later on in a rented Hall from 1852 until 1866 by

ot her pastors from nearby pari shes and by traveling priests
who | earned of the few Catholic residents in this vicinity. It
was not until the fall of 1879 that a resident pastor was to
be appoi nted who would actually live in Washington Court
House.

Prior to 1857, Father Maurice Howard from Springfield
al so cel ebrated Mass here on several occasions. Father John D
Duffy, who was at the tine stationed in Grcleville, succeeded
him Father Duffy arrived in Crcleville late in 1856, and
remai ned there until his death on June 4, 1865. Father Duffy
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vi sited Washi ngton Court House regularly once a nonth,
bringing with hima choir fromGCrcleville. He first

cel ebrated Mass at M chael Flynn's house, but shortly
afterwards a place known as Hy's Hall, then just conpleted,
was engaged for church services. The earliest recorded date of
Fat her Duffy's visits to Washi ngton Court House seens to be
April 19, 1857, when the Circleville baptismal records
indicate that Father Duffy conferred baptisns here. It was
Fat her Duffy who started a subscription or fund raising drive
for the building of a church here, but he died before he had
an opportunity to collect sufficient funds to build a church.

It is recorded in Dill's History of Fayette County that
both shortly before or shortly after Father Duffy’s death,

Fat hers Bernard Evers and Daniel O Regan, D.D., both from
Lancaster, visited here on a few occasions and mnistered to
the small flock. Father Edward M Fitzgerald, the Pastor of
Saint Patrick's Church in Col unbus, was supposed to have

cel ebrated Mass here on one occasion during this period. In
Decenber of 1866, Pope Pius | X nanmed Father Fitzgerald to be
the Bishop of Little Rock, Arkansas. He was consecrated a

bi shop in Col unbus on February 3, 1867, and left for his new
post shortly thereafter.

By Septenber of 1865, Father Christopher L. Pindar had
arrived in Circleville to replace Father Duffy, who had died
on June 4 of that year. Father Pindar began visiting
Washi ngton Court House once a nonth, celebrating Mass in Ely's
Hal | but hearing confessions in John Sander's house. It was
Fat her Pindar who continued the subscription or fund raising
drive begun by Father Duffy and he built the first Catholic
Church building on Main Street, on part of lots 103-104, which
had been purchased on March 1, 1861, by Archbi shop John B.
Purcell of Cincinnati from Andrew Post for $1000.

Some very interesting correspondence has been located in
the Archives of the Archdi ocese of Cincinnati concerning the
building of this first Catholic Church in Washi ngton Court
House. It must be renenbered that Father Pindar was stationed
in Crcleville throughout this entire period. On April 25,
1866, he wote to Archbishop Purcell: "I expect that within a
nont h, the corner stone can be laid to the new church in
Washi ngton. Wth God's assistance, | shall conplete it
entirely before the winter." According to the Catholic
Tel egraph of May 29, 1866, "The corner-stone of the Church of
Qur Lady of the Assunption was bl essed and pl aced on Tuesday,
the 29th of May (1866), by Archbishop Purcell, attended by the
pastor, Reverend Christopher Pindar and Reverend J. B
O Donoghue (of MIford) in Washi ngton, Fayette County, OChio.
The attendance of citizens was quite respectable, and the
i nterest mani fested in the cerenonies, and the Archbi shop's
di scourse, very creditable to their intelligence and desire of
knowi ng nore of the old church foundation. The work progresses
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and the zeal ous pastor hopes to have it ready for use in
Septenber. We beg here to express obligations to the
hospitable fam lies Dahl, Sanders and Meyer. There is a hal
rented for Catholic service in the town, but in this instance,
Mass was cel ebrated in M. Sanders' residence, and a few
persons received the Holy Conmuni on, as an opportunity had
been afforded to all to nake their Easter (duty) previously."

On June 5, 1866, Father Pindar wwote to Archbi shop
Purcell: "M . Sanders has coll ected already $300 anong the
Protestants of Washington. | have ordered a confessional to be
made. The reasons why | had none so far at Washington are: 1)
because | consider it not a regular station, 2) because Father
Duf fy never had one there, 3) because | had no nobney to get
one." Father Pindar inforned the Archbi shop on August 29,
1866: "The church at Washington will be under roof this week.
| hope to have it ready for Divine Service in about a nonth.
Finally, on Septenber 5, 1866, Father Pindar sent this nessage
to Archbishop Purcell: "As the hall at Washington is in a
situation entirely unbecom ng the dignity of the August
Mysteries, | would like to celebrate in the new church the
next time | go there, the last Sunday of this nonth. W have
only the table accommpdated for an altar till next year. W
could only have the floor put in, and have it plastered this
year. | now desire Your Grace's opinion, whether | can say
Mass in the church before it is dedicated, or whether it is
better to performthe cerenonies of the Ritual beforehand. |
woul d i ke, in case Your Grace should dedicate it, to have it
in a nore advanced and perfect condition, which could hardly
be this year. The church, however, as it is, is the only
decent place in Washington for celebration.”

According to one report, Mass was celebrated in this
church once a nonth, but no records could be found to
determine if the Archbishop of Cincinnati ever returned to
sol emmly dedi cate the building. The final page of this chapter
of history was witten on May 11, 1868, when Fat her Pi ndar
submtted his resignation fromthe pastorate of the Washi ngton
congregation to Archbi shop Purcell

A birds-eye view map of Washi ngton Court House drawn in
1867 whi ch shows every house and building in the towm at that
time indicates a building identified only as "Catholic Church"
occupying the block on the west side of North Main Street,

i medi ately south of Paint Street. This is the present site of
t he Rodgers Chapel AME Church, 325 North Main Street. The two
sidewal | s and front wall of this present structure are from
the original Catholic Church building erected on that site in
1866. The present congregation of this church tore down the
rear wall and expanded the size of the church sonme years ago,
but the sidewalls and front wall are fromthe original, with
some i nprovenents being made in the brickwork. It should be
noted that the original Catholic Church in Washi ngton Court
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House was officially known as the Church of Qur Lady of the
Assunption, or nore commonly called "Saint Mary's." At the
time this church was erected, the popul ati on of Vdshi ngton
Court House was around 2200.

Sadlier's Catholic Directory, Al manac & Ordo for 1870
i ndi cates that Reverend John B. O Donoghue attended the Church
at Washi ngton Court House from Morrow fol |l owi ng the
resignation of Father Pindar. Father O Donoghue visited here
regul arly once each nonth, while residing in Mdirrow. About six
mont hs after Father O Donoghue's appoi ntnent, he proposed to
the congregation the building of a |arger place of worship
since the congregation had increased to such an extent as to
make this inperative.

A picnic was held for the purpose of raising noney to
build a larger church. A gol d headed cane was awarded to the
nost popular man in the county; the contest being decided by
votes at ten cents each. An Irish poplin dress was awarded to
the nost popular lady in the sanme way and the contest began.

It was a sharp but good-natured one; the cane being awarded to
M. James Ely, with Judge McLean a cl ose second. Ms. John
Meyer secured the dress by a small margin from Ms. Jacob
Dahl . The pl an succeeded beyond all expectations of Father

O Donoghue, and the two contests al one netted about $1000. The
picnic netted over $1700 for the building fund.

After the picnic a neeting of the congregation was held
in the church and it was unani nously agreed to purchase a pl ot
of ground on Fayette Street. On February 2, 1870, Father
O Donoghue purchased |ot 8, the present |ocation of the police
and fire stations on Fayette Street, fromWIIliamH Bl akenore
and his wife Any for $3000. For some un-known reason, the
majority of the congregation did not prefer this |ocation and
so after a good deal of wangling, Father O Donoghue
i mredi ately began selling off parts of |lot 8 and began | ooking
for a new location. It is interesting to note that Father
O Donoghue sold a part of lot 8 to The Incorporated Village of
Washi ngt on on August 20, 1872, for $2300. Al of the Fayette
Street property had been di sposed of by November of 1874.

On COctober 24, 1871, Father O Donoghue purchased three
and five-eights acres of |and from Judge Daniel MLean for
$1093. This land was adjoining a plot of ground obtained
earlier for cenetery purposes east of town, on what is now
East El m Street, which was then outside the corporation
limts, near the G ncinnati & Miuski ngum Valley Railroad. On
this newly purchased property a substantial two story brick
church building, forty by sixty-two feet, was erected.

In aletter witten by Father O Donoghue to Archbi shop
Purcel |l dated April 11, 1872, we find sonme interesting details
concerni ng the background for the construction of this church
as well as the disposition of the first church on Main Street.
Fat her O Donoghue writes: "At Washi ngton we have now two
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churches. You may recollect | did sonme years ago (1866)
acconpany you there to lay the corner stone of a church

al t hough I never approved of the lot or |ocation when a nore
sui tabl e one could be had then for nmuch cheaper prices than

now. Still, | hoped there could be a church, not only built
but paid for - to answer the wants of the poor people who were
so long without one - trusting to a rickety Hall. | dwelt on

this in your own hearing at the time. The church was built,
partly rebuilt, and was subsequently for sale. You wote ne
to take charge of the church and congregation and pay the
debts. So when | visited the place, heard the peopl es side,
and of the pending and urgent debts - what it should cost to
finish the church and otherw se inprove as required, | then
told them let it be sold, I would build another. Still it

m ght have answered for years - if the debts could be paid
(nost have al ready been), but there was another matter that |
could not |lose sight of - it was as | had known for years the
great sacrifices the poor people at and about Washi ngton nade
in behalf of their deceased friends - taking the remains

di stances of 40 and 60 miles - often to the City - at a cost
of from$40 to $100. | was now bound to renmenber such faith
and appreciate it and after some difficulty |I procured a nost
eligible piece of ground within the Iimted resources of the
congregation for a burying place - on a part of it | had built
the foundation of the new church while you were in Rone | ast
year. | had the bricks fired, put up the walls and had it
roofed before winter. | may say it is half built or finished -
a good substantial structure - larger than the WI m ngton
Church. The opening is still left for you to bless the corner
stone, but even if necessary | mght prepare for the tine
being for Mass but we still have the first or old church
awai ti ng your approbation for the disposal of it."

On March 3, 1873, Father John O Donoghue sold the old
church buil ding and property on Main Street to the Trustees of
the African ME Church for $2000. Some say that a M. David
Rodgers donated $1000 for the purchase and so the new church
Rodger s Chapel AME Church, received its name from him

As it turned out, the new church built in the cenetery
was too far distant fromthe central part of town and was only
accessible by taking the railroad, as Elm Street did not then
exi st. When Archbi shop Purcell cane to officiate at the |aying
of the corner stone, he had to be taken to the church on a
handcar because there were no streets in that vicinity.

Hi story does not record precisely when or why or upon
whose authority the name of the new church was changed from
Qur Lady of the Assunption, or as it was conmonly known, Sai nt
Mary's, to Saint Colman. The earliest indication of the church
being called Saint Colman is found in the baptismal records
dating from August of 1880, during the pastorate of Father
M chael O Donoghue. According to one source, which cannot be
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verified, the new church was given the nane of Saint Colman in
recognition of the mgration of so many people of Irish
descent to the Washington Court House area. It is interesting
to note, however, that the convent, which the Qur Lady of
Victory Mssionary Sisters opened here in 1950, was call ed
Saint Mary of the Assunption Convent.

In the fall of 1879, Father John M Fel dman succeeded
Fat her O Donoghue. Father Feldman was the first resident
pastor of the parish and fromthis date Saint Col man Church
began a new phase of its history as a distinct parish rather
than being a m ssion or station of some other church, as had
been the situation previously. Wth the arrival of a resident
pastor, the pressing problembecane finding a suitable
residence for him In 1879 a fair was held, which was attended
| argely by Protestants, and $1700 was rai sed towards
purchasing a residence for the pastor. These fairs were very
popul ar in the early days and nuch noney was raised in this
manner .

Fat her Fel dman t hought the church was | ocated in the
wrong place and he advi sed the congregation to build a church
and pastoral residence in the center of town. A committee was
appointed to select a site but the |ocation agreed upon by
them did not neet with Father Feldman's approval, who
preferred a | ocation across the creek. The plot sel ected by
Fat her Fel dnan had a | arge roony house situated upon it, which
afforded hima tenporary chapel where he coul d cel ebrate Mass
during the week, thereby avoiding the inconveni ence of
traveling to the cenetery church except on Sunday. The exact
| ocation of this first pastoral residence has not been
det er m ned.

In July of 1880, Father Feldman was transferred and
Fat her M chael O Donoghue, who had previously been stationed
in Hllsboro, was sent to replace himon July 18. Father
O Donoghue, like his predecessor, thought the church in the
cenetery was too far fromthe center of town. He favored a
site near the first church on Main Street. On Cctober 19,

1880, Bishop WIlliamH Elder, then the Coadjutor to the
Archbi shop of GCincinnati, was invited to come to WAshi ngton
Court House after having adm nistered Confirmation in South
Charl eston, to approve of a site for a new church. Wen the

Bi shop arrived on that day, he too did not approve of a church
in the cenetery, thinking the church was too far fromtown. He
remarked at the tinme that it is nore convenient for the
country folks to attend services in the town than it is for
the town people to attend in the country.

Bi shop Elder finally agreed to approve the purchase of
the I and where the church is presently |ocated, on the corner
of East and North Streets, but only on the foll ow ng
conditions: that within ten days $1300 shoul d be collected and
added to the $1700 then in the bank which had been realized
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fromthe fair the year before. That woul d make a paynent of
$3000 on the property about to be purchased, |eaving a bal ance
of $1000 as a debt to be paid off in tine.

At precisely this point in the history of Saint Col man
parish, the reality of "Lay Trusteeism raised its head! On
Novenber 1, 1880, Barney Kelley, Cornelius Snyth, Martin
Berry, Patrick Burk and John Hartman, as Trustees for the
Sai nt Col man Congregation of the Roman Catholic Church of
Washi ngt on Court House, OChio, purchased on their own
initiative and in their own nanes part of Qut Lot 27, on the
corner of East and North Streets, fromF. L. N tter house and
his wife Mary, for $4000. Thereupon began an inpassi oned
correspondence between Fat her O Donoghue and Bi shop El der, in
whi ch Fat her O Donoghue clearly indicated the conditions
existing with a "Conmttee" in Washington Court House and his
personal trials and tribulations with themat that tine. He
pointed out the illegality of the Trustees purchasing this
property in their own nanes, even going so far as to w thdraw
funds belonging to the Church fromthe | ocal bank w thout the
pastor's perm ssion. He states in a letter dated February 26,
1881: "CQur good people here ook on this act as worse than
uncat holic.” Another continuing problemwas the failure or
inability of the Committee to provide and furnish a suitable
pastoral residence. In the letter nmentioned above, Father
O Donoghue spoke of "being kept an unwi | ling occupant of M.
Kelly's house." He suggested at one point getting lodging in
the public hotel or going to stay with his neighboring brother
priests in Dayton or Mrrow and just returning to Washi ngton
Court House on Saturdays for his Sunday duties. Father
O Donoghue frequently mentioned that the Commttee failed to
pay his salary or neet the other incidental expenses of the
Church. He stated that the Cormittee told himthey would "run
the affairs” and all he had to do was provide Mass every
Sunday. Father O Donoghue concl uded that the congregation was
not | arge enough to neet the requirenments of a priest’s
support. He felt that the church i ncone per year could
scarcely reach $300. By his own accounting, the total church
revenue from pew rents and penny collections fromJuly 18,
1870 to February 26, 1881 anpunted to only $201. These were
indeed difficult times to be contenplating the construction of
a new church buil di ng.

Froma letter of Father O Donoghue dated February 26,
1881, it is learned that Bishop El der had placed New Hol | and
as a mssion of Saint Colman two nonths earlier. He cel ebrated
Mass there on the | ast Sunday of every nonth and reported that
there were eighteen fanmlies and a few single nmen in that
m ssi on.

Fat her Jeremi ah A. Murray becane the pastor of Saint
Col man Church early in 1883 and with him began the work of
constructing the new church on the corner of East and North
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Streets. He held a fair and a gol d headed cane was contested
for by Doctors Coffnman and Foster. The contest not only
provided a financial aid to the building fund but also created
much anusenent for all concerned. Dr. Coffrman declared in a
good-natured manner that if the Irish did not stick with him
he woul d never treat any of them again. He won the cane but
the margi n was a narrow one.

After the fair Father Murray began the construction of
the church with a local resident, M. Edwin Bird as the
architect. The work on the building pushed rapidly forward and
on Monday, Septenber 7, 1885, the building was under roof and
Father Murray went to Cincinnati to check on the church
Wi ndows.

On Tuesday, Septenber 8, 1885, Washi ngton Court House was
partially destroyed by a cyclone. Six persons were killed, a
conparatively small nunber injured; the |loss of property was
estimated to be nearly $500,000. At about five or ten m nutes
past eight in the evening, the entire western, southern and
central portions of the city were swept by the storm and
within that area, which included the business section of the
town, very few houses escaped damage, while nmany were totally
destroyed, and the najority were nore or |ess seriously
damaged. In the brief space of a nonent the work and
accumul ati ons of years were undone and swept away. The church
in the cenetery was denolished with the exception of an
archway, which stood in ruins for many years; only the bel
tower of the church on East and North Streets remained
st andi ng.

One of the narrow escapes was that of the Reverend John
B. Steptoe, pastor of the Second Baptist Church, who was known
as "Canpneeting John" over on Sunnyside. He had sought shelter
in the tower of Saint Col man Church and was inside it, engaged
in prayer at the nonent of its destruction. The following is
Reverend Steptoe's account of the event, as recorded in Henry
Howe's Historical Collections of Chio, Volune |, published in
1898: "I was going honme froma prayer neeting at the Second
Bapti st Church, of which |I was pastor, and the skies above ne
seened angry and threatening. As the |ightening above ne woul d
flash every nmoment | noticed clouds of different kinds and
colors, dark and angry, red, pale and an inky bl ue.

"Then a kind of warm somet hing passed by nme. At this tine
| was a few rods fromthe Catholic church when balls of hail
commenced to fall around nme, and way above ny head in the air
it appeared that sonmething |ike |arge whips and guns were
firing and cracking. | turned back in search of a place of
refuge, but | could not get any farther than the Catholic
Church. There | stood in the tower, and in a qui et manner
t hought | was praying ny last prayer. | did not nmake a noi se,
but | prayed in secret.
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"Just across the street stood the First Baptist church,
when sonething like a big slap struck it and it fell; then
with two crashes the Catholic church fell, all except the
tower, in which | was standing and praying; but the Catholic
church went down so easy, as it appeared to ne, that | thought
it was only a breach or two in the wall, for where | was
standing | could not see the main building. | had my unbrella
in ny hand and the top part of the stick was broken off and
carried away; ny hat was al so taken off ny head. | have never
found it. My lantern was burning in ny right hand and did not
go out. | don't suppose the cyclone |asted over two or three
mnutes, but it was a long tine to ne.

According to one story, when the storm passed Reverend
St ept oe went back up town and speaki ng of the great
destruction of property said the Baptist church was down for
he saw the walls fall, but he told everyone the Catholic
church was all right because he had taken refuge in its tower
and remained there until the stormwas over. On his way back
hone again, he passed the Catholic Church and was astoni shed
to see that nothing but the bell tower remmined standing - al
the rest was down and could only have fallen while he was
i nside the tower!

The Chio State Register, published in Washington Court
House, in its account of the stormstated: "Saint Col man's,
however, suffers the nost. They |l ose their old church near the
cenetery. Their new church, at the corner of North and East
Streets, is ruined, fromthe foundation up. The tower and
spire are still standing, but cracked and danmaged, and are
t hought to be unsafe. This was the largest church building in
town, and was decidedly the nost costly and the finest. The
congregation suffers twice as much | oss as any other."

The Fayette County Heral d of Sunday, Septenber 13, 1885
stated: "The roof of the Catholic rectory is gone and the fine
church being erected by the Saint Col man congregation had its
wall's torn down; the tower, a very tall one, remains standing,
but is probably so badly shaken as to necessitate rebuilding."

When Father Murray returned from Cincinnati and found the
church in ruins, he appealed to Archbishop Elder for help. In
a letter dated Septenber 9, 1885, he wote: "A cyclone swept
t hrough this place about eight o'clock |ast night which
conpl etely destroyed both our churches, the old one and the
new. W are left now without a church at a tinme when the
congregation had exhausted all the neans at its disposal to
put up the new building that we thought so badly needed. It
will take us to our utnost to pay for what has been done, and
still we are without a place in which the Holy Sacrifice can
be offered. W recognize in this the hand of God, and hunbly
accept the chastisenment as com ng fromH m who doeth al
things well. Many of the houses of our people are totally
wrecked and they are today housel ess and honel ess. The outl ook
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is nost discouraging and | scarcely know what to do. | ask
you, Most Reverend Dear Archbi shop, in the nane of this people
whose generosity | know so well, as our spiritual father to
come to our assistance in sore need. | know the deeply
affectionate feeling you have for all the souls committed to
your care, and that is the reason | make so bold as to make
this appeal.” The Archbi shop responded in a tel egramthe next
day that the people should have courage; he would do all that
he coul d. Included was a check for $200.

On Septenber 10, 1885, Father Murray wote again to the
Archbi shop: "Several priests have been here and | have
recei ved tel egrams of synmpathy fromothers, and all offer to
do anything in their power to assist us in our distressing
need. It has been suggested that if a collection throughout
t he di ocese were reconmended by the Archbi shop, that the
response could be generous. It has al so been suggested that it
woul d be well if this were done as soon as possible. The
nature of the calamty is so unusual and the circunstances of
the congregati on so peculiar that | thought nmuch practica
synpat hy could be offered us. The church destroyed was the
third one built by this congregation, and they had strained
t hensel ves to the utnost to pay for what had been done. The
calam ty overtook us when were financially exhausted, and |eft
us without a church or the neans to build one. It has also
been suggested that it would be well to nake a statenent of
our condition public through the Catholic papers of the
country over the signature of the pastor with the approval of
t he Archbi shop, and that sone help m ght be reached in that
way. WIIl you please wite and let nme know if | can use your

nane in meking such an appeal. | wote Dr. Meller
acknow edgi ng the receipt of the $200 you so kindly sent me. |
hope that you will not consider this letter out of place as |

am anxious to do all that | can to renedy the terrible
calamty, with which it has seenmed good to Providence to
afflict us."

In the Septenmber 17, 1885 issue of the Catholic
Tel egraph, the di ocesan newspaper of Cincinnati, the follow ng
announcement was nmade: "By direction of the Archbishop, a
collection is to be taken up in the churches throughout the
D ocese next Sunday, in aid of the congregation at Washi ngton
Court House, this State, whose new and beautiful church
al nost conpl eted, was destroyed by the |late cyclone.”

The next week's issue of the Catholic Tel egraph, dated
Sept enber 24, 1885, contained this statenent froma circul ar
| etter Archbi shop Elder sent to the priests of Vie
Archdi ocese: "For three years past the Catholics of the town
and congregation have been applying all the nmeans they could
di spose of to obtain for thenselves a suitable church. Their
nei ghbors (not Catholics) have contributed liberally. Wth
great efforts, they had succeeded in erecting this building,
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not ostentatious nor excessive in cost, but still of
architecture becom ng the House of God, so that it elicited
the comrendation of all who sawit, and it was admred by al
the citizens as an ornanent and a credit to the town.

"I't has now been totally denolished to within a few feet
of the ground. The tower only is standing; and it is not yet
ascertai ned whet her the damage done to it will require its
bei ng taken down.

"They had a church outside of the town too far for
practical use, but that |ikew se has been totally destroyed by
the cycl one. Consequently they have no pl ace whatever to serve
them as a church. Even the large halls in town, which they
m ght have used tenporarily, have been destroyed. "The
congregation is a small one. Their resources have been
exhausted in the erecting of this new church.”

Fat her Murray concluded the appeal with a statenent of
his owm: "Thus it will be seen that after all our hard
endeavors we are left without a building in which the Holy
Sacrifice can be offered. Not only that, but we are in debt
for the new building which was destroyed. In these distressing
circunstances | have taken the liberty to appeal, in the nane
of a stricken congregation, to the charity of the faithful
t hroughout the country for help in our greatest need. Any sum
no matter how small, will be thankfully received, and Al m ghty
God will surely reward the giver.”

The Cctober 8, 1885 issue of the Catholic Tel egraph
stated: "It is estimated that Father Miurray has received, by
this time, nearly if not altogether $3000 from collection: in
aid of his church recently destroyed by a cyclone. He expects
to receive at |east $500 - $600 nore."

In the financial statenent Father Murray prepared for the
period January 11 1885 to January 11 1886, sone interesting
facts can be found. During that period there were 60 famlies
bel onging to the congregation, of which 40 rent seats. There
were eight infant baptisnms that year. Receipts from
subscriptions anbunted to $2247. Contributions to rebuild the
church destroyed by the cycl one total ed $4110.39 from al
out si de sources The expenses paid on the new church buil di ng
before its destruction were $5368.44; rebuilding costs for the
rest of the year after the cyclone anmbunted to $3745. 50.

The work of reconstruction began i medi ately. According
to an article in the Catholic Tel egraph, a certain Thonas
Wal sh, Esq. of Chillicothe, delivered a | ecture on Dani el
O Connell in Saint Colman's Church on February 14, 1886. The
March 11, 1886 issue of the newspaper went on to state: "This
is the church that was bl own down by a cycl one on Septenber 8.
Wth the help of the contributions that were received, the
energetic pastor, Father Miurray, rushed the work of repairing
t he damages, and by the begi nning of Decenber (1885) the
congregation was able to worship in the new building. Wen the

90



church is plastered and altogether finished, a marbl e tablet
will be inserted in the tower, comenorating the disaster, and
containing a list of the contributions made by churches and

ot her principal benefactors.” This nust refer to the stone
trefoil above the wi ndows on East Street, which bears the
scriptural inscription: "The Lord's ways are in a tenpest and
a whirlwnd."

In Septenber 1886, Father Murray wrote to Archbhi shop
El der about plastering the church at a cost of $1000 and to
purchase 48 church pews at a cost of $275. He al so indicated
that other work necessary to finish the building mght anount
to anot her $200 or $300. O her rebuilding expenses that year
were $787.33 for a new foundation. Receipt from subscriptions
during the year January 1, 1886 to January 1, 1887 only
anounted to $95. During that year there were 55 English
famlies and 5 Gernman famlies listed, with the baptism of 17
i nfants.

Fat her Edward P. Hi ckey succeeded Father Murray late in
1887. He paid off the |last $1000 indebtedness, began to
i nprove the cenetery plat and nmade ot her nuch needed
i nprovenents. Archbi shop El der returned to Washi ngton Court
House on Septenber 26, 1888 to dedicate the new church, which
seated 185 people. On this occasion he conferred the Sacranent
of Confirmation on 12 boys, 14 girls and 6 adults.

In Cctober of 1889, Father Adolph F. Sourd arrived to
succeed Father Hickey. He continued the cenetery inprovenents,
whi ch were begun by Father Hickey and laid the ground out in
| ots. He purchased the i mense bell weighing 2500 pounds and
had it placed in the church tower. Wen Father Sourd arrived
i n Washi ngton Court House, the rectory was a very old
structure situated against the rear of the church. On April 4,
1894 Father Sourd purchased from Thomas H. and Lida Craig part
of Qut Lot 27 which contained the residence at 219 South North
Street. This was to becone the rectory and would remain as
such until January of 1976. Father Sourd paid $3200 for the
| ot and residence upon it. In 1895 Father Sourd installed
steam heat in the church and in 1896 he installed the stained
gl ass wi ndows, which were donated by private individuals and
the sodalities then connected with the parish. According to
one account, Father Sourd left the parish entirely free from
debt when he was transferred sonmetine after the end of
Novenber 1899.

Fat her Cornelius Scollen spent the early nonths of 1900
at Saint Colman's, but by April of 1900, Father M chael J.
Kelly had arrived as the new pastor. During Father Kelly's
adm ni stration, the church was ornately painted with two | arge
angels on the wall above the altar and a banner saying, "God
is Love." Father Kelly died Novenber 13, 1904. According to
the account of his funeral in the Novenber 17, 1904 issue of
the | ocal newspaper, "Mst of the business houses in the city
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had been cl osed, and representative business nen took their

pl aces anong the steady stream of people entering the church
The different religious denom nations were represented by
their clergynen, and the assenbly was one which testified
beyond words to the esteemin which Father Kelly had been held
in the comunity."” Father Kelly was buried in Saint Col man
Cenetery.

On Decenber 17, 1904, Father Francis P. Quinn was
appoi nted pastor and he remai ned here until August 2, 1908.
Fat her Thomas E. Fogarty was sent as pastor on August 2, 1908,
and he was to remain here for the next thirty-three years
until his death on February 24, 1941. There is an indication
in the Hoffmann's Catholic Directory for the year’s 1916-1918
t hat New Hol | and once again became a nission of Saint Col man.
The mission there was named Saint Thomas. According to this
same Directory, in 1914 there were 85 famlies in the
congregation at Washi ngton Court House. The Directory of 1919
no longer listed New Holland as a m ssion of Saint Col man.

In the interimbetween Father Fogarty's death and the
appoi ntment of a new pastor, Father Bernard F. Kuhl man and
Fat her George Kuntz adm ni stered the parish, the church
sacranental records indicate that Father Kuhl man w tnessed one
marriage during that period and Father Kuntz baptized one
i nfant, being Hel en Ducey the daughter of J. Edwi n Ducey and
Joyce Bishop. This baptismtook place on July 13, 1941.

On Septenber 1, 1941, Father Raphael D. Rodgers arrived
as the new pastor. During his admnistration the church was
once again redecorated and synbols of the seven sacranents
were painted on the sanctuary wall above the altar. He al so
saw to the construction of the stone garage behind the forner
rectory. During his tenure as pastor a new di ocese in Ohio was
erected in Steubenville and a docunment issued in Rone on
Oct ober 21, 1944 announced the renoval of Hardin, Mrion,

Uni on, Madi son and Fayette counties and parts of Pickaway,
Ross, Pike and Scioto counties fromthe jurisdiction of the
Archbi shop of Cincinnati and placed these counties under the
adm ni stration of the Bishop of Colunbus. This realignment of
di ocesan boundaries was made public on Novenber 15, 1944. The
territory taken fromthe Archdi ocese of G ncinnati and given
to the Diocese of Col unbus included 10 parishes and 7

m ssions. And so Saint Col man parish becane a part of the

Di ocese of Colunbus after its birth and al nost hundred-year
history in the Archdi ocese of Cincinnati. At the tine of the
transfer there were 81 famlies in the parish, which nunbered
some 275 souls. Church receipts at Saint Colnman in 1944 were
$6483. 31 with $14,500 of surplus funds invested el sewhere.

Fat her Rodgers was transferred in Novenber of 1945 and for the
next two nmonths Father James T. Banahan served the needs of
the parishioners until a new pastor was appoi nt ed.
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In January of 1946, Father OQto F. Guenther was appointed
pastor. In Novenber of 1951 a canpai gn was undertaken for
enlarging the church, thereby providing additional seating
capacity, as well as roons for catechetical instruction and a
parish hall. It was hoped to enlarge the church's seating
capacity from 185 to 240 by extending the church and buil di ng
a new sanctuary. A goal of $100,000 was set of which $50, 000
was already on hand as a gift froma former parishioner
M chael Mulvehill. The actual solicitation anong Sai nt Col nan
pari shioners got under way with the ringing of the church bel
at exactly 6pm on Sunday, Decenber 2, 1951. Mre than $31, 000
was pl edged to the canpaign in the first two days.

Fat her Guenther was instrumental in obtaining the
services of the Qur Lady of Victory Mssionary Sisters,
sonetines called Victory Noll Sisters, from Huntington
| ndi ana, to cone here to teach the children catechi smand
visit the parishioners. The Sisters also cared for the
sanctuary and sacristy and al so worked with the choir. A hone
for them was purchased at 223 East Street (the present
rectory), next door to the church and the m ssion of the
Sisters was officially opened on August 25, 1950, with the
arrival of Mdther Catherine, Sister Mary Patrick, Sister Mary
Ruth and Sister Mary Carolyn. Bishop Mchael J. Ready
celebrated the first Mass in the new convent chapel on
Sept enber 28, 1950. The convent was known as Saint Mary of the
Assunption, the nane given to the first church erected in
Washi ngton Court House, Cl asses for adult teacher training
were begun in the fall of 1966 and the Victory Noll Sisters
officially closed their m ssion here on May 19, 1967. During
the years between 1950 and 1967, 25 different Victory Noll
Sisters were m ssioned here.

Fat her Guenther was admitted to Mount Carnel Hospital in
Col unbus on Decenber 21, 1951, from where he never returned to
Sai nt Col man as pastor. Father John W Linnehan was sent here
to adm nister the parish while Father Guenther remained in the
hospital, where he died February 9, 1952. Father Linnehan
remai ned on as admini strator follow ng Father Guenther's death
until June of 1952, when Father John P. Tague assuned this
responsibility.

The Sever-W | ianms Conpany began construction on the
addition in June of 1952. On July 15, 1952, Father Richard J.
Connel | y was appoi nted pastor. When Father Connelly arrived in
Washi ngton Court House work had progressed to the point where
the old frane building situated agai nst the rear of the
church, which had served as a sacristy, classroons and neeting
room and much earlier as the rectory, had already been torn
down. The rear church wall had been renpved and a tenporary
structure substituted, and the altar fromthe Sisters' convent
chapel was being used in the church. The old altar had been
di smant|l ed and was stored in the garage. Father Guenther's

93



original plans for enlarging the church were al nost doubl ed by
Fat her Connelly, working with M. A F. Tynan, the architect,
and the seating capacity of the church was increased fromthe
projected 240 to 350 to care for the increased size of the
congregation. Under Father Connelly's direction, a new altar
and canopy above the altar of Appa achian red oak were
secured; a seven foot cross with a five foot hand carved
corpus was obtained froman Italian scul ptor at Pietra Sancta,
a town near Ronme. New lights and pews were installed in the
church, with tile placed underneath the pews and in the
aisles. Carpet was laid in the sanctuary and an iron grate was
pl aced around the baptistry. A steel beam was installed under
the choir loft to give it additional support. The total cost
of the building project was approxi mately $220,000. The first
Mass to be celebrated in the newy enlarged church and
sanctuary was on Novenber 1, 1953. Bishop Mchael J. Ready
celebrated a Pontifical Mass of dedication in the church on
Sunday, Decenber 6, 1953.

A nortgage-burning party and dinner at the Country C ub
was held on Cctober 12, 1955 to cel ebrate the successful
conpl etion of a fund raising canpai gn, which paid off the debt
on the enlarged church. Father Connelly remai ned as pastor
until his retirenment in January of 1976.

On January 29, 1976, Father David E. Petry arrived at
Sai nt Col man parish to assune the responsibilities of being
its new pastor. The influence of Religious working in and for
Sai nt Col man parish returned in August of 1976 when Sister
Hel en Ducey, a Sister of Charity of G ncinnati, Chio, returned
to her home parish to assune the position of Director of
Rel i gi ous Educati on.

The total Catholic population of Saint Col man pari sh,
whi ch includes all of Fayette County, is estimated to be 1047
souls. During Cctober of 1977, an average of 591 persons
attended Mass every weekend and an average of 385 persons
recei ved Conmuni on every weekend.

St. Col man Pari sh
Faith In Action
A Chronol ogi cal Hi story 1885-2000

1852- Fat her Thonmas Bl ake of Xenia visits Washi ngt on Court
House and cel ebrates the first Mass in a railroad
shanty.

1866- The cornerstone is laid for what will becone the

first Catholic Church in Washi ngton Court House.
This church, located at North Main Street, was
officially knowmn as the Church of Qur Lady of
Assunption, or nore conmopnly, "Saint Mary's."
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1871-

1883-

1885-

1889-

1900-

1916-

1941-

1944-

1950-

Over three acres of |and was purchased on what is
now East Elm Street for use as a cenetery. Later a
two-story brick church was erected. The new church
was given the nanme of Saint Colman in recognition of
the many people of Irish descent in Washi ngton Court
House.

Wrk began on a new church on the present site at
the corner of East and North Streets.

By Septenber 7, the new church was al nost conpl et ed.
On Septenber 8, Washington Court House was partially
destroyed by a tornado. The church in the cenetery
was denol i shed and only the bell tower of the new
church remai ned standi ng. Reconstruction began

i medi ately and by Decenber, the congregation
wor shi pped in a new building. A marble tablet was
inserted in the bell tower to commenorate the

di saster. The stone trefoil above the w ndows on
East Street can still be seen today. It reads, "The
Lord's ways are in a tenpest and whirlw nd."

An i mense bell weighing 2,500 pounds was purchased
and placed in the bell tower. Steam heat and

stai ned gl ass windows were installed in the church,
the house 219 S. North St. was purchased to be cone
the rectory.

Fat her M chael J. Kelly arrived as new pastor. After
his death in 1904, he was buried in St. Col man
cenmetery and is the only pastor to be buried there.

The ruins of the church in the cenetery, |eft

standi ng since 1885, were renoved. A stone nonunent
was erected to mark the site.

The church was redecorated and synbols of the seven
sacranments were painted on the sanctuary wall above
the altar. A stone building was constructed behind
the former rectory for use by the C.C. D. and youth
progr ans.

After an al nost one hundred year history as part of
the Archdi ocese of Cincinnati, St. Col man becane a
part of the diocese of Colunmbus. At this tine,
there were 81 families registered with the parish.

The mi ssion of the Qur Lady of Victory M ssionary
Sisters, sonetines called the Victory Noll Sisters,
was opened with the arrival of Mther Catherine,
Sister Mary Patrick, Sister Mary Ruth, and Sister
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1952-

1976-

1979-

1983-

1985-1990

1994-1996

Mary Carolyn. Their convent was |later to becone the
present rectory. Their mssion closed in 1967.

Construction on the new addition to the church had
begun when Father Richard J. Connelly was appointed
pastor. Father decided to al nost doubl e the
original plans. Added were a new altar and canopy
of Appal achian red oak, and seating for 350. A
seven-foot cross was obtained froman Italian

scul ptor. New |lights and pews were installed, along
with carpet in the sanctuary. A steel beam was
installed to give the choir |oft additional support.
The total cost of renovations was $220, 000.

Fat her Connelly retired and Father David E. Petry
assuned pastoral responsibilities. During Father
Petry's tenure, the former convent on East Street
was renovated for use as the rectory and the Parish
Counci | was established.

Fat her Bernard McCOory joins St. Col man as pastor.
He pl aced speci al enphasis on Evangelization and
Ecunmenism as well as the R C. I. A program Bingo
was organi zed.

Father McClory is reassigned and Fat her Jerone
Rai ser was wel coned as pastor. Sister Nancy Anes
also joined the St. Colman fanmly this year, as
associ ate pastor and director of religious
educati on.

To hel p celebrate the 100th anniversary of St.

Col man church, a Centennial Commttee was forned.
This conm ttee sponsored nunerous special events,
such as a picnic, carnival, an ice creamsocial, and
sal es of comenorative plates and cookbooks. Bi shop
Giffin of Colunbus cel ebrated the Centennial Mss,
on Septenber 8, 1985. This date was chosen since it
was the 100th anniversary of the destruction of the
original church

Usi ng Di ocesan gui del i nes, Father Raiser allowed the
Pari sh Council nore authority to nake deci sions
regarding the parish. Al so created was an Executive
Council, dramatically shifting nmany adm nistrative
responsibilities to the laity. Two major service
activities were undertaken. The food booths at the
Fayette County fair, and the Scarecrow Festi val
refreshed parish unity while creating i ncone for

96



1997-1999

2000-

capitol inprovenments. Deacon WIIliam Walen joins
Fat her Raiser on the pastoral staff.

A Future Staffing commttee was established with St.
Joseph's parish in Grcleville. This was in
response to the report that both parishes may one
day need to share one pastor. For various reasons,
bot h Bingo and the second Mass on Sunday were
elimnated. Mg or cenetery renovations begun in
1990 were conpleted. Two highlights of these

i nprovenments were the new entrance, designed by M ke
Armstrong, and the building of a grotto, initiated
by Ron Burkhart.

August 14, 1999 after several years of prayerful

pl anning, Bishop Giffin dedicated the new Parish
Center. In excess of 250 parishioners attended the
dedi cati on and picnic.

The approximately 300 fam lies participated in

uni que Jubilee Year activities. Father Raiser
announced that he would retire this year, after 42
years in the priesthood. Father Sullivan replaced
hi m

For nore in-depth history, see the 1978 or 1985 directories in
the parish archives.
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THE STAUNTON METHODI ST CHURCH

The Staunton M E. Church Society in the village of
St aunt on, Concord Townshi p, was organized A. D. 1820, and the
first church was a rude structure, erected A. D. 1833.
According to early information the building was of |og
construction. Prior to the erection of the old log church, the
pi oneers had held their neetings in the various cabins and
later on in the school house. Henry Turner is nentioned as an
early circuit rider, comng to the comunity fromHllsboro to
conduct neetings. In order to be present at his many
appoi ntnents, it was said that he was conpelled to travel
twenty-ei ght days each nonth and thus had but little time for
recreation.

An early preacher nmentioned in Dills H story of Fayette
County was Ebenezer Wbster. Anong the first elders were John
Collins and WIIiam Si rmons.

The Society enlarged until in 1851 a substantial frame
church was built. This church was used by the parishioners
until around the turn of the century when plans were discussed
for the construction of a brick edifice for worship services.
It was definitely decided in the spring of 1900 to build the
present church, a leading incentive to the construction of the
bui | di ng being the dem se of $1,000 left by the | ate Robert
Wor t hi ngt on.

In order to make roomfor the building of the new
structure, the old church was noved to a vacant |lot at the
eastern edge of the village. It stood there for sonetinme until
M. Morris Sharp, of Washington Court House, Chio, paid $100
for the building, which was di smantl ed and noved to WAshi ngton
C. H where it was rebuilt on South Fayette Street and known
for years as Wesl ey Chapel

The building replacing the old frame church was
constructed of brick and stone with a slate roof. It has a
bow ed floor, seated with circular pews of quartered oak,
which will confortably seat about 400 persons, There are three
| arge CGothic wi ndows, elegantly set with beautiful art stained
gl ass adorni ng the superstructure. One contains designs of the
"Good Shepherd," the "Cross," "Crown" and "Anchor," dedicated
to the nenory of the | ate Robert Worthi ngton who for many
years was a devoted nmenber of the church and its causes.

On either side of the pulpit are two snall roons used for
choir and l|ibrary purposes.

The Staunton M E. Church Society deserve great credit
for their cheerful and |liberal contributions to the Building
Fund and they take real pleasure in voicing appreciationto
the many who so liberally contributed. The Ladies’ Aid Society
di spl ayed great tact and untiring energy in their efforts to
raise as large a contribution as possible. The Ladies’ A d was
organi zed on May 9, 1899 with the followi ng officers servi ng;
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Ms. P. W Drumm President; Ms. Robert Worthington, Vice-
President; Mss Stella Watson, Secretary; Ms. Mittie MCoy,
Asst. Sect'.; Ms. J. E. Mark Treasurer. Many dollars were
indirectly added to the Building Fund by donations to the
society ranging in value fromfractional parts of a. dollar to
several dollars. Listed as nenbers of the building conmittee
were: Henry Mark, President; E. R VanPelt, Vice-President; |I.
N. Rowe, Rec. Sect'.; J. E. Mark, Cor. Sect',; Wn

Wort hington, Treas.; L. H Mark, and P. W Drunm Board of
Trustees at the tinme included; Henry Mark, E. R VanPelt, John
Deer, Lewis Mark, Charles Stafford, Spencer Calvert, Cark
Rowe, A. C. MCoy, J. E. Mark.

Dedi catory services were held on Sunday, February 3,
1901, with worship at 10:00 a.m and 7:00 p.m During the
nmorni ng hour scripture readings were offered by Rev. D. Y.
Murdock and Rev. J. W Baker while invocation was pronounced
by Rev. R Watson. The norning sernon was given by Rev. J. W
Bashford, D, D., President of the Chio Wesleyan University,
Del aware, Chio. Rev. A. H, Norcross, D. D., pastor of Gace M
E. Church, Washington C. H, Ohio, had the sernon at the
eveni ng service. Formal dedication was made by Rev. Bashford.

The m nister of the Staunton Methodi st Church. at the
time was Rev. P. W Drumm

In the early days, Staunton, Buena Vista, M. Carnel and
Asbury Chapel nade up the circuit. Wihen M. Carnel burned and
wasn't rebuilt, Maple Gove and Canp G ove were added, That
was about the years, 1912 to 1914. Staunton becane part of a
parish later on. O her churches in the parish included Good
Hope, Buena Vista, Cochran, Maple G ove, Sugar G ove and New
Marti nsburg. The parsonage was then changed from Staunton to
Good Hope. In the 1940's-, Staunton becane part of the
Bl oom ngburg District, of which district it is nowidentified.
Rev. Lester Taylor, of Bloom ngburg is the present pastor.

O her pastors who have served the church through the
years included such nanes as Rev. Postle, Rev. Drumm Rev.
Bancroft, Rev. Cdifford, Rev. Isaac Sollars, Rev. R cketts,
Rev. Creamer, Rev. Sudlow, Rev. Rose, Rev. Jones, Rev. N H
Peterson, Rev. Meyers, Rev. Beckett, Rev. Haycock, Rev.
Tucker, Rev. Marshall, Rev. Baughn, and Frank Hughes, Onhio
Wesl eyan University student, who served as substitute preacher
during one sunmer.

Fl oors were sanded and the church redecorated about 12
years ago - 1943. A dedication was held then with Rev. Baughn
the pastor in charge at that tine.

Ext ensi ve redecorating to the interior has been underway
at the church in recent nonths. New carpet has al so been laid
to further add to the attractiveness of the surroundi ngs.

This year - 1955 - nenbership stands at approxi mately
100. Preaching services are held every two weeks at 9:30 a.m
Sunday School is held every Sunday, one norning at 9:30 a. m
and the next at 10:30 a.m, depending on preaching.
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Following is a report of nonies collected and expended in
the building and furnishing of the church and ot her expenses
incident thereto at the turn of the century

SUBSCRI PTI ON PAI D

Ladi es' Aid Society
Janmes H Allen

Bal | ard

C. F. Ballard

I. F. Barger

E. S. Brakefield

Ms. T. J. Brakefield
J. G Beatty

Brownel | and Sons
WlliamBriggs
Fred Bonecutter
Sar ah Bonecutter
W I liamBurnette
Eli Craig
WlliamCraig

D. S Craig

Crai g Bros.

John Craig

Mar gar et Cal vert
Spencer Cal vert
Mabel and Et hel
A. R Creaner
M. and Ms. J.
I. H Carman
Naoni Cockeril |
Ed Cockerill

S. S. Cockerill

M ss Hattie Collins-Large Bibl

Frank Conner

Ms. J. C. Conner
Henry Cri pps

S. W Cissna

E. E. Crone

John Deer

Ed Deer

Ms. John Deer
Ms. Ed Deer
Dahl-M 1 1ikan Co.
Dial & Fullerton
Rev. P. W Drumm
J. F. Dennis

W L. Deval on
Epwort h League
Rade Engl e
Lystin Engle

W I 1liam Engle
Ms. Rade Engle
Cl ara Fi sher
Scott Fisher

M's. Scott Fisher
M. and Ms. Flanagan
Ford Hdw. Co.

Cal vert

F. Cross

R A R A I R AR A R e R R

400.
.00
10.
10.
25.
25.
100.
.00
.00
.00
.00
.00
.00
50.
50.
50.
25.
10.
205.
175.
10.
15.
50.
25.
25.
5.
10.
and Hymal
15.
10.
25.
10.
10.
150.
126.
50.
15.
25.
5.
27.
5.
10.
100.
25.
10.
5.
5.
10.
5.
5.
10.
10.

00

00
00
00
00
00

00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00

00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00

W A Furry
Margaret J. Furry
MI1ls Gardner
Joe Grimnsley
C. M Giffith
0. Garinger
Rosa Gari nger
Ms. Cora Garinger
J. E. Hare
Ms. J. E. Hare
Et hel and Nellie Hare
R H Harrop
James Hol nes
Chas. Harl ow
G S. Hodson
A. F. Hopkins
Scott Hopki ns
Ms. L. Hidy
Si mon Hi dy
Irel and
A. lreland
R Jacobs
F. Janeson
0. Jackson
Mar garet Janes
I saac Johnson
H. D. Johnson
for pulpit
C. H Johnson
Mary Johnson
Hunphr ey Jones
Ada M Jones
Cynt hi a Johnson

E. D. King

Ms. S. J. Ladd
Ms. Cora Lew s
Henry S. Lines

Robt. Lutteral

Henry Mark

Lewi s Mark

M ss Sophia Mark
M ss Grace Mark

R R R R R R A A A R A A R R R R

Ms. L. H Mrk

J. E. Mark

M. and Ms. Fred Mark

A. H Mark

M's. Henry Mark

Aden Mar k

Ms. J, E. Mark

Pet Mark

C. A Foster

M. and Ms. L. M MFadden

$ 100.

35.
25.
25.
10.
25.
10.
.00
.00
100.
.00
.00
. 00
.00
.00
.00
.00
.00
.00
.00
. 00
.00
.00
.00
.00
.00
.00
.00

10.
50.
50.
25.
10.
10.
10.
100.
25.
25.
1, 005.
310.
100.
100.
100.
401.
50.
25.
10.
10.
25.
10.
5.

00
00
00
00
00
00

00

00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00

00
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Al McCoy

A. C. MCoy
Janmes M Coy
Rachel M Coy

J. D. McCoy
Mart McCoy
McCoy and Hess
McCoy and Al l en
M. T. W Marchant
Lewi s Moore
Chas. Murray

Wlliam MIIlikan and Son

Lorenzo Morris
Ms. Floyd M nshall
Eliza M tchener
Rev. M tchell
Ms. |da Morey
add Ogan

Mack Post

Dug Post

Cl ark Post
Tasso Post
John Parrett
Marion Parrett

Seth L. Parrett
J. L. Persinger
Chas. Persinger
Hul dah J. Patton
Eli as Priddy
Rachel Priddy
Ceo. Priddy

Hul ds Phillips
Harry Phillips

M. and Ms. |I. N Rowe
M. and Ms, John Rowe
M. and Ms. Cark Rowe
M. and Ms. M E. Rowe
Pear| Rowe

Mazi e Rowe
Curtis Rowe
Nanni e Rowe
Amanda Rowe
Maj ori e Rowe
Chas. Roberts
J. U Roberts
Ali ce Roberts
Bl anche Roberts
Harry Roberts
Ms. Etta Ross
E. A. Ransay
C. A Reid
Netti e Rowe
Tot al

EXPENDI TURES

E. E. Crone,

Mar shal | Furnace Co.,
Bryant Bros., Columbus,
C. F. Parker, Architect

Von Gerichten Gl ass Co.,

Ar t

30.
76.
25.
10.
10.
25.
20.
10.
10.
25.
10.
10.
10.
.00
.00
.00
105.

10.

50.

10.
.00
.00
10.
10.
.00
50.
25.
15.
27.
10.
.00
.00
.50
105.
125.
150.

50.

5

9,745. 50

Bui I di ng Contract
American Furniture Co., Seating
Wolverine Furnace

Frescoing

N
O RPPONDN

00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00

00
00
00
00

00
00

00
00
00
00
00

00
00
00
00
50
50

.00

00
00
00

.00
10.
10.
5.
5.
10.
10.
2.

00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00

Gl ass

Rev. Rednon

B. L. Sollars

Eli zabeth M Sol |l ars
W B. Sollars

S. L. Sollars

Chas. Stafford

Mary Stafford-El egant
Mary Stafford

Vede Stafford

Morris Sharp

F. L. Stutson

Ed Sheri dan

D. W Smth

W H. Sheridan

Chas. F. Sheridan
Ms. Joe Sheridan

W B. Snider

Ri chard Sol |l ars

Estel Stewart

Maud Stuckey

E. 0. Tenquary

E. R Van Pelt

S. P. VanPel t

Chas. VanPel t

Mrs. L. R. VanPelt
John VanPel t

Henry Vener man
Robert

M. and Mrs.

1.
100.
35.
10.
20.
25.
Pu
26.
5.
100.
25.
10.

PO GG !

5.

1, 010.
125.
100.
10.

5.
10.

R R R R i e R A

Wort hi ngton (demi se)
$1, 000.
Wm. Wbrt hington

00
00
00
00
00
00

pit Set

00
00
00
00
00

. 50

00
00
00
00
00
00

5. 00

00
00
00
00
00
00
00

00

$ 400.00
Joseph Worthington $ 100.00
Jos. W Worthington $ 25.00
Kent urah Worthington $ 10.00
Mar garet A. Wbrthington
$ 20. 00
Mrs. Robert Wbrthington
$ 55.00
Mrs. J. B. Wbrthington
$ 25.00
Robert Watson $ 50. 00
Stella Watson $ 25.00
Eliza Waddel | $ 16. 00
Oscar W kl e $ 5.00
Lewi s Wkl e $ 5.00
Silas Wkle $ 5.00
Wl son and W I son $ 5.00
W lliam W I son $ 15.00
El ba W I son $ 1.00
J. L. Zi mmer man $ 5.00
Hat & Dol l ar Collection on
Dedi cati on Day $ 105.80
$6, 506. 20
$ 830.00
$ 235.00
$ 300.00
$ 120.05
$ 525.00 101



Phillip Mosier — cornerstone $ 15. 00
Wn Briggs, Light $ 105.00
Craig Bros., Wash. C. H., Carpet $ 302.41
Ford Hdw. Co., Hardware $ 40. 00
B. and 0. Ry., Freight on Gl ass $ 3.97
WIIl E. dale, Chairs $ 18. 00
St. Burkley, Organ $ 85. 00
Wn M llikan and Son, Printing $ 7.00
Craig Bros., Carpet Sweepers $ 3.50
W1l E. Dale, furnishing extra chairs $ 1.50
Henry Mark, Digging Cellar $ 17.00
Henry Mark, work $ 15. 35
E. R. VanPelt, work $ 15. 85
I. N. Rowe, Sundries $ 7.57
H. G. Coffman & Co., Lumber $ 4.72
Wm. Smith, work $ 5.50
Enoch Lee, work $ 5.25
J. W Roberts, work $ 2.25
C. A. Stafford, Tile $ 4.50
Thornton & Son, Coal $ 21.54
Smithers Bros., Coal $ 20.13
Jesse Bonecutter, Hauling coal $ 5. 96
Ed Scroggins, Fixing Seats $ 5.20
J. E. Mark, Hauling Lunber $ 1.50
J. E. Mark, S. S. Books & freight on organ $ 9.15
Jack Hidy, Fixing Wndows $ 2.50
N. A Roberts, Board $ .50
A. E. Mark, Paynent on parsonage barn $ 68. 50
Dial & Fullerton, Cyclone and Fire Ins. $ 49. 50
Rev. J. G Bashford, Dedication $ 55. 00
Rev. A. H. Norcross — assistant $ 5.00
Tot al $9, 420. 93
SUMVARY

Total amount noney subscri bed $9, 840. 50
Total anmpunt subscriptions yet unpaid $ 95.00
Total amount subscriptions collected $9, 745. 50
Total anmount noney expended $9, 420. 03
Total anount noney in Treasury $ 325.47
Equal i ng Amount Subscription collected $9, 745. 50

This reports was respectfully submitted to the Building
Commttee by the Secretary and Treasurer at a called neeting
on March 13th 1902 and the sane was by unani nous vote
accepted, and by unani nous vote of Building Comrittee said
bal ance of $325.47 was turned over to the Board of Trustees of
Staunton M E. Church. Respectfully, (Signed) J. E. Mark, Wn
Wort hi ngton, Comm ttee on Report.

(I'nformati on Furni shed through the courtesy of Ms. J. O.

Wl son, Staunton, Chio and M ss Bl anche Roberts, Wash. C. H.,
0.) - Dated February 16, 1955. (Few Facts Taken fromDlls

Hi story of Fayette County)
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Addenda

1955 Dedi cati on

Most of the 100 menmbers of Staunton Methodi st Church,
together with guests and former menbers from Washi ngton C. H.,
Springfield, Chillicothe and Cl evel and attended dedi cati on
services for the redecorated church on Sunday, May 22, 1955.

The interior of the church has been conpletely done over.
The floors and pews have been refini shed, new carpeting has
been | aid and new drapes hung, and a |large portrait of Chri st
now dom nates the front of the church.

Fol |l ow ng the norning class session a worship service was
held at 11 a.m wth Rev. Lester Taylor offering a sernon
based on the Book of Psalnms. In the congregation were 18
famlies from Sel den Grange. At noon a potluck dinner was hel d
at Staunton school .

Returning to the church, menbers and guests enjoyed the
formal dedication service at 2 p.m conducted by Rev.
Marshal |, a former pastor of the Staunton Church. O her than
t he dedi cation sernon, there were several tal ks given by
menbers of | ong standing covering major events in the history
of the church. The tal ks were prepared and delivered by W P.
W kel, Mss Blanche Roberts, Mss Mazie Rowe, M ss Annette
Stafford, Ms. Pearl MCurdy and Law ence Sheri dan.

Present at the dedication service were a dozen nenbers of
the Sunday School class taught for years by Ms. Mry
Stafford, who would be over a century old if she were still
l'iving. Eight church nmenbers who attended the original
dedi cation of the church after its construction in 1901 were
on hand for the services May 22, 1955. They were M ss Bl anche
Roberts, M ss Mazie Rowe, Mss Annette Stafford, M. and Ms.
Foster Wkle, W E. Sollars, Ms. Vada McCoy and W P. W kel.

(Facts from Record-Heral d dated May 23, 1955.)
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THE H STORY COF
SUGAR CREEK BAPTI ST CHURCH
Route 35 North

Washi ngton Court House, Chio
1830 - 1980

Compi | ed for the Sesqui centennial Cel ebration, Septenber 7,
1980

Hi story Comm ttee

I rene B. McNabb, Chairman
Jane F. Canpbel

Carol yn H DeWese

Floris F. Sprague

Donal d F. Breakfield

(You) are built upon the foundation of the apostles and
prophets, Jesus Christ hinself being the chief
cornerstone. In whomall the building fitly framed
toget her groweth unto a holy tenple in the Lord.

Ephesi ans 2: 20- 21

THE CHURCH COVENANT

Havi ng been led, as we believe, by the Spirit of God to
receive the Lord Jesus Christ as our Saviour, and on the
profession of our faith, having been baptized in the nane of
the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost, we do now,
in the presence of God, angels, and this assenbly, nost
solemly and joyfully enter into covenant with one another, as
one body in Christ. W engage, therefore, by the aid of the
Holy Spirit, to walk together in Christian |love; To strive for
t he advancenent of this church in know edge, holiness, and
confort; To pronote its prosperity and spirituality; To
sustain its worship, ordinances, discipline, and doctrines; To
give it a sacred preem nence over all institutions of human
origin; To contribute cheerfully and regularly to the support
of the mnistry, the expenses of the church, the relief of the
poor, and the spread of the gospel through all nations.

We al so engage to nmaintain famly and secret devotion; To
religiously educate our children; To seek the salvation of our
ki ndred and acquai ntances; To wal k circunmspectly in the world;
To be just in our dealings, faithful in our engagenents, and
exenplary in our deportnment; To avoid all tattling,
backbiting, and excessive anger; To abstain fromthe sale and
use of intoxicating drinks as a beverage, and to be zealous in
our efforts to advance the ki ngdom of our Savi our
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We further engage to watch over one another in brotherly
| ove; To renenber each other in prayer; To aid each other in
si ckness and distress; To cultivate Christian synpathy in
feeling and courtesy in speech; To be slow to take offense,
but al ways ready for reconciliation, and m ndful of the rules
of our Saviour, to secure it w thout del ay.

W noreover engage, that when we renove fromthis place,
we will as soon as possible unite with some other church
where we can carry out the spirit of this covenant and the
principles of God' s word.

Henry Baughan To Lease Sinmeon Baughan and O hers

Know all nmen that | Henry party of the first part do
hereby | ease unto the Trustees of the Baptist Church
called Sugar Creek to wit Sinmeon Baughan, Saruel Hi gby,
Charl es Sexton in Union Township in the County of Fayette
in the State of Ohio party of the second part and their
successors in office for the purpose of building a
nmeeti ng house and burying ground the follow ng parcel of
| and nanely begi nning at the south East Corner of Smith
Sneads Survey No 2069 at A Hickory and Red oak thence
north 10 poles to two bl ack oaks thence west 22 poles to
an Ash Red oak and El mthence 10 poles to the origina
line thence East 22 poles to the beginning with all

privil eges and appertinances to have and to hold the sanme
for and during the termof N nety nine years and forever
renewabl e fromthe seventeenth day of Novenber the year
one thousand and Ei ght hundred and Thirty Eight In

testi nony whereof the said parties have hereunto set

t heir hands and seal s This seventeenth day of Novenber

A D. 1838 Sealed in the presence of

At t est Dani el Bush
Enos F. Yeonan

Recei ved October 23rd 1844 and recorded 26th of the sane

Henry Boughan S
Si nreon Boughan E
Char |l es Sexton A
Sanuel Hi gbee L

B. F. Baughn to The Regul ar Bapti st Church, called Sugar Creek

This indenture made and entered into this to Twenty first
day of April Eighteen hundred forty nine between B. F
Baughn of the first part of the State of Chio and Fayette
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County and Ri chard Baughan, Sineon Baughan, and E. F
Yeoman (and their successors in office Trustees in Trust
for the regular Baptist Church called Sugar Creek) of the
second part Wtnesseth that the party of the first part
has bargained and sold to the party of the second part a
certain tract or parcel of land for the Consideration of
Ten Dollars to himin hand paid by the party of the
Second part the recei pt whereof is hereby acknow edged,
known and described as follows beginning at the south
east corner of the original Survey of Smth Sneed No.
2069 thence north ten poles to a stone thence west twenty
poles to a stone thence South Ten poles to a stone in the
original line of said Survey thence East with said |ine
to the place of beginning containing One Acre and forty
pol es. To have and to hold said prem ses with al

i nprovenents to the use benefit and behooves of the
Church aforesaid as a place of worship and buryi ng ground
and the house on said prem ses to be free to al

religi ous denom nati ons when not occupi ed by the regul ar
Baptists. And the party of the first part further
covenants and agrees with the party of the Second part
for the further Sumof Ten dollars to himin hand paid by
the party of the Second part that if the Church aforesaid
shall at any future period of tine beconme extinct that
the party of the second part their heirs and assigns
shall hold and occupy said lot of |and as a burying
ground forever and may authorize any religious

denomi nation to build and occupy any house of public

wor ship on said prem ses, Wierein | have set ny hand and
seal this 25th day of April A D 1849

Executed in the presence of
B. F. Baughn
0. Loof bourrow
WIlliam Smith SEAL

The State of Ohio Fayette Co SS

Personal | y appeared before nme 0 Loof bourrow an acting and
gualified Justice of the Peace in and for said County B F
Baughan the wi thin naned grantor and acknow edged the
signing and sealing of the within instrunment to be his
Vol untary act and deed G ven under ny hand this 25th day
of April A D 1849

Rec'd Nov 15 1887 at 2.40 o’ clock p. m

0. Loof bourrow J.P
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This church is one of the oldest in Fayette County,
havi ng been organi zed in 1830. At first, neetings were held in
a |l og building, which was used as a school house during the
week. (An 1875 Atlas of Fayette county states that the
Baptists of this area met in a log cabin in 1835 with the
preacher a Rev. Tuttle. This could very well be the Sugar
Creek Baptist Church.) The cenetery is very old and nust have
been sel ected before the church organi zation for there are
monunent s standi ng dating from 1810.

Henry Baughn, a settler from Cul pepper, Virginia, and his
son Zachari ah gave the land for the church. (The Northwest
territories, opened up by an ordinance of the United States
government in 1787, had been surveyed by a firmin New York
(the Smth-Snead Survey) who "stepped off" the land grants
w t hout ever conming near the Chio Territory. This resulted in
much confusion as to | and boundaries. The people of that era
were also very lax in recording their deeds. It was not until
around the time of the Gvil War that a reliable survey was
made in Fayette County and correct property lines established.
W theorize that it was this uncertainty that caused Henry
Baughn to see to it that a "proper instrunent of conveyance"
was put on record.)

The earliest recorded deed states that Henry Baughn
| eased the land for a neeting house and burying ground to the
trustees of the Regular Baptist church known as Sugar Creek on
Novenber 17, 1838. In 1840 a | ong, one-roomframe buil di ng was
erected, which was in use until 1900.

On April 21, 1849, B. F. Baughn sold the sane parcel of
land to the trustees of Sugar Creek Regul ar Bapti st Church for
the sumof ten dollars. This evidently superseded the | ease
arrangenent. He also sold themthe cenetery | and for another
ten dollars with the stipulation that if the church becones
extinct, the trustees will hold and occupy the lot of |and as
a burying ground forever.

Docunment ed early nmenbers of the church include Henry
Baughn, his wi fe, Elizabeth, Zachariah Baughn, his wife,
Rebecca, Sineon Baughn, Charles Sexton, Sanuel H gbee, Richard
Baughn, Enos F. Yeoman, Joab Carr, his wife, Elizabeth, and
Peter Fultz.

The Sunday school was organi zed in 1850. Information is
sketchy about the first half century of the church's life, as
the church records prior to 1906 were lost in a house fire.
Sunday school records exist from Decenber, 1887, which |og the
scripture reading, the offering (an average of 45 55 cents per
Sunday) and the total attendance, which ranged from 37 to 56.

It is interesting to note that one Sunday in particular,
there was $1.02 in the treasury, $1.00 was paid out for
sonet hing, and the bal ance was two cents. Ml es and fenal es
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were counted separately. A typical report would read: Number
of officers present - 4; Nunber of teachers - 4; Nunber of
mal e scholars - 19; Nunber of female scholars - 20; Visitors
-4; Total -51

Evidently the church did not have a full time preacher or
preachi ng services every Sunday, but did hold Sunday schoo
every Lord's day. Some of the early preachers were Sam Smth,
D. D. Johnson, Jimy Jones, Rev. Thonmas, Rev. Bond, and Rev.
Burnett. The roster of early Sunday school officers included
such nanes as WIlliam McCord, Elon Thornton, T. C. M chael
Frank Plymre, Janes MCord, J. J. Baughn and Noah Baughn. In
1887 the hymm book in use was "Gospel Hymms". In 1896 the
congregation sang from"Sel ect Gens" and "The Finest of the
Vheat " .

At a business neeting on February 11, 1900, the church
menmbers voted to enpower the building commttee to proceed
with the pronotion and conpl etion of a new church buil di ng.
The followng is a record of the business session relating to
the erection of the new structure.

SUGAR CREEK BAPTI ST CHURCH February 17, 1900

The church nmet in regul ar session, Benson Parrett,
noderat or. The m nutes of the previous neeting were read and
approved. The follow ng resolution was presented:

"Be it resolved by this church in regul ar business
session that they enpower the building commttee to
proceed to collect any and all nonies subscribed and that
they use the sane in such manner as they deem best for
the pronoti on and conpl eti on of proposed church buil di ng.
To enter into contract with any party or parties in such
formor nmanner as they shall think best for the erection
of said building and that the present building is placed
at their disposal to be used as they may deemto be to
the best interest of the church.”

The above resolution carried. Mtion to adjourn carried.

T. C. M CHAEL
Sec. Pro. Tem

The | ast services were held March 4, 1900, when a picture
was taken of the congregation and the old church. At this
nmeeti ng, deacons fromthe Methodist Protestant Church at the
corner of Pal mer and Bush Roads were in attendance and invited
the congregation to neet with them during construction of the
building. Wrk to tear it down began the next day.

The buil ding conmittee consisted of Elon Thornton,
Jackson Baughn, Judson Baughn, Noah Baughn, and Jesse Fultz.
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The carpenter who planned the building and supervi sed the work
was Tom M chael . Work continued throughout the sumrer and when
conmpleted, it was dedi cated on Novenber 12, 1900. Rev. J. P.
Curran of Hillsboro conducted the services that norning,

af ternoon, and eveni ng. There was an i ndebt edness renai ni ng at
this time, but in Septenmber 1901, it was re-dedicated, free
and cl ear of debt, by the first pastor of the new church, Rev.
J. E. Medi ck.

Ei ghty years ago, this was an ultra-nodern country
church. It had a baptistry, acetylene gaslights, beautiful
st ai ned- gl ass wi ndows, a Sunday school room a coal furnace
and an elevated floor. M. Bill WIlis, owner of the WIllis
Chair Factory on Lakevi ew Avenue, donated the chairs for the
Sunday school room

Bei ng such a small church, it was necessary for the
congregation to share a pastor with other churches for many
years. Worship services were held in the norning and eveni ng
on the second and fourth Sundays of the nonth. Sunday school
was hel d every Sunday, and each Thursday evening, the nenbers
gat hered for conference and prayer, with the |last Thursday of
the nonth being a covenant neeting. In 1916, worship services
were changed to the first and third Sundays. It was not until
1958 that the church was able to obtain a full tine
bi -vocati onal pastor, Rev. Paul M nnick.

At various tines the church was served by student pastors
from Deni son University at Granville, Chio. They gave their
enthusiasm and in turn, the church hel ped themfinance their
education. Anmong them were Harold Phillips (1916-18), Raynond
Spoerri (1926-28), Kenneth Esyt (1928-29), R chard Brandt
(1929-30), WIliam Powell (1931), and Paul Kubick (1931-33).
C. Raynond Buck, presently the foreign secretary of C evel and
M d- M ssions, served the church from 1945 to 1947, driving
each week from Louisville, Kentucky, where he attended
sem nary. These dedi cated nmen woul d sometines bring in gospel
teans who in turn would teach Sunday school cl asses, have
charge of the worship services and furnish nusic.

VWhile M. Spoerri was pastoring the church, he started
the Bapti st Young People's Union, which started work on
di ggi ng the basenent in 1927. Fromthis group the work
extended to the church nenbers and eventually the nmen of the
comunity joined in to conplete the task. Ms. Robert MCord,
Bl anche McCord, Ms. Roscoe (Ruth) Hai nes and her daughter
served the nen coffee and honme-nmade doughnuts as they | abored.
The wonen of the church held chicken suppers at Chaffin school
as a noney-raising project to pay for the basement. M. Robert
McCord built the stairway to the basenent and the cupboards
for the dishes. The wonen of the church al so served "corn
di nners" to the community and earned the funds to equip the
kitchen with dishes, silverware, coal-oil stoves, and butcher
linen tabl ecl oths, which were enbroidered by Ms. El ner
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Baughn. The acetyl ene gaslights were replaced by electricity
in 1933.

On Novenber 12, 1950, a "honecom ng" was held to
cel ebrate the gol den anniversary of the church building.

Over the years, many inprovenents were nmade to the
exi sting structure. In addition to routine maintenance, an oi
furnace was installed in 1950-51 to take the place of the coa
furnace and cl assroons were built in the basenent in 1956 57.
The church was al so redecorated at this tinme. The sanctuary
was carpeted in 1964 and the exterior of the building was
refurbished with alum numsiding in 1972. A water system was
installed in 1967 with restroons being a wel cone addition in
1974. The sanctuary ceiling was lowered in 1976 to aid in fue
conservation. A two-manual, full pedal Wirlitzer electronic
organ with chinmes was purchased in 1979 as the service project
for the sesquicentennial celebration to replace the Thomas
organ donated by Cl aude Foster in 1958.

A new comuni on service was put into use in June of 1955,
and 1960 saw the installation of new oak pulpit furniture
whi ch was hand made by one of the parishioners, M. Robert
Janmes. It included the pulpit, flower stands, worship table
and comuni on tabl e.

We know from exi sting records that both the Ladies Ad
Soci ety and Wonen's Mssion Circle were in existence in
January of 1909. These societies contained the sane nenbers
but each provided a different form of service. The Ladies A d
wor ked for the betternment of the church building and the
M ssion Circle | abored for hone and foreign mssions. In March
1916, the Mssion Circle and Ladies Aid united to formthe
Bapti st Whnen's M ssionary Society. It is still in existence
t oday.

The Christian Board of Education was established in 1959.

The church, as well as the Baptist Wnen's M ssionary
Society, is affiliated with the dinton Baptist Association
(formerly Caesar's Creek Association), the Chio Bapti st
Convention, and the Anerican Baptist Churches of the U S A
The BWVS al so takes an active part in Fayette County Church
Worren Uni t ed.

At the present tinme there are approximately 120 nenbers
on the church roll, and of these, about sixty are active in
the work of the church

PASTORS - SUGAR CREEK BAPTI ST CHURCH

Early pastors - Sam Smith, D. D. Johnson*, E. W LIoyd, Jinmy
Jones, Rev. Thonmms, Rev. Bond, Rev. Burrett.

1877- Rev. Daniel D. Trickler 1931- W I Iliam Powel | ***
1890- Rev. Allen 1931- 33 Paul Kubi ck***
1892- Rev. T. B. Collins 1934- 42 Rev. Charl es Bowen
1895- Rev. W W Marl ow 1942- Vay to Nov.

Rev. Meredith K Lasl ey
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1897- Rev. C E Giffin 1943- Feb. to May

1899- 1900 Rev. 0. F. Col well Robert W S. Spi ke

1901- 03 Rev. J. E. Medick** 1944- 45 CGeorge R Brooks

1904- J. L. Maddux 1945- 47 C. Raynond Buck

1905- 06 Rev. Arthur Cooper 1948- May to Aug.

1908- 11 Rev. J. M Coshy Harold J. Bl osser

1912- Rev. Kreager and 1948- 52 Rev. Enri Sites
Rev. Carey 1952- 58 Rev. F. G Maure

1913- 16 D. A Cush 1959- March to Cct.

1916- 19 Harol d Phillips Carl A. N ssen, Jr.

1919- 20 Rev. F. L. Frazier 1959- 66 Rev. Paul M nnich

1921- Feb. to June 1966- 68 Rev. Robert Lackens
Rev. J. P. Hendershot 1969- 72 Rev. Fred MKni ght

1922- 23 Rev. B. F. Farris 1972-73 Ed Sanderson

1923- 26 Rev. T. M Hof fmeister 1974-75 Rev. St ephen

1926- 28 Raynmond Spoerri *** Door neweer d

1928- 29 Kenneth Esty*** 1975-79 Rev. Noel Md aren

1929- 30 Ri chard Brandt*** 1979 Rev. Joe Current

*- (Geat, great grandfather of Carolyn DeWeese and Martha Carnan
**. First pastor of the "new' church, built 1900

***_Student pastors fromGanville, Chio

PERSONAL GLI MPSES

Bapti zed on January 25, 1914, Ruth Baughn Hai nes has the
| ongest conti nuous nenbership on the present roll of the
church. As of Septenber 1980, she has been a nenber for 66
years. She is the great, great granddaughter of Henry Baughn
and great - granddaught er of Zachariah Baughn who were
instrumental in giving the land for the church. Her husband,
Roscoe Hai nes, sister-in-law, Pauline Coil Haines, and Roy
Coi | have been continuous nmenbers since their baptism Apri
17, 1921.

Kat hryn Jane Fults Canpbell has been a nenber since her
baptismin April 1931. She is the great granddaughter of Peter
Fultz, one of the pioneer nmenbers; the niece of Jesse Fults
who was on the building committee for the new church in 1900;
the greatniece of T. C. Mchael, the carpenter who planned and
supervi sed the work.

O the original famlies two are fifth and sixth
generation active nenbers of the church. Carol yn Hai nes
DeWeese and Mart ha Haines Carnen are great, great
granddaughters of D. D. Johnson, one of the early preachers at
Sugar Creek Baptist Church. He was called the "Marrying
Preacher" because he performed so nmany weddi ngs and canme here
from Janmest own. Dennis and Ann DeWeese and Nancy and Car ol
Carman are his great, great, great grandchildren
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M chael and Nancy Canpbell are the great, great grand-
children of Peter Fultz, the great nephew and niece of Jesse
Fults, and great, great nephew and niece of T. C. M chael.

M chael has two daughters, Mchelle Marie and Stephanie
Ni col e.

The ol dest nmenber of the congregation is Mary Jane
Frederick who cel ebrated her 95th birthday |ast Decenber 13.
She joined the church on Novenber 1, 1953.

The gravestone of George Rupert who died in 1846 at the
age of 96 bears the follow ng inscription: A Revolutionary
Sol di er he fought many a battle for the rich boon, which we
now enjoy. He is said to have been a great hunter and shot, in
one season 120 deer, 2 bears, wolves and many ot her game in
Fayette County near the Sugar Creek. His is the only
Revol utionary veteran's grave in the cenetery.

Val entine "Felty" Coil (died 1832) who is buried in the
cenetery was captured by Indians in Virginia when he was about
two years old and taken to Canada where a squaw who had | ost a
son adopted him One day the infanmus Sinon Gurty told hi mwho
he was during a spell of drunkenness. Coil returned to
Virginia and identified hinmself to his nother by a birthnmark.
He married and lived there for a tine. After his wife died he
returned to Canada and dealt in the whiskey trade. Later, he
returned again to Virginia and with his sister Polly (who is
al so buried in the Sugar Creek cenetery) he noved to
Chillicothe and then Fayette County where he set up a
distillery. He had |l earned to make bricks while in Canada and
so was enployed to help erect the first courthouse in
Washington C. H in 1813 14.

Henry Baughn was a trustee of Union Township in 1832 for
which he received a salary of $4.50. He married Elizabeth Wal
and fought in the war of 1812.

Sanuel Hi gbee settled in 1831 on the Hi gbee farm com ng
here from Pennsylvania. He and his wife were the parents of
four sons and seven daughters, two of which died as children.
One of the daughters, Panelia, married Hunphry Hidy.

El on Thornton (1845 1941) was one of eight sons born to
Thomas and Mahal a Harper Thornton. Thomas Thor nton was
orphaned early in life and was raised by the famly of Peter
Fultz, a cabinetnaker. He nmarried Mahal a Harper (daughter of
Jacob Harper who is buried in the cenetery) in 1834 and they
set up housekeeping in the woods. Elon married Ellen Carr, the
gr anddaughter of Polly Herrod Carr and Jacob Carr. (Jacob was
the son of Joab and Elizabeth Carr who are buried in the

112



cenetery.) M. Thornton was active in the church for many
years, holding office as Sunday school superintendent and
deacon anong ot hers.

G aves of the signers of the original deed to the
property still existing in the cenetery are those of Henry
Baughn and Si meon Baughn.

Anmong other famlies who contributed greatly to the
service of the church during the |ate nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries were the McCords and the Hynes. The | ast
survivors of these famlies to attend the church were Nellie
Hynes who died in 1970 and Bl anche McCord who died in 1975.

Alternate spelling of famly nanes

Baughn - Baughan, Boughan, Boughn
d aze - d ayse

H gbee — Hi gby

Fults - Fultz

Chur ch Bel

The church bell was cast by the Jenny and Manning Bell Foundry
of Washi ngton Court House and hung in the belfry when the
church was built in 1900. The bell has a glad-tidings clapper
and a toll-cl apper.

SUGAR CREEK BAPTI ST CEMETERY

The ol dest grave in the cenetery is that of Letitia
Sexton who died in 1810. Jane Baughan was buried in 1816;
Lystra Baughn in 1820; Joab Carr, 1824; Susan Hagler Ml er,
1830; Elizabeth Rupert and Val entine Coil, 1832; Jessie My
MIller, Elizabeth and Susan Carr and the infant son of J. and
E. Baughn in 1833; Jacob d aze, 1836; and Christenah Mller in
1839.

The nanes and birth/death dates are listed of those in
the burying ground who were living at the tinme of the church's
begi nni ngs. Some of these, no doubt, were nmenbers of the
church while others |Iived nearby and chose to rest here, as it
was conveni ent.

Si meon Baughan - 1786/ 1863 w fe Lucy - 1787/1859

Val entine Coil - 17477/ 1832 sister Polly — 1757/ 1852
Barnet Blue - 1777/ 1846

Jacob Pursley- died 1856 wi fe Rachel -died 1855
Jacob Moore - 1808/ 1850

Mary Moore - 17987?/ 1859 (wi fe of John W Mbore, Sen.)
Susan Carr - 1795 or 1797/ 1870 (wife of J. Carr)

Joab Carr - 1790/ 1824 wife Elizabeth - 1788/ 1833

daughter Susan - 1815/1833
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Lystra Baughan - 17717/ 1820
Infant son of J. and E. Baughn
Jane, daughter of S. and L. Ba
Cyrus Rankin - 1822/1856
Sophi a Pursley - 1808/1875
George MIler - 1782/1851

wife
WlilliamMIler - 1818/ 1838
Jacob Harper- 1784/ 1842
John Colvin - 1795/ 1868
Andrew Davis — 1809/ 1878
Wl liam Bush — 1820/ 1903
Henry Boughan - 1773/ 1854
El i zabet h Baughan - 1776/ 1856
Christenah MIler - 1821/1839

Mary WIllians - 1813/1842
Christeana MIller - 18267/ 185

Jessie May MIler- 1813/1833 daughter of C. W and Esther

George W MIller - 1823/1898

- died 1833
ughn - 1799/ 1816

wi fe Lucy - 1827/1849

(w fe of Henry)

wi f e Susan(Hagl er) -

El i zabet h(Burnett) -

wi fe Margaret -
wi f e Phebe

w fe Phoebe — 1823/ 1895

wi fe of Thomas

daughter of A and L. Dawson

(2?) wife of John

Catherine Stitsworth - 1812/ 1884 w fe of A

George Rupert - 1750/ 1846

wi fe Elizabeth -

(Revol utionary War Vet eran)

Eli za Coal or - 1828/1849
Jessica Colaw 1811/1862

Jem ma Col aw - 1784/ 1862
Canada Col aw - 1820/ 1874

--- McCdoughlin - 1827/ 1858
Chri st opher d ayse - 1820/ 1847
Jacob d aze - 1801/1836

John d aze - 1818/ 1846

George d aze- 1776/1851

Mar gar et Boughn - 1784/ 1868
Janes F. Thonpson - 1798/ 1864
Zachariah W Baughn -1803/1873
Letita Sexton - 1785/1810

CHURCH OFFI CERS - 1980

Past or:
Deacons:

Trust ees:

Church d erk:
Church Treasurer:

wife of C

w fe of Jonat han

wi fe Catherine -

wife Mary A - 1804/188
wi fe Rebecca - 1826/ 1886

daughter of J. and L.

Rev. Joe Current
A an Bentl ey

M chael Canpbel |
O'ley Varney, Jr.
Donal d Breakfield
CGene Donohoe
Robert Ellars
Harry Canpbel |
Charles MIls, Jr.
Layt on Shoenaker
Paul a M Canmpbel |
D ane V. Inskeep

1792/ 1830
1790/ 1853

1790/ 1887

di ed 1832

1780/ 1844
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Fi nanci al Secretary: Jane F. Canmpbell

Benevol ence Treasurer: Mart ha Car man
Organi st : Irene B. McNabb
Pi ani st : Paula M Canmpbel
Sunday school Superintendent: Irene B. MNabb
Teachers: Loi s Goodson

M | dred Donohoe

Rev. Joe Current

I rene McNabb

Patrici a Dow er

Mart ha Car man
Chai rman, Christian Board of Education: M| dred Donohoe
President, Baptist Wnen's Mssionary Society: I rene McNabb
Juni or Church Director: Janet K. M:Nabb

PRI NCI PLE SOURCES OF | NFORMATI ON

Church history conpiled by Gol da Baughn, 1964

Church records begi nning 1906

Sunday school Secretary's books begi nning 1887
Recorder's O fice, Fayette County Courthouse

Hi story of Fayette County, R S. Dills, c1881
[l'lustrated Historical Atlas of Fayette County c1875
Interview with Ruth Baughn Hai nes and Roscoe Hai nes
Interview with David Baughn

The commttee wi shes to thank all who contributed information
for this undertaking. We have tried to make it as accurate as
possi bl e.
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H STORY OF SUGAR GROVE UNI TED METHODI ST CHURCH
Located 4679 State
Route 41 South, Washington C H.,

Chi o 43160

Droves of ethnic people canme to our country during the
1700' s because of political unrest and religi ous suppression.
By the end of the Revolutionary War John Wesley's Christian
doctrines were entrenched al ong our country's eastern coast,
north and south. As the western expansi on beyond the
Appal achi an Mount ai ns occurred, the spreadi ng of Methodi sm
becane inherently tied with the historical events at the tine.

Many of these events hastened settlenent in our own
regi on; Fort Redstone on the banks of the Monongahela River in
sout hwestern Pennsyl vania was a safe rest area for circuit
riders and settlers. Dani el Boone had traversed Cunberl and Gap
into Kentucky and Tennessee and Boone's clan and friends were
settled. The Land Ordinance (Northwest Territory) of 1787
opened up Chio to hunters, explorers, surveyors and settlers.
Virginia had ceded | ands to the Federal Governnent excepting
those | ands reserved for officers and soldiers of the
Revol utionary War and these | ands were | ocated between the
Little Mam R ver and Scioto River. In Chio, the governnent
allotted |l ands to surveyors and systematically sold lands to
first comers. In turn, surveyors sold lands too. Al of these
events neant people conmi ng, people settling, and preachers
riding on a circuit fromsettlenent to settlenent.

Fromthat tinme on, Methodist Societies flourished. Loca
| eaders organi zed cl asses for these societies and becane cl ass
| eaders, preachers, deacons, and el ders. These | oca
representatives in the Methodi st Soci ety conpl enmented the
circuit rider's work, and he, in turn, supplenmented the |oca
preacher's efforts.

Ohi 0 had gai ned statehood in 1803, and Fayette County's
definitive boundaries were mapped by 1810. Shortly after, we
find a small band of settlers around the area of Sugar Creek
wi th Met hodi st inclinations.

Accordi ng to geneal ogi cal and historical records, John
King (1786-1868) canme from Ross County, Ohio, about 1805 from
Virginia and settled in Concord Townshi p. By 1809, he had
renoved hinself to the area of Sugar Creek

There is a recorded deed in the Recorder's O fice of Ross
County, Chillicothe, Chio, with a Decenber 1810 date that is
significant, 250 acres of land, |lying along Paint Creek and
west of the creek in Fayette County, was transferred to
W |iam Brannon of Loudoun County, Virginia, by Nathani el
Massi e. Handwitten across the edge of the deed are the words,
"Delivered to John King." How odd......... probabl e. . . yes!
Bot h Brannon and King were fromVirginia and both were
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associated with the formation of a Methodi st Society in the
Sugar Grove nei ghborhood. Mich | ater the descendants of
Brannon/ Branen bequeathed to the Sugar G ove Trustees the
property, known as the church farm

John King and Jesse Rowe, Senior were neighbors of sorts.
They lived on parallel trails in this county. King |ived on
t he banks of Sugar Creek and Rowe on Wabash Run. From one
cabin to the other, this was about one mle through the woods
or two mles by trails.

Rowe who had lived in Concord Townshi ps, Ross County,
Ohi o, returned occasionally to Waugh's Chapel for Methodi st
meetings. He received assistance fromthe Mam GCircuit of the
Met hodi st Soci ety when a Sabbath C ass was formed at his house
in 1816. Ampong the class nenbers was John King.

Si nce John King was |icensed as a | ocal preacher (1826)
and ordai ned as a deacon (1833) in the Mthodi st Episcopa
Church, he was very active when the Washington Circuit was
formed in 1837. He served in nmany capacities and accepted nuch
responsibility: Grcuit Steward (1837-1839); conmttee nenber
for the El der Conference (1839) (a historical society to
collect materials, etc. for the Hi storical Society of
C ncinnati, Chio); Crcuit Steward for classes at Concord,
Browns, Morrisses, and Kings (1841); a trustee for the
par sonage house in Washington; and el der in the Mthodi st
Society (1843). By 1854 King had decreased his activities and
conmmtments "in view of his age."

One has to acknow edge Reverend John King for his
contribution in founding the Methodi st Society in Fayette
County and Sugar G ove Church.

In Dill's 1881 History of Fayette County, Page 785, the
witer states, "The Sugar G ove Sabbath School was or gani zed
in 1844." These persons were identified with their respective
positions: Superintendent, Samuel Briggs; Secretary, WA
King; Librarian, George W Esterbrook (Easterbrook). Both
Bri ggs and Easterbrook had served with the Washington G rcuit
as class | eaders.

1844 seens to be a rather arbitrary date. However, it is
one that is acceptable when all other facts tend to support
it.

The circuit rider or circuit pastor made his rounds every
few nonths. He reported early in the year of 1845 that Rush's
Sabbat h School was one of seven; he reported 24 March 1847 a
meeti ng of the Sunday school Society of the ME. Church in
Rush's School House, whereby Article #1 of the Constitution
was adopted unani mously, "Society shall be called Sunday
school Society of Sugar G ove."

It is assuned Rush's School House was a private school,
since no record can be found for a public one. In a reference
to "neeting in Rush's School House across the creek," does
this nmean on the north or south side of Sugar Creek?
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W1l liam Rush owned | ands on both sides, and his honestead
is located on the northern bank of Sugar Creek in Union
Townshi ps, Sugar Creek being the boundary between Perry
Townshi p and Uni on Townshi p.

A lengthy affair was held at the Sugar Grove Church in
1894. This was called the Bicentennial Celebration of the
Sunday school .

Records, conference and circuit reports, witings of
hi st ori cal happeni ngs i n newspapers, and geneal ogi cal
bi ographies arbitrarily establish 1844 as the |likely date of
the Sugar Grove Church. Those students who were present in
1894 for the Bicentennial nust have assuned they were truly
Sugar Grove's honored guests. The Washington Crcuit of the
Met hodi st Soci ety appointed a conmttee 25 January 1851. Its
purpose was to estimte the probable cost of erecting a
Meeti ng House for Sugar G ove. Andrew Post, Sanuel Briggs, and
Reuben Pursell immediately set forth to achieve this goal.
Four deeds are pertinent to the original property. These are
in the Ofice of Recorder at the Court House, Washington C H.,
Onhi o.

Book Q Page 91, 2 June 1851, WIliam Rush and Harri et
sold 1 A & 19 1/2 poles with any houses, etc. to the
Trustees of Sugar Grove: Zephani ah Bryan, WIIiam Ki ng,

Hi ram Rush, Samuel Briggs, WIIliam Ri chards, Andrew Post,
CGeorge W Easterbrook, Reuben Pursell, and John
Or-Trustees in Trust for use of nenbers of the Methodi st
Epi scopal Church; located in Baron Steuben, Survey 663 on
t he banks of Sugar Creek in line with properties owned by
John Or, Senior and John Orr, Junior.

Book Q Page 93. 4 February 1853. WIlliam Rush and wife
transferred 75 rods to John King, WIIliam King, H ram
Rush, George W Easterbrook, Reuben Pursell, and John
Or, Junior, Trustees of Sugar G ove for the purpose of a
buryi ng grounds same |ocation and survey nunber al ong
Sugar Creek to the southwest corner of the Sugar G ove
Meeti ng House.

Book 20, Page 595. 10 March 1894. WE. Sturgeon and wife
M nni e, Joseph C. Fisher and wife Bertha, Joseph S.
Fisher and wife Anelia sold to the Trustees of Sugar
Grove ME. Church for cenetery; |ocated northeast corner
of Sugar Grove property; reserved Lots 9,14 & 16, each
si xteen by 20 feet for selves.

Book 31, Page 78 1902, 0.0. Garinger for one dollar and
exchange of property (small strip of land) to Trustees of
Sugar Grove Church: J.S. Fisher, J.M Parrett, Harry
King, J.H Elliott, WIIliam Hardway, and WE. Sturgeons
north-south [ine of cenetery.
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Six nonths after the first deed was recorded, Sugar G ove
opened for its intended purpose-a place to study and worship
God's word and to practice the Christian |ove taught by Hi s
son.

Superi nt endent Samuel Briggs died a short tine later, and
WlliamA. King, the twenty-eight year old son of John King,
was tapped to | ead, guide, and nurture the nenbers.

This seventh child of Reverend King |ived about a half
mle fromthe church (now the hone of Ms. WIIliam Fannin). He
devoted his life to the theol ogical teachings of Wsley and
the mi ssionary work of Francis Asbury. He served the Methodi st
Society well and capably officiated at many functions.

Not only did WIIliam Asbury King serve as a secretary and
trustee in his local church, he |l abored continuously in the
work of the circuit and conference. He net the stewards of the
Chillicothe District (1850) and was |icensed to preach (1852);
was appoi nted secretary of the Tract conmittee on the
Washington Crcuit (1853); had served on the Parsonage
commttee for the Staunton Circuit (1856); was appointed
trustee in the Ohio Conference (1857); was ordai ned a deacon
(1862); was ordai ned an el der (1881); and was recording
secretary for the Good Hope Circuit, Chillicothe D strict,
Ohi o Conference, a position he held until his death in 1892.
Wlliam A King was a respected man in the Sugar G ove
conmunity and gave much to this church in the first
forty-ei ght years.

The Sugar G ove Church has always been in the Chio
Conference. Fromthe tinme of its founding, it has evolved as a
Christian Methodi st congregati on and has been assigned to
circuits and districts. It was first a part of the Washi ngton
Circuit that extended from Bl oom ngburg and Jeffersonville to
far south beyond Greenfield. In 1856, Sugar G ove was assi gned
to the Staunton Circuit, one of three circuits when the
Washington Circuit divided. There Sugar Grove renmi ned, unti
Elder I.F. King placed it in the Good Hope GCircuit 18 Cctober
1873.

The Good Hope Circuit, although referred to as the Good
Hope Charge at tines, included four churches: Good Hope, Sugar
G ove, Cochran's Chapel, and Martinsburgh (New Martinsburg).
Overtures were made at various times by other congregations to
join this circuit, and Wal nut Creek joined and remai ned four
years, South Sal emrecei ved sone assi stance, and Canp G ove
was | ess successful .

Real i gnnment in the district created a nane change, The
Good Hope Circuit becane the Fayette County Parish in 1929,
and the four churches remained with the addition of Staunton,
Buena Vesta, and Maple Grove. One pastor was assigned to the
pari sh and had an associate | ess frequently than to his
I i king.
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The Met hodi st Society in the United States restructured
its formal organi zation about 1939. The unification of the
Met hodi st Epi scopal Soci ety, Methodi st Protestant Society, and
Met hodi st Epi scopal Col ored Soci ety brought about another
change.

The Fayette County Parish was now cal | ed Good Hope
Parish. Sugar G ove, Good Hope, New Martinsburg and Mapl e
Grove were the circuit's churches with one pastor.

The official body of the Methodi st Society today is the
Uni ted Met hodi st Church. This cane about with the union of the
Met hodi st Church and the Evangelical United Brethern Church in
1968.

Throughout, all the changes in nanes, circuits, parishes,
etc. have little meaning. Sugar Grove remained in the
Chillicothe District all those years, excepting 1931 and 1932.

Today, Sugar Grove United Methodist Church is a part of
the Col unbus South District in the West Chio Conference of the
Uni ted Methodi st Church. This hierarchy has little neaning.

For after all, The Sugar G ove United Methodist Church wll
al ways be Sugar Grove, so naned because it was | ocated al ong
Sugar Creek in a grove of trees.

HI GHLI GHTS OF SUGAR GROVE, 1850-1900

6 Septenber 1850 Sugar Grove Sabbath School opened by
Charl es King at Wabash, Chio

31 Decenber 1851 Referred to as Sugar G ove Chapel
16 August 1856 Sabbat h School Cel ebrati on

4 March 1859 Conpl ete List of Sugar Grove C asses,

Teachers, and Schol ars

Men's Bible Class (First) Men's Bible Class (Second)
James C. King, teacher Davi d Vance, teacher

F.C. Cof fman, teacher J.S. Priddy, teacher

W Iliam Rush, Junior Samuel Gol dsberry

W liam Rush, Seni or James Wthgate

Josi ah Bryan Nel son Wt hgate

George Lindsey Silas Pernell

WilliamH Or Emanuel Pernel |

John McArt hur Martin Dick

John Or, S. L. Goldsberry
Wesl ey Tracey

Wnen's Bible Cass (First) Wnen's Bible O ass (Second)

Eliza Or, teacher E. Bruce, teacher
M Wel chhanmer, teacher A.V. Briggs, teacher 120



Lanum
Irion
Cof f man
Bri ggs
Bri ggs
. Cof f man

O0LImMDT

Charity Coffman

Men's Testanent C ass

E.S. Or
C. Rush
Ali ce Resler

Men's Testanent Cl ass

(First) (Second)

WIlliam A. King, teacher 0. King

H. Rush, teacher J. Lindsey

Jasper Briggs, teacher E. King

J.S. Or M Cof f man

S.C, Or B. Cof f man

John Resl er

F. Crab

M St urgeon

Erasnmus Cof f man

4 March 1862 Soldier's Ald and Relief Society fornmed

16 Novenber 1873 Subscriptions to rai se noney for roof
repairs, new chandeliers, and organ

1874 Wnen's Crusade agai nst whi skey

1 Decenber 1877 Henry Lease, S.S. Superintendent rel ated
to the quarterly Conference, " No reason
to conpl ai n about Sugar G ove, not as full
as desired, but yet spiritual and
encour agi ng”

10 Decenber 1881 Pastor AR MIller nmade 178 calls on
Circuit last quarter

12 Decenber 1884 At the Quarterly Conference "a | ot of
| adi es present”

1888 Rev, Acton with the ministers in an
organi zation to stop ganbling activities
associated with county fairs

1889 New Brick Church

1890 Epworth League organi zed to pronote
Met hodi sm t hrough benevol ent enterprises

1892 Chil dren's Soci ety organi zed

121



Late in the winter of 1888-1889, the Board of Trustees of
Sugar Grove started a little project, repairing the building.
The building was worthless; with rotting floors, and a
caved-in roof, the Board reconsidered after they had signed a
$600, contract. Before this project was finished, it had
bal | ooned into one of major construction.

The first idea was to build a church building costing
about $2,500. Instead, the new brick church with an opera
floor, furnace, circular pews, and a corner tower cost $4, 300.
Pastor MW Acton as the “Crowning | nprovenent at Sugar G ove”
described it.

The entire Sugar Grove comunity and friends united in
the enterprise, expressed their appreciation, and antici pated
bl essed spiritual results.

Sugar Grove Church held its services at a school house
al ong Wabash Run, and the Sunday school net regularly with
Superintendent WIIliam Hardway in charge during the
construction.

Har dway pl aced sone itens in the cornerstone during the
construction. The known itens are a Civil War Service Record
and a witten Sunday school Report; other itenms are unknown.

The District Deacon, Reverend D.H Moore, officiated for
t he dedi cation 20 Cctober 1889. A |arge congregati on had
assenbl ed, and pride, fellowship, and spiritual renewal
existed In Sugar Grove Church, so dedicated to GOD s Kl NGDOM

The Good Hope Circuit accorded Sugar Grove the honor of
hol ding the first revival 1889-1890.

A bell was donated in 1893. (It has been repeated as
hearsay that Elizabeth (Brakefield) Cripps of the Anderson
Road donated this, because she |loved to hear the ring of
church bells.) The wought iron fence was built about the sane
time.

The next great historical celebration took place 28 Apri
1894. The purpose of it was to recoghize the fiftieth
anni versary of Sugar G ove Sunday school. Newspaper
announcement s extended "cordial welconme" to all fornmer
schol ars and everyone in the conmunity. Songs, declamations,
and addresses were planned for this Bicentennial Celebration.

The | engt hy programme was pl anned and conducted by
WIlliam E. Sturgeon. The participants were Reverend Joseph
Hare, Reverend George Cherrington, Nellie Fisher, Oa Johnson
Harry Silcott, Maud Parrett, Penny Magruder, C. W Rhodes,
Emett D. King, Murris Sharp, Ms. Eliza Waddl e, and Professor
Cheney.

Menbers who were appointed in April of that year included
W liam Hardway, Superintendent; Joseph Bryan, Treasurer;
Harry King, Secretary; Maud Parrett, Organist; Sarah Lease,
Chorister; and Essie Elliott, Librarian.

The nanmes of the Board of Trustees remamin nostly the sane
for a period; new nanes appeared whenever a trustee noved away
or was deceased.
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NAMES OF BOARD OF TRUSTEES 1851-1874

Zephani ah Bryan John Orr

Andr ew Post Joseph Lanum
Henry Lease | saac M Johnson
W A. King W liam Brannan

NAVES OF BOARD OF TRUSTEES ADDED AFTER 1874
(years within parentheses indicate year added)

Hugh Sni der (1875) W Fl etcher Bryan (1875)
WH. Or (1876) J.S. Or (1882

AV. Or (1884) John Rowe (1886)

Josi ah Bryan (1886) W 1iam Hardway (1887)
T.H Johnson (1887) WIlliamE. Sturgeon (1888)
Marion Parrett (1890) John Parrett (1891)

Aiver Garinger (1892) J. M Parrett (1894)

Janes Marine (1894)

Trust ees’ Names appeari ng before 1910 were Harry King,
Tasso Post, WIIliam Hardway, J.S. Fisher, Joseph Elliott,
Howard Brakefield, Clark Post, and WIllard Everhart.

Throughout the church's history, the Board of Trustees
has al ways showed their concern toward repairs, maintenance,
and the aesthetic beauty of the property.

Elmer F. Arnbrust, Chairman of the Board, appointed
Lawr ence Bl ack, Alvin Arnbrust, and George Anderson on the
conmittee for redecorating the sanctuary.

This conm ttee set about the task of overseeing this to
conmpl etion during 1942. They hired C arence Thonas, a | oca
pai nter and contractor. They contracted with the Franklin Art
d ass Conpany for the installation of the eleven art gl ass
w ndows that are displayed today. Qmar Sturgeon voluntarily
refinished the floors and ot her wooden structures in the
sanctuary. \Wen this conmittee finished the project, nenbers
and friends of the Sugar G ove congregation had donated ninety
percent of the funds.

A 1953- 1955 project concerned the exterior of the
bui | di ng-roof, gutters, spouting, front doors, etc.

The nost extensive renodeling started in about 1969 and
continued four years. This consisted of repairs to the art
gl ass wi ndows and the addition of storm w ndows; the | owering
of the ceiling in the sanctuary; the replacing of the
el ectrical system the installing of new lights; and the
appl yi ng of new roofing, spouting, etc.

Preserving the beautiful brick exterior of the building
has been done in recent years. Wen the building was erected
in 1889, the materials for the joints cane froma gravel pit
on the Anderson Road. On nore than one occasion, 0.0. Garinger
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remarked to the famly, "When | narried and noved here in
1869, | had no noney to give for the new church building. |
gave what | had to give," The joints had been nended a couple
of tinmes, and finally the whole exterior bricks were
sand- bl asted and poi nt ed.

The stoned parking |lot, adjacent to the building, was
bl ack-topped in 1974 after sixteen years.

Throughout the records, enphasis has been on educati on:
anonynous conpositions were witten and read by vol unteers;
100 Bi bl e verses and paragraphs were conmitted to nenory;
library materials have been purchased, such as Methodi st
paper backs, periodicals, Bibles, alphabetical and pictorial
cards, Bible dictionaries, and many adult novels on Christian
stories and biblical characters; and song and sayings of a
uni son nature for the preschool attendee.

In this "Church beside the Road" (words that surely are
uttered by Dick deadall) nusic has always been a medi um by
which the Lord's work is expressed. As early as 1859, W Iron
(Irion?) and T. Edwards were appointed to a nusic comm ttee.
Concerts were held, and various persons were enployed to teach
| essons in nusic. About 1869 the chorister becanme an appointed
position and has continued to this day, now called the song
| eader. Sugar Grove's Choir of today gives nenbers nuch
pl easure and spreads the Christian nessage. Wthout nentioning
“ONE ACCORD, " this history would not be conplete.

Much di scussion centered around the direction the church
and its congregation would go during the pastorate of Reverend
Ver|lin Dearbaugh. The church becane an i ndependent Met hodi st
Church in its present district and conference and enbarked
cautiously to neet present and future needs, especially with
Robert WAtts as pastor.

Reverend Robert D. Klingler came to the Wst GChio
Conference by assignment fromthe Wst Pennsyl vani a
Conference. He and his famly noved into a new parsonage
during the sunmer of 1987.

Many, many persons in the past and present have
contributed their |abors, materials, tine, noney, and service
to Sugar Gove. The list is endless, and each has known and
knows how nmuch you have uplifted God's work. As it was in the
beginning in a little chapel on the banks of Sugar Creek anbng

the sugar nmaple trees, it is the sanme today --- a great
Openness ---- sharing a strong Fell owship ----- spiritua
warmh ------ and a great Reliance on GOD through H S SON

These give us cause for a Joy of Celebration in 1989.

HI GHLI GHTS OF SUGAR CROVE CHURCH, after 1930

August 1930 Rev. N. H Peterson conferred with State of Chio
H ghway Departnment about parking space in front
of the church; cooperation obtained

124



Speci al classes in the Sunday school

reor gani zed-study Lut her King, grandson of
WIlliamA. King, continues to serve on the
Board of Trustees (died 1973); a nenber since
1911 Luther Cockerill (along with the other
Lut her King) served many, |ong dedicated hours
with the church business for many years died
1969); made notion to purchase the art gl ass
w ndows

1952 New pi ano & organ

Anot her, one of many for 25 years or nore,
report of the farmby Harry Silcott, who was
the treasurer

1959 First tel ephone installed

1961 First Summer Bi bl e School organized by Rev,
Lester Litton Joy deadall & Evelyn Rice
vol unteered along with many others in keeping
the church clean; July 12'" twenty nembers went
to Billy Gahanis Crusade in Col unbus, Chio

1974 Paul Brunner, Chairman, of the new car pet

Addi tional Bibles purchased for pew racks;
prayer chain: Initiated by Rev. Dearbaugh

Hymmal s presented by M. & Ms. Richard Wilfe &
M, & Ms, Ray Jinks In Menory of Opal
(Johnson) Jinks

Beautification of and preservation of the
edifice and belfrey; Joe Bl ack, Chairmn

1986- 1987 Bui | di ng of parsonage after careful planning

1987 Par sonage Consecration

1989 Joy of Cel ebration, 1889 1989, present church
bui | di ng

Fromthe Mnutes of the Oficial Board of Sugar G ove
Church, 1932-1956 and M nutes of the Adm nistrative Board,
1956- 1987, there are many nanes, but their official capacity
with the church is not specified always. To present these
nanes with specific titles would be unfitting.
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*These are the nanmes so found in those mnutes and an
approxi mate date when first noted, know ng that the individua
may have very well served before or/and after the date so

i sted.

El mer F. Arnbrust (1932)
WL. Porter (1932)

Ray Fi sher (1932)
Harry Silcott (1932)
Harol d Hi se (1935)
John Merritt (1935)
Lut her King (1937)

Al vin Arnbrust (1947)
Geor ge Anderson (1949)
Howar d Barney (1954)
Ral ph Pol Il ard (1957)
Frank Berry (1958)

W bur H dy (1958)
Dick G eadall (1965)
Norman Merritt (1965)
WlliamC evell e (1968)
Gene Juillerat (1970)
John Bryant (1970)
Kenneth Bl ack (1984)
Thad Gossett (1984)
Al i ce Browder (1962)
Joe Bl ack (1982)

Ron Wal ker (1980)
Dougl as Martin (1987)
Dan Theesfel d (1984)

*Any om ssions of nanes are not

Earl M Johnson (1932)
Lawrence Bl ack (1932)
Omar Sturgeon (1932)

H E. Keifer (1932)

Homer G o Garinger (1935)
Lut her Cockerill (1935)
Harol d Brakefield (1941)
WIllard Arnbrust (1949)
El don Bet hards (1953)
Paul Brunner (1956)
Gsman King (1957)

Wesl ey That cher (1958)
Don C. Makarius (1960)
Philip Scharenberg (1965)
M ke WIson (1976

Virgil Rice (1976)

W |iam Root

Charl es Cockerill (1975
LI oyd Barbee (1975)
Marilyn Gossett (1983)
Janes Pool e (1975)

Russ Augsburger (1985)
Thomas Wl lianms (1983)
Patti Martin (1986)

Dan Arnmbrust (1986)

i nt ended.

I NSCRI PTI ONS OF ART GLASS W NDOWAG

In Menory of Marion & Hulda Parrett
In Menory of Mss Olie Rowe
In Menory of Hugh & Rebecca Snider
In Menory of M. & Ms. Henry Lease and Daughters
In Menory of M. & Ms. Gscar Branen & Son
M. & Ms. WIlliamE. Sturgeon
Post
John Hi nton Hoppes
In Menory of Jacob S. & Roberta Cockerill
M. & Ms. EF. Arnbrust & Famly
M. & Ms. 0.0. Garinger & Fam |y
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PASTORS ASSOCI ATED W TH SUGAR GROVE

These nanmes were conpiled fromseveral lists witten by the
late Wlliam A King; Emett Do King (dec.); Omar F. Sturgeon
(dec.); Bill and Marge Root; and fromall avail abl e Church

records. There is no assurance these are correct. The years
are overl appi ng, because nministers were assigned | ate sumrer
or fall. Some mnisters were also traveling mnisters on a

large circuit.

1844 Martin Wl fe, Noah Hough 1868- 1869 A. M Al exander
1844- 1845 John W Riely (Keely?) Bost wi ck

Barzilla N. Spahr 1869- 1870 David Smith

W1 liam Si nmons Anci | Brooks
1845- 1846 John W Riely (Keely?) 1870- 1871 Hugh Boyd

Val enti ne Beaner (Beaman?) Those H. Hall
1846- 1847 Archi bal d Fl eni ng 1871- 1873 M V. B. Evans

James B. Austin H Phillips
1847- 1848 James B. Austin Geo. W Mirry

G |l bert C. Townsley 1873- 1876 Z. W Fagan
1848- 1849 Thomas W Chandl er 1876- 1878 J.W Wakefield

Sanford Hai nes 1878- 1881 L. C. Brooks
1849- 1850 Sanuel Brown 1881- 1884 AR Mller

M|l ton G Baker 1884- 1887 A B. Sniff
1850- 1851 MIton G Baker 1887- 1888 WT. Harvey

Samuel M ddl et on 1888- 1891 M W Acton

J.F. Reed 1891- 1894 Geo. Cherrington
1851- 1852 E. H. Di xon 1894- 1896 Ral ph WAt son

H F. Geen 1896- 1899 B. E. Thonas

Barton Lowe 1899- 1902 P. H. Chappel ear
1852- 1853 Barton Lowe 1902- 1906 R C. Ondorff

Wl liam Sutton 1906- 1910 C. A. Hughes
1853- 1854 M T. Bowman 1910- 1914 George He Creaner

W liam Sutton 1914- 1918 C.L. Pfaltzgraf
1854- 1855 Joseph Morris 1918- 1920 WA, Wi tner

J.F. WIllians 1920- 1924 D.E. Moffett
1855- 1856 Joseph Morris 1924- 1926 Vernon H. |ckes

J.F. WIlians 1926- 1929 C.H. Morrison

St rawt her Evans 1929- 1936 N. H. Peterson
1856- 1857 Sanuel M ddl et on (Associ ate: F.G Boroff)
1857- 1858 J.W Steele 1936- 1940 R S. Meyer

S. S. Mount 1940- 1946 Forest M Moon
1858- 1859 WH. Mdintock 1946- 1949 Guy E. Tucker

HR Mller 1949- 1955 Eugene Frazier
1859- 1860 WH. Mdintock 1955- 1957 Ral ph Yoss

E. C. Heagl er 1957- 1960 Harold M Hugus
1860- 1861 N. Westerman 1960- 1964 Lester Litton

J.D. Fry; J.H Acton 1964- 1966 Robert Hayden
1861- 1862 N. Westernman 1966- 1968 R C. MDowel |

J.D. Fry 1968- 1978 Earl Russell
1862- 1863 T.G Ross; J.G Lakin 1978- 1979 Denni s Meyer
1863- 1864 Janes M ddl et on 1979- 1981 Verlin Dearbaugh
1864- 1865 J.C. Lakins; N Ross 1981- 1982 Rodney Bur k

Matt hias Cherry 1982- 1986 Robert Watts
1865- 1866 T.G Ross 1986- Harol d Stafford

Zechari ah VWarton 1986- Robert KlIingler
1866- 1867 A. M Al exander

W F. Hughey
1867- 1868 G. H Hixon

A. M Al exander
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ROLL OF HONOR: Menbers serving in Arned Services WV I I

after.

El den A Arnbrust
Charl es Ronal d Arnbrust
WIllard L. Arnbrust
Ll oyd Bar bee

Paul Bet hards
Frank Bl ack

Robert Bl ack
WIllard B. Browder
Alvin Carroll

Nor man Cockeril |
Her man Cockeril |
Har | ey Daugherty
Caroline Garringer
Paul Garri nger
Robert Gordon

Ri chard G aham
Charl es Jenki ns
den Jette

Mal col m Jette

Rex Looker

Jack Lusher

Donal d NMat hews
Louel | a Pl easant
W1 liam Root

Janmes R Tayl or

Bi bl i ogr aphy:

Don H \Wal ker
Frank Weade

Robert W /I son

Homer W/ son. Jr.
Donal d Bonham
Roger Bonham

Gary Browder

Charl es M Cockerill
Ri chard Cockerill
Donal d Cockeri ||
Joe Eugene Cockerill
Ri chard B. d eadal |
Gone CGustin

Joseph Hidy
Cifford Puckett

St ephen Thonpson
Kenneth W Bl ack
Janmes Bonham
Terry Jenkins

Dani el Rice

Thomas E. WIIlians
Jerry M W/l son
Gregory B. Browder
Ronal d L. \Wal ker

and
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-witten by
- Sharp Copier, furnished by Charles R Shaper

From Fai th Poens, published by the Wdow of Frank G ubbs. No
Dat e nor publishing conpany given. (Borrowed from Harri et
King Coil, 1989)

VIRI TTEN BY FRANK GRUBBS

HEAVEN

They say "that Heaven's In the heart,”
| would not have it so;

I'd have it sonething set apart
Fromthis old world bel ow,

I'd have it somewhere past the stars,
Beyond the m st of dreans,

Where tender arnms reach out to clasp,
And God's great |ove redeens.

They say "that Heaven's in the heart,”
Nay-there's a farther quest;

Somewher e beyond t he grave's enbrace,
There lies a Land of Rest;

Somewhere in the far deep of space,
Beyond the azure shore;

Am d enpyreal splendors w de
There is a gol den door. 129



0, fleet and sweet, ny soul shall w ng
It's flight when [ife is done,

Cl ear singing through A ynpian ways,
Past noon and star and sun;

Somewhere in the Creation's vast
Where nortal foot ne'er trod,

Lies the sweet Heaven of ny dreans
Wth the eternal God.

Frank G ubbs (1881-1973) had many highlights in his career: a
prof essi onal baseball|l player, three terns in the Chio Cenera
Assenbly as Fayette County's own and his marriage to Zora
Stewart G ubbs. Frank was the brother-in-law of Luther and
Lena (Stewart) King. Frank's crowning achi evenrent was his
ability to express living in his poetry, over 600 poens.
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Wal nut Hill Church of Christ in Christian Union
(Green Twp,)

I n August of 1927 a nunber of people gathered at the
home of M. and Ms. H G Waln for a neeting and al so
di scussed ways of pronoting holiness in this community.
There were a series of revival neetings held in various
pl aces with Rev. F. B. Kiefel, of Cincinnati, Ohio, as the
evangel i st. Meetings were held in the different homes each
Wednesday and Sunday evening from Decenmber 1927 to March 1,
1928. At that time they rented the old Oive School
Building fromC. F. Kisling and established a little
m ssi on, which was known as "Inter-Denom national M ssion".

The Oive School Building, which they occupied, is
characteristic of the one-room schools, which dotted the
rural sections back a nunmber of years ago. Instead of the
traditional red brick, this building differs in that
respect as it is white and of frame construction. It
stands in Green Township on the Barger Road between the
Hi | | sboro- Washi ngton highway (Rt. 62) and the Stafford Rd.

The I nter-Denom nati onal M ssion organi zed a Sunday
School with the follow ng officers: Supt., Mss Mae Dunn;
Secretary, Herbert Dunn; Treasurer, H G Wln; Misic
Director, Clara Akins. The teachers were H G Waln, Una
Wal n, Mary Waln and Cl ara Akin.

Those responsible for starting the m ssion were: M.
and Mrs. John Dunn, Arthur Dunn, d adys Dunn, Frank Dunn,
M. and Ms. C. L. Daugherty, Helen Daugherty, M. and Ms.
Dan Roads, W F. Watt, M. and Ms. H G Wln, Mary Wl n,
E. P WIt, M. and Ms. Albert Akins, Mae Dunn, Herbert
Dunn, M. and Ms. Marion Carter, Elizabeth Edwards.

M ni sters who preached for the m ssion were Rev. F. B.

Ki efel and Rev. Frank Dunne.

As sone |eft the organization to join other churches or
noved away fromthe comunity the renmining nmenbers of the
M ssion organi zed into one of the Churches of Christ in
Christian Union.

Those who becane charter nenbers of the church fromthe
M ssion were: Ms. Matilda Dunn, NMae Dunn, Herbert Dunn,

Al bert Akins, Cara Akins, Ms. Fannie Frazier.

A Church of Christ in Christian Union organi zati on was
effected in July, 1929, being nanmed Wal nut Hill because at
that time the little religious group net in the old Wl nut
Hi Il school building, having noved fromthe dive
school house. F. D. Theobald owned the Wal nut Hill buil ding.

It was during the winter of 1931-1932 that the trustees
of the church purchased the old dive School Building and
renmodeled it for a church. It was dedi cated free of any debt
in 1932. Rev. E. A Keaton, noderator of the Churches of
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Christ in Christian Union officiated. Trustees at the tine
of purchase and dedi cati on were Al bert Akins, Steve Shubert
and Roscoe Thur man.

The nanes of the pastors of the church are given as they
have served: Rev. Arizona Flint, Rev. Frank Soll ars, Rev.
Frank Hunter, Rev. Arthur George, Rev. Charles Botts, Rev.
Clara Akins, Rev. A E Sager, Rev. Mrris Sall ee.

Besi des the charter nenbers |isted above other menbers
recalled, as attending were J. B. Losey, Rebecca Adans, Roy
West, Bessie West, Joe Poll ard.

(I'nformation by Rev. Clara Akins.) Sept. 1955.
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A H STORY OF
THE WH TE OAK GROVE METHODI ST CHURCH
GREEN TOMWNSHI P, FAYETTE COUNTY, OH O
1829- 1955
Compi l ed by Marvin G Schamaun, Pastor

PREFACE

It has been with great joy and enthusiasmthat | have set
about the task of witing a brief history of the Wite Cak
Grove Congregation. It has afforded me much pleasure to find
many of the ancestors of the present congregation in histories
and wills. History cane alive for nme, as it never has before,
and the nore facts that cane to light, the nore it gave ne
i npetus to further ny research. However, it goes w thout
saying that this history is not in any way concl usive or
conplete. On the other hand, | have endeavored to docunent al
facts whenever they could be traced.

Let nme say that the names nentioned are docunented as
historic figures naned in R S. Dills' Hi story of Fayette
County in connection with the church or township. Qhers
mentioned are given by menory frominterviews and nmenories are
not always accurate. If any inportant person has been onitted
it has not been done intentionally.

The writer hopes that this history will be of interest
and pleasure to the nenbers and friends of the Wiite Cak G ove
Congregation. It has been our earnest desire to be of service
to you and all concerned.

MARVI N G SCHAMAUN, PASTOR
Washi ngton Court House, Chio

BEG NNI NGS
Pl aces

W nust journey into the past if we are to discover the
foundati ons of our congregation. Its roots stretch their
fingers far back into the early history of Onhio, yes, even
into our nation's history.

Green Township, Fayette County, has a |long and gl orious
history. It is a part of the Virginia MIlitary Reservation of
Colonial tinmes. Al the territory northwest of the Ghio River
was clainmed by Virginia. The provision for this | and was nade
under the Articles of Confederation dated Novenber 15, 1777
and remained in effect until the ratification of the
Constitution in 1788 under the discussion on "Public Lands."
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The Virginia Mlitary Survey was described as foll ows:
"That a quantity not exceeding one hundred and fifty thousand
acres of land, prom sed by this state, shall be allowed and
granted to Gen. Ceorge Rodgers Cark, and to the officers and
soldiers of Chio as a majority of the officers shall choose,
and to be afterwards divided anong the said officers and
soldiers in due proportion according to the Iaws of Virginia.
That in case the quantity of good | ands, on the south side of
the Ohio, upon the waters of the Cunberland River, and between
the G een River and the Tennessee, which have been reserved by
law for the Virginia troops, upon continental establishnment,
shoul d prove insufficient for their |egal boundries, the
deficiency should be nade up to said troops in good |lands to
be laid off between the rivers Scioto and Little Mam, on the
north west side of the River Chio, in such proportions as have
been engaged to themby laws or Virginia."?

The Virginia Mlitary District included the foll ow ng
counties: Adanms, Brown, Clernont, Cinton, Hi ghland, Fayette,
Madi son and Union. It also included portions of Scioto, Pike,
Ross, Pickaway, Franklin, Delaware, Marion, Hardin, Logan
Chanpai gn, C arke, G een, Warren, and Ham lton. An "Act of
Cession" set the boundaries in 1783 but they were not definite
until a decision of the Suprene Court in 1824.

The Ludlow Iine was the first survey in the Virginia
Mlitary District and it began at the head waters of the
Little Mam in the northeast corner of Madi son Township,
Clarke County, a little nore than three mles east by north
from South Charleston, at a point of the Colunbus and Xeni a
Rai | road, now t he Pennsyl vania, about a half mle southwest of
t he point where the road crosses the county |line, and extends
north by west through Chanpai gn County, passing about five
mles east of Urbana. In Logan County, it runs through the
eastern part of Bellefontaine, and strikes the |Indiana boundry
line in the northeast corner of Harrison Township, about three
and a half mles north by west from Bel | ef ontai ne. The
earliest surveyor of this territory was Col. R C. Anderson.?

The question nmay be in the mnd of the reader, what is
the Virginia Mlitary District? It was |land given to the
sol diers of the Anmerican Revolution by the State of Virginia
as a bonus for their service. As has been stated Ohio was then
a part of the Virginia territory and the first settlers were
from Virginia.

Fayette County, Green Township, formerly enbraced all of
Concord and part of Jasper and Perry Townshi ps. However, the
boundaries now are thus: it is bounded on the north and east
by Concord and Perry Townshi ps, on the south by Hi ghl and
County on the west by Cinton County. It occupies the
sout heast corner of Fayette County.

R'S. Dills, History of Fayette County, Qdell and Mayer,
Publ i shers Dayton, Ohio, 1881, p. 199.
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Rattl esnake Creek enters the township at survey 5448 and
fl ows southwest to survey 3986, thence south to the county
line constituting a part of the eastern border. Lees Creek has
its source in Concord Townshi p, thence fl ows sout heast
entering Green in survey 5349; thence south, crossing the
entire township and entering Hi ghland County. These are the
only inmportant streanms in the township. The soil is black | oam
and hi ghly productive of wheat and corn.®

Peopl e

We have given sone space to the history of the |and and
now | et us turn our attention to sone of the early settlers of
Green Townshi p and ancestors of some of the present nenbers of
our congregation.

Aside from stragglers, hunters, and trappers, Jesse Rowe
was the first worthwhile inhabitant within the limts of Geen
Township. He mgrated fromVirginia to Ross County, Chio in
1803. He was the father of nine children: John, Jessie, Jr.,
WIlliam Janmes, Elizabeth, Mary, Jane, Susan, and Sarah. These
facts can be born out by his will Record of WIlls, Volune "B"
page 282, dated Septenber 20, 1845. He noved to Fayette County
in 1807 and | ocated on the Little Wabash, which becane the
honestead. After the organi zation of the County in 1810, he
served as Justice of the Peace for four ternms. He al so served
as township trustee and other offices.

Rowe was a class | eader and exhorter in the Methodi st
Epi scopal Church until his death. He is called the Father of
Met hodi smin Fayette County. W may say that he was the
begi nni ng of our congregation since there was no Mt hodi st
Protestant Church at this time. The first class neeting was
held in his cabin. Robert Dobbins was the founder of many of
t hese classes so we nay conjecture that he nay have hel ped to
start this one, however, this is pure supposition and cannot
be docunented. Dills' Hi story of Fayette County, states that
he left a liberal legacy to the church but his will does not
bear this out: "I give and bequeath unto the Methodi st
Epi scopal Church (3/4) three fourths of an acre of |and
i ncluding the neeting house thereon being the residue of one
acre of land on which a distinct school house is erected on
the farmwhereon | now live so |long as the aforesaid Church
shal |l occupy the aforesaid house as a place of public worship
provi ded always that if the aforesaid Church shall cease to
occupy the aforesaid house as a place of public worship, then
and in that case the gift hereby made shall be void to al
intents and purposes and will revert to ny son John."

This will was, of course, in favor of the dive Chapel
Met hodi st Epi scopal Church, which according to R S. Dlls'

Hi story of Fayette County was the ol dest organi zation in G een
Township, and in all probability, was founded by the Rev.
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Robert Dobbi ns before he becane dissatisfied with the
Epi scopal form of governnent of the Methodist Episcopa
Chur ch.

Jesse Rowe died in 1845. He was | oved and respected by
all. He was also a private in the Revol utionary War

Thormas Moon, Sr. came to Chio in 1810 with his famly,
John, Jacob, Christine, Jane, David, WIliam Janes, Margaret
and Thomas, Jr. They settled on Rattl esnake Creek. They were
of the Quaker faith opposing any form of violence. The tract
of land on which they settled was a dividing ridge. Thomas
Moon, Sr. was the first man to operate a sawm ||l and flourml|
in Geen Township. Hs farmwas conprised of 1100 acres in
H ghl and and Fayette Counties. J. D. Mbon was a school teacher
in the townshi p and served under Andrew Jackson in New
O | eans.

David Davis was born in Pennsylvania in the year 1785,
and migrated to Centerfield, Highland County, Chio. He raised
excellent corn crops. He later noved to G een Township
| ocating on the farm of John Garrett in a cabin | ater used for
a school. He rented here one year and the foll ow ng year he
purchased fifty acres fromJohn Garrett. He married Hanna
Gelum in Pennsylvania. To this union was born eight children,
whose nanmes appear in order of birth as follows: Mary,
Branson, Nancy, WIIliam David, Catherine, Hannah, Melissa. At
the tinme of his death he owned one hundred and six acres of
| and, which went to his son
Branson. And here the story ends as recorded by R S. Dlls’
Hi story of Fayette County, but it does not end for the
congregation of Wiite OGak G ove, for you see Branson Davis was
one of the trustees of this church at the tinme the present
site of Iand was purchased from Robert Patton and his wife,
Jane, for the sumof $24.75 on the first day of Septenber,
1856.

Branson Davis had two daughters, Jane and Meriah. Meriah
married a Tudor. Jane married Farrill Patton and to this union
was born four children, Lucinda, Sarah Jane, WIIliam and
Davi d. Lucinda married Janes Allen and to this union was born
Willard Allen and Inez Allen Stuckey. Inez married Jed Stuckey
and to this union was born two sons Paul and Robert. Robert's
son, Terry Lynn, is the seventh generation from David Davis.
Sarah Jane married WIlbur WIlson and they had one daughter
Lelia. Lelia married Cloyd Craig and to this union was born
Carl, Lorie (Southerland), MIldred (Welty), and Ruth Ann
(Whiteside). The grandchildren of Lelia Craig, of which there
are five, Joyce Ann and Linda Wiiteside, Cynthia and Carla
Craig, and Cara Jane Wlty, are also the seventh generation
from Davi d Davi s.

WIlliam Patton had two daughters, O a (Taylor) of
Washi ngt on Court House, Chio and Opal (Newberry) of
Pennsyl vani a.

David Patton had three children, Oren, Hazel and
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Dor ot hy( Saner) of Colunbus. Oen married Clara Belle Smth and
to this union was born Patricia (Payton). Dorothy married

Ri chard Saner of Colunbus and to this union was born David

Ri chard. Therefore, Patty and Ricky are the sixth generation
fromDavid Davis. O those nmentioned in this famly tree the
followi ng are nmenbers of the present congregation: WIllard
Al'len, Inez Allen Stuckey, Paul and Robert Stuckey, Hazel,
Clara Belle Patton and Patricia Patton Payton.

These fanilies have a long heritage of good Christian
ancestors dating fromDavid Davis who was born in 1785. It is
to these famlies that we owe nuch as those who have hel ped to
gi ve us our present congregation, W would like to nention at
this point that "Aunt Laura" Patton, as she is affectionately
known, is the oldest living nmenber of the present
congregation. She is the nother of Oren, who is deceased
Hazel of the honme and Dorothy Saner of Col unbus, OChio. She was
al so a nenber of the church when it was destroyed by fire in
1916. It has been interesting to followthis famly tree,
however, it was a bit difficult to put the puzzle together.

Ri chard Smth, Sr. entered these | ands and settled on the
banks of Paint Creek in the year 1810. He found the entry
covered with trees. In one spot they forned a natural shelter
Here he began to clear the land for crops. He served in the
War of 1812. He returned and his ax rang clear through the
thicket. He was returning from Wshi ngton one spring when the
waters were high and he attenpted to ford the stream and
dr owned.

Zeduk Morris came to Green Townshi p about 1820 to | ook
for suitable |Iand upon which to settle. He was born in G ayson
County, Virginia about fourteen mles fromthe North Carolina
border. H's lands were hilly and barren and satisfied with its
producti veness he settled on this land, which it was said he
never regretted. He was acconpani ed by his brother |saac and
they | ocated on a hundred acre tract surveyed by Abram Hi ght.
The |l and was purchased from Dani el Buress. Settlenment was nade
in 1823. In 1881 he had added to his land until he now had
three hundred and twenty-eight acres.

The nei ghbor hood was settled by WIIliam Bankson, Joshua
Hai nes, Philip Barger, one of the first settlers; Enos Reeder,
Ednund and Janmes McVay, all Quakers, and good citizens.

Anot her interesting addition that goes beyond that nentioned
in the pages of Dills' History is that Zeduk Mrris was the
great grandfather of Delbert Mrris, and that Denson Adans
Morris and Del ores Jean Morris CGodfrey, his son and daughter
are the fifth generation to live in the sanme house on the sane
| and sel ected by their great, great, grandfather. Thus we have
been able to trace three of our families fromearly days to
the present. We regret that we have not the tinme to trace
nore. Wth the facts given in Dills' History of Fayette County
and the help given by these fanmlies we were able to conplete
the picture for which the witer is grateful.?
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Cust ons

We have given a brief story of the land and some of its
early settlers and now | think that we should spend a bri ef
nonent with some of its early custons.

The wonen of the early days had no tinme for satin and
| aces and pretty frills as do our women of today. They worked
hard. They m | ked, cooked, spun and wove the garnents for the
entire famly and all w thout any automatic equi pnent such as
the | adi es have today.

The nmen raised small crops and ground the corn and wheat.
They brought in the neat, which was usually fromthe woods.
The clothing was sinple; it consisted of a linsey hunting
shirt, buck-skin breeches and jacket with a coon-skin cap. His
shoes were noccasin made from one piece of |eather that was
tethered at the ankle. They were fine until it rained or
snowed and then, "it was only a decent way of going
bar ef oot ed. "°

Can you imagine going to a wedding in buckskins and
arriving at the home of the bride before noon. And on the way
t he younger nmen woul d race through the thicket to the brides
house and the one wi nning was given a bottle of whisky. They
then woul d run back to the groomto show off their prize.
After the cerenony the dancing would begin and go on until the
next nmorning. And in the evening they spirited away the bride
to the I oft and the young | adi es hel ped her prepare for bed.
Later on unnoticed by the crowd the groomwould join his
bride. Near the m d-night hour the crowd woul d take them a
full meal, which consisted of roast pork cabbage, and the
trimm ngs, which would be enough for four hungry men and make
themeat all of it.

The settling of the young peopl e consisted of house
rai sing and warm ng. They usually were married early in life
with the first experience of the feeling of love. It was not
difficult to establish a hone because all that was required
could be provided by hard worKk.

Al'l participated the raising of the cabin. During its
erection usually each group had an assigned job. One group
fell the |ogs, another notched them and still others put them
in place. The walls were usually raised in one day. The fl oor
and roof the second and the walls sealed with nortar. The
furniture was conposed of a table nade froma hewed | og two or
nmore feet in dianeter and split in the mddle with [egs set in
bored holes and |ikew se stools nmade in the same manner with
three l egs. The bed was made by driving a fork into the floor
and running small saplings about four inches in dianmeter into
the wall making a bed about four by six feet. There was also a
bark or vine webbing for the springs overlaid with animal
skins or a straw tick

°bid., pp. 260ff
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After the house was conpleted there woul d be a house
warmng simlar to the wedding celebration with lots to eat
and a tinme of jesting and dancing. So were the custons of the
early days. ®

GOVERNMENT
The Met hodi st Epi scopal System

In early Methodi smthe Bishop held the power of
appoi ntment and governnent and his word was | aw. Especially
was this true of the first Anerican Bishop, Bishop Francis
Asbury. It was said of him "But to the man who showed
reluctance to treat his word as |aw, Asbury could be as cold
as ice and as hard as iron." ” An exanple of his rigid
di sci pline was that any person who married outside the
Met hodi st Church was expelled, if they did not live up to the
Met hodi st st andard.

He dermanded absol ute unquesti oni ng obedi ence fromall his
m ni sters. He expected the sane obedi ence fromhis mnisters
as Wesl ey exacted fromhis preachers in England. He refused
any advice fromhis presiding elders (District Superintendent)
as to the appointnment of any minister. There was no "Cabinet"
as the bishop has today. It is a great wonder that the work
prospered as well as it did in those early col onial days when
freedomwas a by-word. He was a born conservative and
autocrat. If it had not been for his undying devotion and
sincerity, he could not have done the work he did. He was a
man of zeal and conpassion along with his sternness.

He drove James O Kelly, a mnister in the Methodi st
Epi scopal Church about 1809, out of the church because he
demanded that there should be sonme appeal to the power of the
bi shop. W might say that Janes O Kelly was the first
Met hodi st Protestant, however, he did not start a new
denomi nation and it was sone years before the real break cane.
McKendree who becane bi shop after Asbury was in synpathy with
Janmes O Kelly as were many ot hers who stayed in the church

But Asbury was God's man to handle the church in its
pl astic stage in the colonial days. It prospered and becane
the church of the frontier.

The Met hodi st Protestant System

As the church grows and becomes settled; it is then that
the schisns begin to appear. It was Martin Luther who said
that nmost churches | ose their evangelistic zeal after about

®'bid., pp. 260-271

"Hal ford E. Luccock, Paul Hutchison, The Story of Methodism
The Met hodi st Book Concern, Cincinnati Chio, 1926, p.245.
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thirty years. It is in this period that schisns are nobst
likely to occur. However, Methodism s evangelistic zeal
outl asted this period.

As was mentioned earlier that James O Kelly coul d have
been the first Methodist Protestant, but he did not found a
new denoni nati on. He was opposed to Bi shop Asbury's dictator
rule. He felt that a man ought to have sone say as to where he
was sent. MKendree felt much the sane as O Kelly. He, too,
| eft the church but returned to becone one of the great
bi shops of the Methodi st Church. It was by his hand that our
own Robert Dobbins received elders’ orders.

The real break cane at the General Conference in 1820.
The issues were nuch the sanme as Janes O Kelly had said that
the mnister should be allowed to appeal his case if he was
not satisfied with his appointnent.

For a long period of time, perhaps, thirty or nore years,
had el apsed before the Methodi st Protestant Church was forned.
The issues of the refornmers canme into the open in the General
Conference held in Baltinore in 1820. The issues were these:
that the presiding elders (District Superintendents) were to
be el ected by the conference rather than appointed by the
bi shop, and that |aynmen be represented in the General
Conference. The chief advocates were Bi shop George Beverly
Waugh and John Enory who | ater becane a Bi shop. They sought
recognition in the General Conference of 1824 but were refused
their request. The Reforners as they were called had no
intention of beginning a new denom nation. But after their
overwhel mi ng defeat in the General Conference of 1828 they
found no other course open to them except to w thdraw
However, previous to this time a nunber had been expelled in
1824 and this was one of the issues, to restore those who had
been expell ed. The Refornmers were called "radical s" by their
opponents. °

It was not a matter of doctrine but of governnent, which
brought into existence the Methodi st Protestant Church. It was
much nore denocratic in its governnent than the Methodi st
Epi scopal . The Met hodi st Protestant Church was formally
brought into being on Novenber 2, 1830 in a convention, which
met in Baltinore. A constitution was formed providing for |ay,
as well as mnisterial representation in General Conference.
The title of bishqp was dropped and the executive officer was
call ed president.?

According to the Quarterly Conference Mnutes of the
Washi ngton Circuit, which was denocratic in its synpathies
fromits inception in 1829, the Quarterly Conference indicated
their preference for pastor and the del egates went to
conference and attenpted to hire the pastor of their choice.

°I'bid., p. 326
W 1iam Warren Sweet, Methodismin American Hi story, Abingdon
Press, Nashville, Tenn., Revised, 1953, p. 183.
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There was no presiding elder or districts, as we know
themin the Methodi st Church today. The president was an
overseer and advi sor who came around about once a year to see
how t hi ngs were goi ng.

Perhaps it would be of some interest to |ook into the
Quarterly Conference Mnutes. "M nutes of the Fourth Quarterly
Conference of Washington Circuit held at M. dive Church
August 21, 1880 at 2 o'clock P. M with the Pastor J. H.

Dal bey in the chair.”" Here then are the |last porti ons of the
nmotions of the neeting: "Mdtion carried to instruct the

Del egate to call for J. H Dalbey as first choice by a vote of
12 for and 7 against. Mdtion was then nade to call for R Rose
second choice and lost by a vote of 4 for and 11 agai nst.
Motion to call for Kingsley and | ost unani nously. Mtion to
call J. W Spring and carried by a vote of 14 for and one

agai nst. "

Another itemof interest is that Wiite Gak G ove and
Pl easant Valley were not on the Circuit for the space of
twel ve years. They went off the Crcuit to becone a part of
the Sabina Circuit on July 19, 1893 and was restored to the
circuit on August 19, 1905. J. E. Bailey was pastor. "A notion
to attach Wiite OCak and Pl easant Valley to the Washi ngton
Circuit provided they pay $200 on pastor's salary
carried."(Quarterly Conference M nutes Washington Circuit, pp
182- 240)

This gives us sone insight into the business procedures
of our church in the early days.

The Merger

In 1939 after a space of one hundred and el even years the
Met hodi st Protestant and Met hodi st Epi scopal North and the
Met hodi st Epi scopal South solved their differences. The
Met hodi st Epi scopal South had rmade its break in 1844 over the
question of slavery. There is now |ay representation in the
Annual Conference and the Ceneral Conference. However,
District Superintendents are still appointed by the bishop and
not el ected. The Episcopal Ofice still remains. It has its
faults but for the npst part, our pastors to a congregational
system prefer it. Today the bishop rests heavily on his
"Cabi net" conposed of the District Superintendents. The | oca
congregation is given nore consideration than ever before. Let
us then continue to work for the upbuilding of the Kingdom of
God so long as Jesus tarries.

SI GNI FI CANT HAPPENI NGS

The Civil \War

We have no records to support the follow ng statenents
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but in a list of pastors supplied by Ms. Jed Stuckey we have
the followng bit of information: "1864 to 68, Rev. P. F.
Johnson enjoyed a successful pastorate, great revival s. The
church was nmade strong.” This is all the information we have
of the church during the Gvil War peri od.

World War |

This seens to have been the strongest period of the
church's history. It was in this period that the fire occurred
that destroyed the white frame structure, which had been
erected in 1857. The dauntl ess congregation shoul d be
conmmrended. It was felt after the fire that it would not be
necessary to restore the church; how wong this would have
been. But our forefathers gave us our beautiful house of
wor shi p.

World War |1

Decenber 7, 1941, the runblings of war becane a
horrifying reality. It seens distant to us until the cal
comes to our own hone and our | oved ones are called from our
m dst .

Al nost no congregation all across our great country was
not affected by the call to arns. Qur little congregation sent
of her sons to the cause of freedom and our way of life. They
wer e Edson Anderson, Donal d Anderson, d en Burnett, Herman
Dow er, Maynard Dowl er, Marvin Marine, Robert MFadden, Harold
Theobal d and Robert Theobal d.

The high cost of war cane to us in the sad | oss of two of
our sons, Harold and Robert Theobald. Harold was killed in
action in ltaly on the fourth day of May 1944 and his brother
Robert was killed in action, also in Italy, on the seventh day
of January 1945. Both of these fine young nmen were the sons of
Charl es and Nora Theobal d of our present congregation.

Prom nent Pastors

Per haps the npbst prom nent and versatile pastor was
Robert Dobbi ns, the founder of the congregation. The Wite Qak
Class was originally a part of the Concord Circuit, which
included in whole or in part Cinton, Fayette, Madi son, G een
and G ark Counties. There were few classes and they were not
too well organized. It was said of Dobbins that he was "an
apostle of truth" and "an angel in human flesh . "

Robert Dobbi ns was born of Scotch Presbyterian parents.
There were eleven in the famly, four sons and seven
daughters. He was born in Northhanpton County, Pennsylvania on
April 20, 1768.

Hi s nother was of a strong character and quite prejudice
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toward the Methodi st sect being a good Presbyterian. However,

she was an honest person and on one occasi on she was persuaded
to listen to a Methodi st sernon and she was deeply i npressed.

When approached by one of her daughters as to what she thought
of the sernon her reply was, "These are God's people and they
are ny people.” Fromthen on she becane a good Met hodi st.

She admi ni stered discipline well and depended
tremendously upon her Heavenly Father. Robert received his
first views of religion fromhis nother. W certainly have
| ost this anobng our nodern nothers for the nost part. He
| earned the Lord's Prayer at the child' s first altar, his
not her' s knee.

Robert Dobbi ns was ordai ned Deacon in the Methodi st
Epi scopal Church by the hand of Bishop Francis Asbury, the
first American Bishop, and the Father of Methodismin Anmerica,
on August 16, 1808 at a canp neeting on Pike Run. He received
his Elders Orders by the hand of B shop McKendree, in Lebanon,
Warren County, OChio.

He first served at Three Mle in Adans County ten mles
north of Mayesville, Kentucky, as an unstationed m nister. The
Lord bl essed his work for he built up a congregation of 119
soul s in eighteen nonths

Hi s finances being at |ow tide, Dobbins tried his hand at
the tradi ng business. On the 8th day of June 1815 he sail ed
down the Ghio to the M ssissippi to Natchez, M ssissippi;
during his stay there he preached in a canp neeting in a nost
el oquent fashion. He then proceeded down the river to New
Oleans. On his return he becane ill and did not expect to
return home. However, he reached Natchez on his return hone
and here was nursed back to health by a doctor friend. The
doctor's col ored slave was a good Christian and prayed daily
for Dobbins recovery. He said that every tine the col ored
slave and his wife would pray he felt as if he were being
lifted on wings to the gates of heaven. He recovered and rode
t he diﬁﬁance of nearly eight hundred mles on horseback to
Onhi o.

Rev. Dobbins was not a success in his trading venture and
he returned honme to sell his farmto pay his debts. He noved
to White OGak on a piece of land that was known as "Horse Shoe
Bottont' in what was then Adans County, OChio. Here he lost his
first love. She died in Septenber 1818.

He then took a Methodist Episcopal circuit known as the
Eagle Creek Circuit. He then married again on June 24, 1819.
Hs wife's nane was Jane Creed. He then served two years in
the Chio State Legislature for G een County. He then noved to
Fayette County and settled on Sugar Creek, five and a half

“charl es Caddy, Life and Tines of Rev. Robert Dobbins, J. W
Daughaday and Conpany, 424 Wal nut Street, Springfield,
Chio, 1868, pp. 85-96.
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mles west of Washi ngton. He then served two years on the
| egi slature for Fayette County. He refused to nmake political
speeches but he woul d preach a sernon.

He was a nmenber of the Reform Movenent in the Methodi st
Epi scopal Church but when he saw it was a | ost cause he
wi t hdrew. He sought his papers but they would not recognize
hi m and he was di sm ssed fromthe church. He met with the
"Chi o Annual Conference of the Associ ated Met hodi st Churches"
which net in G ncinnati October 15, 1828. This as we know
becane the Methodi st Protestant Church on Novenber 2, 1830. %

Dobbi ns cane to the Concord GCrcuit in 1830. The Chio
Annual Conference of the Methodi st Protestant Church net at
Zanesville, Chio, Cctober 4, 1831 and agai n Dobbi ns was
assigned to the Concord Circuit which conprised four hundred
mles round trip.

On one occasion he preached a sernon seven mles from
Washi ngton Court House at an old saw mll. He preached from
the 12th Chapter of Revelation and held his audi ence
spel | bound for two hours.

In 1835, Robert Dobbi ns was pastor of the Washi ngton
Circuit along with Rev. A MQiire.

In 1836 Rev. Robert Dobbins was elected to the presidency
of the Chio Annual Conference of the Methodi st Protestant
Church. Here is a letter he wote to C. Springer with regard
to the Washington Circuit. It was witten at Janestown, G eene
County, Chio, and is dated Septenber 19, 1836, and reads as
follows: "Brother C. Springer: For the encouragenent of our
bel oved brethren in this western world, | will give you a
general history of matters and things as they stood on
Washi ngton Circuit at the close of the past conference year.
One fourth quarterly neeting and canp- neeting together,
commenced on Friday, the 19th of August, and cl osed on Tuesday
followi ng, on the farm of Brother Creaner.

"We were blessed with fine, pleasant weather; a |large
Congregation of attentive hearers attended throughout the
nmeeting, and thank the good Lord, our brethren in the mnistry
froma distance attended manfully. W had a very precious tine
fromthe conmencenent to the end; at the close of the past
conference year. Qur fourth quarterly neeting and forty-two
adults and children bapti zed.

"I can safely say that Washington Circuit in the genera
is in peace and harnony, and the friends of Zion are |ooking
up. There has been taken into society on this circuit the past
year ninety-six menbers. W have generally been all around our
circuit, good congregations and attentive hearers, and many
applications for new appoi ntnents. (He then gives a plan of
appoi ntnents for the year upon which he had just entered as
presi dent of the Conference and closes with) Yours in the
bonds of Christian fell owship, Robert Dobbins, President Ohio

21 pid., pp. 97-110
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Annual Conference."

Rev. Robert Dobbins was five feet ten inches tall. He was
a man with stern features but he had | oving eyes. He was a man
of strong Christian virtue. It behooves us who followin his
steps to be nore diligent about our Father's business.

W have given the biography of the illustrious founder of
the White OGak Congregation. W would like to nention the nanmes
of a few others of its pastors but biographical material is
| acki ng. Per haps the next nobst proninent of the pastors was
Rev. G H. Harper the pastor when the tragedy of the fire
occurred. He, w thout a doubt, was the spark that ignited the
ent husi asm of the bereaved congregati on and caused themto
fight back with all the faith and hard work that was needed to
give to us our beautiful house of worship, which is ours at
present.

Rev. WIliam Archer, who was pastor from 1923 to 1927 and
1929 to 1933, is perhaps renenbered for the nunber of weddi ngs
he perfornmed while on the Crcuit. He performed thirty-six
weddi ngs in his two pastorates some of whom can reflect on
t hose happy days even now with nmention of his nane.

The Fire

On Sunday, January 9, 1916, a happy congregation
wor shi pped the Lord with thanksgiving and praise but little
did they realize the tragedy that woul d soon befall them They
were just about ready to place their dinners on the tables
when they heard the cry that the church was on fire. Here then
is the account of it as recorded in The Washington Daily
Her al d Headl i ne-" SUNDAY FI RE DESTROYS THE M P. CHURCH."

Fl anes start in basenment of church near Buena Vista and
structure and part of the fixtures fall prey to the
fire-structure will be rebuilt.

"White Oak Met hodi st Protestant Church, |ocated a half
m | e northwest of Buena, was conpletely destroyed by fire of
an unknown origin, beginning about 2:30 Sunday afternoon.

"The fire started in the basenment, between the plastering
and weat her boardi ng and then broke through the roof in few
m nutes tine.

"WIIl Patton, who resides nearby, discovered the fire and
with the aid of other neighbors rushed to the church and by
hard work renoved the piano and part of the fixtures before
the rapidly spreading flanmes forced themto flee for their
lives. The fire started near the basenment door and entirely
away fromthe furnace

"White Oak Church was erected in 1857 and was a handsone
frame structure. It had been renodel ed and was i n good
condition. Insurance to the extent of $2000.00 on the buil ding

¥ bid., pp. 117-118
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and fixtures was carried by the society, which has been

pl unged into deep gl oom by the destruction of the place of
wor shi p. Services had been held in the church a few hours
before the fire broke out.

"The O ficial Board is conposed of Rev. C. H Harper
Wl liamand Dave Patton, Ben Coffey, Noah Eakins and WII
Krebs, and a neeting was called for Monday afternoon with a
view to taking steps at once to rebuild the church

"Al ready many persons have pl edged thenselves to help
rebuild, one man, not a nenber of the church and not wealthy,
of fered $100. 00. O hers have shown an equally |i beral
di sposition, and it is expected that the new buil ding proposed
will be financed within a reasonable time." *°

It was felt by many that since many churches were within
driving distance that there would be little need to rebuild
and as sone have said what a tragedy this woul d have been.
This church neets a definite community need and nmay God
continue to preserve it in this comunity.

This congregation did remarkable things to restore their
church in just thirteen nmonths fromthe tine it burnt until it
was rebuilt. "Aunt Laura Patton" gives an account of how many
of the fol ks worked for the new church. The Ladies Aid
gathered at homes and quilted quilts all day |ong. They nade
rag rugs to sell and used nmany other ways to raise noney. They
had a play called "An A d Mids Convention" to raise noney for
the carpet in the new church. The congregati on worshi pped in
the townshi p house until the church was built. The whol e
conmunity rallied to the fund raising canpaign for the new
church but still there was not enough noney to conplete the
cost but WIlbur Collins, one of its prom nent nenbers
conpl eted the necessary sum

Cor ner st one Layi ng

On the 9th of July 1916 just seven nonths to the day the
cornerstone was laid for the new church and here is the story
recorded in the "Washington Daily Heral d: Headline-"WH TE QAK
CORNERSTONE CEREMONI ES" - Sub headl i ne-"Erecti on of New Church
is Begun Wth Entire Cost Pledged WII| be Dedi cated Free of
Debt . "

"One of the nobst interesting church events of recent
years in Fayette County was the cornerstone laying of Wite
Gak Chapel which took place Tuesday afternoon.

"The horror that had arisen over the burning to the
ground of the live, little church in the mdst of its
beautiful grove, |last year, was succeeded by al nost incredible

>The Washington Daily Herald, Volune 31, No. 7, Washington

C.H, Dated January 10, 1916, page 2, "Sunday Fire
Destroys the M P. Church" (M crofil ned).
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activity towards the erection of a new church, and it is a

matter of county-w de congratul ation that already the sum of
$10, 000 has been pl edged, and that the cornerstone is now

pl aced for the new edifice which will rise to the honor and
benefit of the Wite Oak nenbership.

"There was a |large gathering for Tuesday's services which
were of marked inpressiveness and inspiration. Rev. G H
Har per, the energetic and capabl e pastor, was in charge,
assisted by Rev. J. V. Stone, of Gace M E. Church; Rev.
Doty, of Jeffersonville M P. Church and Rev. Sudl ow, of
St aunt on.

"The first trowel was |laid by M. WIbur Collins, who was
the first to agitate the project of the new building and its
| ar gest donor; heading the subscription list with a
magni fi cent donati on

"The fact that when the handsome new brick church is
conpleted it will be dedicated free of debt is wonderfully
gratifying.

"The different mnisters made five short addresses,
depositing copies of the |ocal and church papers in the
cornerstone, and the service was conpleted with a heartsomne
si ngi ng of hyms.

"Especial interest attached to the fact that M. Charles
Patton, the only nmenber of the White Cak Chapel who had
subscribed to the first church and also to the new one, was
present. M. Patton was present at the dedication of the
burned chapel, which took place in 1857." 16

An interesting sidelight to the story is that M. B. C
Kelly, who is still with The Record Herald, wote the story of
the fire and perhaps the Cornerstone Laying Cerenpnies.

The Dedi cati on

The banner |ine of The Washington Daily Herald for
February 26, 1917, read like this: "WLSON ASKS PONER TO USE
ARMED FORCES." Ot her headlines read as follows, "Cunard Liner
is Sunk by Torpedo,"” "Granting of Power Wuld Not Constitute
Decl arati on of War," these and many om nous headlines filled
hearts with fear but there was a brighter headline which read
"WH TE OAK CHURCH DEDI CATED' and here is the story:
Headl i ne-"Wiite Oak G ove Church Dedicated."” Sub headline
"Handsone New Edifice Formally Dedi cated As House OF Wbrship
After Al Indebtedness is Lifted by Society-Interesting
Hi story of Society is presented.”

“Sunday was a great day in the history of Wiite Gak G ove
Church. Al Plans for the dedication of the beautiful new

®Washi ngton Daily Herald, Volume 31, No. 170, Washington C H.,
July 20, 1916, "White Gak Cornerstone Cerenonies", page
4, (Mcro-fil nmed)
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church worked out splendidly. The weather was ideal, the
peopl e were enthusiastic and the service noved snoothly.

“And best of all, when evening canme, it brought to an end
a never to be forgotten day.

“Every cent needed to pay for the building had been
pl edged and the people of Wiite OGak Grove can enjoy a church
absolutely free from debt.

“A new feature which nmet with great approval was the
taking care of the children by Mss Doris Mil ador of
M ddl etown in the basement during the hour of church service.
M ss Mil ador has been engaged in Junior work for years and
gave to the children a very happy day.

“The attendance all day was very large. Rev. G H.

Har per, the popul ar pastor, had every thing in charge. Rev. M
R Stover, the Conference President delivered the norning
sernon. Hi s subject, 'Preparation for Service.' The three
divisions were inspiration, consecration, and information. Hs
t hought and style was clear; his delivery was forceful; his
climax effective. As he closed every one felt |ike going at
the real work of the Kingdomof God. At this point about half
t he needed noney over and above what had been given was

rai sed. Then dinner in the basenent. The people brought well -
filled baskets. Al was arranged and if any one went away
hungry it was his own fault. After dinner a social hour purely
informal was greatly enjoyed.

At 2 p.m there was a real old fashioned |ove feast, in
whi ch over 200 people took a part. Sonme nentioned the old
peopl e who built the old I og church in 1829. Rev. Robert
Dobbi ns was nentioned as the organi zer of this class. The
buil ding of the frame church in 1855 was menti oned and many
were the refreshing seasons brought to mind by these
testinoni es. Many an expression indicated that the upper nost
desire was that the spiritual life of the people m ght never
| ag but al ways be strong.

“A special of the afternoon was Hon. C. A Reid's talk.
Hon. C. A Reid made a splendid tal k enbodying the history of
the church. He said in part: 'Like the governments of nations,
churches are founded on new i deas of organization differing
fromthe nmother institution fromwhich it springs, in keeping
with the spirit of the tines, and reflecting the character and
| ofty ideal of the nmen who bring about the fornmation.

Such was the primtive organi zation of the Methodi st
Protestant Church, carrying into its nmethods of organization
t he sane doctrine of equal rights that devel oped so rapidly
with the birth of the American Nation.

“Wiite Gak Grove Church was organi zed about one year
after the founding of Methodist Protestantism Rev. Robert
Dobbi ns, who lived prior to his death in 1860, on the banks of
Sugar Creek about four mles west of Washington C. H, was the
|l eading spirit that brought about this organization. He died
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at the age of 92 years, and had lived in Fayette County for
about thirty years. He was born in the state of Pennsylvania
and was the son of Presbyterian parents, afterwards becom ng
one of the pioneer mnisters in Chio in the Methodi st

Epi scopal Church, renoving first to Adans County, then to
Green, and Fayette Counties. He represented both of the latter
counties in the early session of the Ohio Legislature.

“The first edifice constructed was hewn |l ogs. As this
occurred nearly ninety years ago, no one now living can
recount the first dedicatory service at this sacred spot.

Fat her Dobbins as he was connected with its pastorate for
several years, and he was el ected President of the Ghio
Conference in 1836, returning as pastor of this church in
1838. It was first organi zed as part of Concord G rcuit and
afterwards it becane a part of the Washington Circuit. Mny

m nisters of strong and forceful character and of Godly |ives
and i nfluence have served this historic church. Anong this
nunber, well known to the ol der residents, were Rev. Ednmund
Rowan, Rev. David S. Craig, Rev. A H Trunbo, Rev. Rose, Rev.
Jonat han Fl ood, Rev. Caddy, and many ot hers. The church
prospered under the pastorates of these devout nen, and many
great revivals marked the intervals of special spiritual
uplift as result of the efforts and mi ssion of this church.

“The | og church was used for about twenty-five years and
was then replaced by the erection of the frame church in 1855,
under the pastorate of Rev. J. M Littler. Those who aided in
the rebuilding at this tinme have all passed away except
Charles Patton, who is now one of its ol dest nmenbers. The
Pattons, the Wests, the Burnetts and the Larkins were anong
the fam lies who nade up the early history of this church. The
church site was given by Robert Patton. Mre than sixty years
ago John Collins, the father of W/l bur Collins, assisted in
the building of this frame church. It is fitting to associate
with this fact, the unstinted | abor and expense of the son,
Wlbur F. Collins, in the erection and beautiful design of the
edifice dedicated this day.

“Among the pastors who fromtine to tine led this
congregation amd their sorrows and joys, are found the
foll owi ng names: Reverends M V. B. Evans, W G Leedam T. D
Howe, Z. D. Hickman, P. F. Johnson, S. E. Smith, R K David,
C S Evans, R M Dolby, J. H Dolby, J. F. Henkle, T. B
Chaney, N. B. Ross, WlliamH Guy, R P. Wrner, A A
Monson, J. W Elliott, C Cbee, M R Stover, W W
Strittenberger, David Louk, E. Aten, Peter Laclare, V. H
Rollins, J. E. Bailey, S. S. Forest, J. S. Swenk, and the
present pastor, Rev. G H. Harper

“The suggestion of these names no doubt recalls to nany
lives that have been touched with the saving influence of this
church, tinmes and events hall owed anong t he nenories of
bl essings to individuals and to the community.
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“Whil e many rural churches have gone upon the rocks of
changi ng conditions, causing alarmto those who sacredly guard
the real fundanentals of life; we find this organization nore
deeply grounded than ever in perpetuating God's tenple in the
country, as a beautiful and inviting place of worship, lifting
the souls of nen and wonen to higher places of life.

“When the old frame church on the ninth day January 1916
was reduced to ashes, many thought, it m ght not be worthwhile
to rebuild. That nodern neans of travel made ot her churches
accessi ble. What a mistake it would have been to accept this
decree. The effort, the noney, the planning, the sacrifice,
and labor it took to create this edifice, makes it worthwhile
to this community and congregation. It is a worthwhile
nmonunent to the nenory of the sturdy Christian nmen and wonen
who sleep in the nearby cenetery, and whose prayers and
service went to perpetuate this church

“When the cerenpnies that attended the | aying of the
cornerstone on the ninth day of July 1916, were being hel d,
and its chief builder, WIlbur Collins, was placing the first
trowel of nortar, it was inpossible to realize the joy that
comes today.

“Money was then raised until it seemed as though every
person present had given. To our surprise and delight M.

Wl bur F. Collins, then sprang to his feet and said, 'Brethren
dedicate the church. | will conplete the offering.’ A cheer
was given, the dedication affected in due form the
benedi cti on pronounced and we adjourned until the evening
service after supper in the basenent.

“The house was well filled at 7 p. m Rev. A L.

Reynol ds, D. D. of Sabina, delivered the evening sernon on the
subj ect, 'The Country Church.' In his usual clear and

i nspiring manner he inpressed the inportance of the country
church and the | argeness of the country life.

“An invitation to join the church was given. A hym was
sung, the benediction pronounced and all said, 'A grand good
day.'

“Mnisters present were Rev. M R Stover, the Conference
President, Rev. J. F. Henkle, D. D., a fornmer pastor, Rev.
Leasure of the Friends Church of New Martinsburg, Rev. E. L.
Reynol ds, D. D. of Sabina, Rev. John Sudlow of the M E.
Church, Staunton and Rev. G H Harper, the pastor.?'’

Surely this church has given glory to the nane of the
Fat her and has honored the nane of Christ.

Here are sone of the famliar nanmes as renenbered by Ms.
Ral ph Theobal d who hel ped build our present beautiful church.
They are W F. Collins, Lewis More, Wlliam$S. Patton, B. H
Cof fey, David Patton, Frank Burnett, Harry Anderson, G P.

Y"The Washington Daily Herald, Volune 32, No. 48, Washington
C.H, Onio,"Wiite Gak Grove Church Dedicated," dated
Monday, February 26,1917, page 2. (Mcro-fil ned)
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Cof fey, Henry Elwood, John M nton, and Edward El wood, and many
ot hers whose nanes cannot be called to mind at present. W
shoul d thank God for those who gave of their nmeans and
devotion that we m ght have a house in which to worship. Later
there came to our fellowship such stalwart Christian folks as
Si non Stuckey, Ben Mel son, Mason Anderson, Frank Krieger, the
Smith Sisters, Noah Eakins, Rosa Heslip, John Waddel, and

Al len and WIlson famlies.

Cost of Church and Furni shings-1916

d ass $ 571.50
Car pet 385. 38
Fur naces 375. 00
El ectric |ight 110. 00
Church Furniture 281. 24
Repair Church Bel | 63. 04
Varni sh seats 21. 60
Light wire 5.00
Contract or 8, 852. 00
CQut si de cl oset 38. 00
Cel l ar work 34.75
Freight and tile 274. 86

The Rededi cati on

Early in the year of 1950 there cane to the hearts of
some of our nenbers the need for the redecoration of the
sanctuary. The work was done under the |eadership of the
pastor, Edwin A. Lane. The cost was approximately three
t housand dollars. It included the recarpeting and painting of
t he sanctuary. The Committee who | ooked after the work was
conposed of Mss Maxine G lnerr, Chairman, Ms. Charles
Theobal d and Ms. Robert Case.

At the tinme of the beautifying of the sanctuary there was
al so purchased al tar equi pnment and paranents which incl uded
the follow ng: The cross was given by Clara Belle and Patricia
Patton in nmenory of Oren Patton, the candl esticks were given
by Charles, Nora and Joyce Theobald in nenory of Harold
Everett and Charl es Robert Theobal d, the vases were Wl ard
and Lela Allen in nmenory of Loren Allen, the Anerican flag was
given by Wllard and Lela Allen in nenory of Loren Allen, the
Arerican flag was given by Laura and Hazel Patton in nenory of
David F. Patton, the Christian flag was given by My and
Everett Page in nenory of Mary Page, the pul pit scarf and
bookmark were given by Jessie Theobald and Bryan Coffey in
menory of Ben and Maud Coffey, the altar cloth and table were
given by Martin, Arlou and Maxine Gl merr and Nettie Harper
now deceased, in menory of Enory Har per

The work was conpl eted in Novenber 1950 and the
rededi cati on was schedul ed for Sunday, Novenber 26, but God
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threw a snowbal | Thanksgi vi ng night and the day foll ow ng.
This paralyzed all nmeans of travel. There was fromtwenty to
twenty-five inches of snow and deeper where drifted. As a
result of this the rededication was postponed until Decenber
10, 1950.

The great day arrived. There was a basket |unch served at
noon, which was preceeded, by the regular norning service with
the pastor, Rev. Edwin A Lane, bringing the nessage.

The service of rededication began at 2:00 P. M The choir
furnished the special nusic with Ms. Robert Pavey at the
organ. An outline of the history of the church was given after
whi ch Rev. Cecil F. Fogle, pastor of the First Methodi st
Church, Geenfield, Onhio, delivered the nessage of the
afternoon. The dedication of the nmenorials and the Act of
Dedi cation by the congregation and the pastor followed the
nessage. The service was climxed with prayer by the guest
pastor and the hymm, "Cone, 0 Thou God of Grace."

We woul d also like to nmention the bulletin board that was
made by Wllard WIIliamson.®

We are indebted to those who | abored to nmeke this
redecorati on possi ble which we are now enj oyi ng.

The Church and The Sesqui cent enni al

The newly organi zed Met hodi st Youth Fell owshi p under the
direction of pastor, Marvin G Schamaun, played an inportant
part in the Sesqui centennial Cel ebration, Saturday, June 13,
1953. One of our older nen, Martin Glnerr, undertook to build
a float. It was to resenble an old fashioned church. M.
Glnmerr was aided by nenbers of the Fell owship Robert Case
Paul Stuckey and the pastor in the building of the float. W
won first prize and all of us were overjoyed not to nention
the fact that we took the first prize noney of fifty dollars.

This year was a year of firsts for our young people. Mss
Roberta Theobal d, daughter of Ral ph and Jessi e Theobal d, was
selected to represent Green Township with Mss JoAnn WIIians,
daughter of Howard and Catherine WIIlians, M sses Janice and
Doris Ham | ton, daughters of M. and Ms. Manford Ham | ton of
t he Buena Vista conmunity, and M ss Rosenmary Leeth, daughter
of M. and Ms. Steve Schubert, as her attendants. M ss
Roberta Theobal d was chosen as the Queen of Fayette County.

The following is the story as it appeared in the Col unbus
Di spatch, Sunday, June 14, 1953, page 8D, under dateline of
June 13: "Thousands of Fayette Countians |ined the streets of
Washington C. H this afternoon to witness the county's
Sesqui centenni al parade. Forty floats were entered in the
conpetition and along with several bands and drum and bugl e

18The Record Herald, Volume 70, No. 259, Washington C. H.,
Decenber 8, 1950, "Rededication of Wite Cak Church," p.
8 (Mcro-filnmed). (Church bulletin, Decenber 10, 1950).
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corps was |loudly accl ai ned by the crowd.

"The first performance of the pageant 'This Is Qur Land,'’
a story of Fayette County, was well received by a capacity
audi ence at the Fairgrounds during the evening. Mre than 200
persons took part in the show Additional performances will be
gi ven Sunday and Monday eveni ngs.

"Al so drawi ng nuch attention were the many decorated store
W ndows in the business district. The wi ndows depi cted
different phases of history of the county and state. Hundreds
also filed through the Merchants building at the fairgrounds
to view products manufactured in the county as well as a
di splay of antique autonobil es.

"M ss Roberta Theobal d, 17, of Washington, C. H., was
sel ected as Sesqui centennial Queen. Chosen as her attendants
were M ss Frances berschl ake, New Holland and M ss Mary Ann
Wse, Washington, C. H.

"A fl oat showi ng an old church, produced by the Mt hodi st
Yout h Fel |l owshi p, took top honors in the float contest. Second
pl ace went to WIlson School with its float showi ng a schoo
house of 150 years ago and one of today."

The Cenetery

The cenetery dates back to the early 1820s or perhaps
further back than this. Although it is not under the
supervi sion of our church trustees we may think of it as our
cenmetery. As one wal ks through the cenetery he is aware of the
many fam liar nanmes of those who have passed on and were
prom nent nenber of days gone by.

We can notice many historic nanes such as Stafford,
Davis, Patton, Coffey and others. Sone of the ol der stones are
Josi ah Jenkins born in 1824 and died in 1914. The stones of
David Davis, died Decenmber 5, 1855, aged 69 years, 5 nonths
and 12 days, and his w fe Hannah, who died April 11, 1856,
aged 71 years, 2 nonths and 6 days. These, you will recall,
were nmentioned earlier as anong the early settlers of Geen
Townshi p. These stones may be found in the old section of the
cenetery in the northeast corner near a |arge pine anong the
ol d sandst one nmarkers.

Li kewi se, the stone of Branson Davis, whomyou will
recall was one of the trustees of the church at the tinme the
present site was acquired from Robert Patton and his wfe
Jane. This stone is on the right of the first drive as you
enter the cenetery about one-fourth of the way down. Branson
Davis died March 23, 1896, aged 84 years, 3 nonths and 8 days;
his wi fe Jane died Cctober 28, 1868, aged 59 years, 10 nonths
and 16 days.

Not far fromthe Branson Davis stone on the same side and
section you conme to the large inpressive stone of WI bur F.
Collins, whomyou will renmenber was a benefactor and proni nent
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nmenber of the Wiite Gak Congregation. He gave nore than three
and a half (3.62) acres to G een Township for the purpose of a
cenmetery. This may be found in the Record of Deeds, Book
Nunber 40, page 398. It was deeded on the 30th day of Decenber
1915 to the trustees of G een Township who were A C
Zi mrer man, Frank Johnson and B. H Coffey. Wth the foll ow ng
provision it was deeded: "It being a condition of this
conveyance that said |ands be used only for cenmetery purposes
and that said tract be nade a part of said Wite Cak Cenetery,
and be for the use of said township as a cemetery."19

Not only do we see the stones of those who have passed on
but stones of many famlies of our present congregation, and
we are aware that this sacred plot of ground is precious to
many of us.

One would like to trace the land to its original sources
but this would require nore tine than the witer can allot to
such an undert aki ng.

THE PRESENT SI TUATI ON
The Sunday School

Qur Sunday school has grown since we began to have our
Sunday School Workers Conference. It is here that we iron out
our problens and being our ideas. It is a tinme of informal
di scussion in which all officers and teachers share and share
ali ke. Qur Junior Departnment has a fine |eader in the person
of Ms. Harold Pavey who only cane to us a few years ago but
she has done an excellent piece of work with our young folks.
W have a fine group of teachers and officers. W may give
credit to our Wesley Adult Sunday School C ass which has
brought new life and interest to our church. It has sponsored
many soci al events and has had a vigorous class. It has had
wor k projects such as the making of primary tables and a fish
fry with the proceeds going into the Chapel Fund of Fayette
County Menorial Hospital. This noney was used to carpet the
chapel at the hospital.

We have enjoyed a fine growmh in the past year due to the
work of all our folks.

Met hodi st Youth Fel | owship

Qur Met hodi st Youth Fellowshi p has done well under the
advisory of Ms. K C. Betz, who has given of herself in tine
and devotion. She has helped in the District by serving on
various committees and as a counselor at Youth Canp. It has
given the entire congregation a fine appreciation of our
youth as they partake in the worship services.

1% Record of Deeds," Book No. 40, page 398, Fayette County
Recorders O fice, dated Decenber 30, 1915. 154



The Wonen's Society of Christian Service

Qur story would not be conplete without nention of the
Wnen's Society of Christian Service. They have aided with the
church finances many tines over. They are the strong armin
t he support of the m ssion programof the church. These | adies
have hel ped in needy cases throughout the comunity. Last
sunmer the WS. C. S. sent a nunber of our young people to the
I nternmedi ate Canp at Sabi na. They have assisted in a financial
way with the repairs and additions to the church such as the
recent purchase of a water punp and a new water heater. Cur
congregation owes nuch to the |ladies of our WS.C. S

The Future

The future who can tell, but this we know, if we face it
in the name of Christ, we shall be triunphant. Wite OGak G ove
Church fills a definite need to the comunity in which it
stands. It has a tradition of fine pastors and many spiritua
awakeni ngs, which has brought new |ife and peace to the
community. May we under God hold up the heritage, which is
ours to the honor and glory of our Lord and Savi or Jesus
Chri st.

APPENDI X

Deeds

"Robert Patton and Wfe-To Deed-Trustees of the M P. Church
at White OGak G ove"

"This Indentive, made the 1st day of Septenber A D. One
Thousand Ei ght Hundred and Fifty Six, between Robert Patton
and Jane Patton his wife of the County of Fayette and State of
Chio. Parties of the first part and Jacob Hol nes, Branson
Davi s and Wesl ey West, trustees of the Methodi st Protestant
Church or White Gak Meeting House of G een Township, County
and State of above said party of the second part. Wtnesseth,
that said parties of the first part in consideration of
twenty-four dollars and seventy-five cents to themduly paid
before the delivery hereof here bargai ned and sold and by
t hese present do grant and convey to the said party of the
second part its successors and assign forever, for and to the
use and benefit of the nmenbers of the Methodi st Protestant
Church at Wiite OGak Grove in said Township and County and
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State aforesaid, a certain parcel of land lying on the Waters
of Rattlesnake in said Township. Part of Fostess Survey No.
5348. Beginning in the center of the road bading from Morer

MII to Sabina in the original line of said Survey, thence
with said original line of said Survey S 45 degrees W si xt een
and a half poles to a stone in the original line, thence N 45

degrees Weight poles to a stone, thence N 45 degrees E
sixteen and a half poles to a stone, thence S 45 degrees E

ei ght poles to the beginning, containing one hundred and
thirty-two poles nore or less, with the apprentenance and al
the estate-title and interest of the said parties of the first
part therein and the said parties of the first part do hereby
covenant agree with the said parties of the second part, that
at the tinme of delivery hereof the said parties of the first
part owes the |lawful owners of the prem ses above granted and
sei zed thereof in fee sinple absolute and that they wil
warrant and defend the above granted prem ses in the quiet and
peaceful possession of the said party of the second part and
its successors and assigns forever. In Wtness above of the
said parties of the first part have hereunto set their hand
and seal, the day and year above witten.

Robert Patton ( SEAL)
Jane Patton ( SEAL)

Executed in presence of Janes M Patton
Henry Patton"

"State of Ohio, Fayette County S S. personally appeared
before me WIlliamH. Jenkins an acting Justice of the Peace in
and for said County. Robert Patton and Jane Patton his wfe
grantors in the above deed and acknow edged the sanme to be
their voluntary act and deed and said Jane Patton being at the
time exam ned by nme apart from her said husband and the
contents of the above deed nade known to her she then and
there declared that she voluntarily signed, sealed and
acknow edged the sane and that she is still satisfied
therewith. Wtness ny hand and Seal this 6th day of Septenber
A. D. 1856.

Rec. 24'" Recorded 28th Novenber 1856

WlliamH Jenkins, J. P. (SEAL)"
Record of Deeds "R' page 670, Fayette County
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Wlls
The W1l of Jesse Rowe

"Record of WIIls" Volune "B" pages 282, 283, and
284- Fayette Probate Court Probated 20th Septenber A D. 1845
W tnessed by Janes Crothers and Mary B. Crothers (Sanuel
M I 1ikan, d erk)

"l give and bequeath unto the Methodi st Epi scopal Church
(3/4) three-fourths of an acre of land including the neeting
house t hereon being the residue of one acre of | and on which a
di stinct school house is erected on the farm whereon | now
live so long as the aforesaid house as a place of publick
wor ship provided always that if the aforesaid Church shal
cease to occupy the aforesaid house as a place of publick
wor ship, then and in that case the gift hereby made shall be
void to all intents and purposes and will revert to ny son
John. "

The WIIl of WIlbur F. Collins

"Record of WIIls" Book No. 9, pages 110-115, Fayette
County: (S. A Mirry, Probate Judge, 23rd day of Cctober
1929)

Item 7 page 112:

"I give and bequeath to the Trustees of Wite OGak G ove
Met hodi st Protestant Church, in G een Township, Fayette
County, Onio, the sumof Five Thousand ($5000.00) Dollars, to
be held by said trustees, their successors and assigns for the
foll ow ng purposes, towt: Said trustees shall keep and hol d
said fund solely for the maintenance, support and use of said
church, and they are directed to |oan the noney on first
nortgage security for the best rate of interest that can be
obt ai ned, taking into account that the security be good, and
they shall use the inconme of said funds to support generally
t he runni ng expenses of said church. Such trustees shall not
be required to give bond on account of such trust, and shal
not be required to account to the probate court in any nmanner
for the management of said fund, but shall account to said
church and its nmenbership." WIIl nade on April 11, 1925

Wtness: Mrris S. Baker
G lbert G Adans
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Past ors of Washington Circuit

1829- 33
1834
1835
1836
1837
1838
1839
1840
1841
1842
1843
1844

1845
1846
1847
1848
1849
1850
1851
1852-53
1854
1855
1856- 57
1858
1859-60
1861
1862
1863
1864-68
1869
1870
1871-72
1373
1374

1875-79
1880-81
1882- 84
1885-88
1889

1890-91
1892

1893

1894- 96
1897-98
1899-00
1900-02

Robert Dobbi ns, Organizer

Robert Dobbins and A. McGQuire

Robert Dobbi ns

Edmund Rown and Zi ba Brown

J. Sinpson

Robert Dobbi ns assisted by W WIIlians

W W Paul

F. Clenmens and David S. Craig

A. H Trunbo

A. A Trunbo assisted by R Atkinson

Robert Dobbi ns assi sted by Jonat hon Fl ood

R Rose, R T. Boyd, Robert Dobbins assisted by J.
Fl ood

A. H Trunbo

J. H Webster

A. Channel

Robert Dobbi ns

W W Kidd

S. H Evans

E. J. Wnans

W nans assisted by J. Thonmpson and A. Shepherd
| es Caddy assisted by W E. Stubbs
Littler

B. Evans

Leedam

Howe

War i ngt on

Howe

Hi ckman

Johnson

B. Evans

Smith

Davi s

Evans

Dol by who died after 10 nonths of service, the
year conpl eted by his son, Rev, Joel H Dol by
Joel H. Dol by

J. F. Henkle

T. B. Chaney assisted by John L. Dol by

N. B. Ross

= G

a
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A. A Monson

J. W Elliott

C. Obee

M R Stover

W W Stritenberger
Davi d Louk
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1903-04
1905- 07
1908

1909-11
1912

1913-14
1915-16
1916-18
1918-21
1921-23
1923- 27
1927-28
1928- 29
1929-33
1933- 36
1936- 39
1939-43
1943- 46
1946- 48
1949-51
1951-52
1952-55

SOURCES

Caddy, Charl es,

E. Aten
Peter Led ar
V. H Rollins
E. Bailey

S. Forest

S. Swenk

H. Har per

s G Ludw ch
yd Gal e

F. WIKkins
[iam M Archer
L. J. Sanford

J. C Berry
WIlliamH. Archer
C. B. Sees

C. B. Linard

C. S. Thonmpson
Charles P. Tayl or
A. E. Huntington
Edwi n A. Lane
Ivo L. Rhoades
Marvin G Schanmaun

Daughaday and Conpany,

Ohi o,
(Courtesy of Ms.

Life and Ti nes of Rev. Robert Dobbins, J. W
424 WAl nut Street, Springfield,
1868, pp. 15-40, 85-96, 97-110, 111-125, 157-170.
Ral ph Theobal d)

Church Bulletin, Decenmber 10, 1950

Dlls, R S,

H story of Payette County, Qdell and Mayer,

Publ i shers, Dayton, Chio, 1881, pp. 191-219, 260-271,
763-773.

Howe, Henry, Historical Collections of Chio, Volume | (OF two

volumes), C. J. Krehbiel

and Conpany, Printers and

Bi nders, Cincinnati, GChio, 1904, pp. 602-608.

Luccock,

Hal ford E., Hutchinson, Paul, The Story of Methodi sm
The Met hodi st Book Concern, Cincinnati, 1926, pp.319 335.

Ohio State Register, Volune 66, No. 9, Dated Friday, March 2,
1917, Washington Court House, "Wite OGak G ove Church
Dedi cated", p. 2.

Per sonal
M s.
M.

I ntervi ews and Correspondence: Ms. Ral ph Theobal d,

Laura Patton, Ms.

Del bert Mrris, Mss Om Waddel,

and Ms. Jed Stuckey.
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Quarterly Conference M nutes of the Washington Circuit of the
Met hodi st Protestant Church, Dated: Novenber 6, 1869 to

July 25, 1908, pp. 130, 190- 262.

Records of Deeds, Book No. 40, page 398, Fayette County
Recorders O fice, dated Decenber 30, 1915.

Record of WIlls, Wlbur Collins, "WII," WIIl No. 3158, Book
No. 9, pp. 110-115, Item7, p. 112 (Wite GCak G ove
Met hodi st Protestant Church, S. A Mirry, Probate Judge,
23rd Day of October 1929). See appendi x

Record of WIlls, Jessie Rowe's "WII," Volune "B" pp. 282- 284,
Fayette County Probate Court, Probated 20th of Septenber,
A. D. 1845, Wtnessed by Janes Crothers and Mary B.
Crothers, (Samuel MIliken, Cerk), See appendix.

Sweet, WIlliamWarren, Circuit R der Days Al ong the Chio,
Met hodi st Book Concern, Cincinnati, 1923. pp. 11-27,
274-293.

Sweet, WIIiam Warren, Methodismin American History, Abingdon
Press, Nashville, Tenn., Revised 1953, pp. 161-186.

The Record Herald, Volunme 70, No. 259, Washington C. H.,
Decenmber 8, 1950, "Rededication of Wite Gak Church," p.
8, (Mcro-filmed).

The Washington Daily Herald, Volume 31, No. 7, Dated January
10, 1916, Washi ngton Court House, "Sunday Fire Destroys
the M P. Church,” p. 2. (Mcro-fil ned)

The Washington Daily Herald, Volune 31, No. 170, Thursday,
July 20, 1916, Washi ngton Court House, "White Oak
Cornerstone Cerenonies" p. 4. (Mcro-fil med)

Vol ume "R' page 670, Fayette County Recorders O fice, (Deeds,
Robert Patton and Wfe, to Deed, Trustees of the
Met hodi st Protestant Church at VWhite CGak Grove, See
appendi x) .
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APPENDI X

Sel ect ed Phot ographs of Fayette County Churches

Bloomingburg Presbyterian Church 2001 First Baptist Church 1940
100th Anniversary Photograph

Heritage Memaorial Church-Aug. 6, 2002

‘“New " Second Bapfist Church-Aug. 8, 2002 First Presbyterian Church-Dec. 29, 2001 1 6 1



Saint Andrew’s Episcopalian Church-Aug. 8, 2002

Saint Colman's Catholic Church Sugar Grove Methodist Church
Dec. 29,2001 Record Hearld Photograph Aug. 8, 1953

White Coh Grove Methodist Chareh 128 Years History-T1855
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